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OFFICIAL STATEMENT
August 12, 2014

In the opinion of Bond Counsel (identified below), assuming continuing compliance by the Issuer (defined below) after the date of
initial delivery of the Certificates (defined below) with certain covenants contained in the Ordinance (defined below) and subject fo the
matters described under 'TAX MATTERS" herein, interest on the Certificates under existing statutes, regulations, published rulings,
and court decisions (1) will be excludable from the gross income of the owners thereof for federal income tax purposes under Section
103 of the Internal Revenue Code, as amended to the date of initial delivery of the Certificates and (2) will not be included in
computing the alternative minimum taxable income of the owners thereof who are individuals or, except as hereinafter described,
corporations . (See "TAX MATTERS" herein.)

The lssuer_has designated the Certificates as "Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligations" for financial institutions.

$8,500,000
CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS

(A political subdivision of the State of Texas located in McLennan County, Texas)
COMBINATION TAX AND LIMITED PLEDGE REVENUE CERTIFICATES OF OBLIGATION, SERIES 2014

Dated Date: August 1, 2014 Due: March 1, as shown on page ii

The $8,500,000 City of Bellmead, Texas Combination Tax and Limited Pledge Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2014 (the
"Certificates") are being issued pursuant to the Certificate of Obligation Act of 1971 (Sections 271.041 through 271.064, Texas Local
Government Code, as amended), Chapter 1502, as amended, Texas Government Code, an ordinance (the "Ordinance") adopted by
the City Council of the City of Belimead, Texas (the "City" or "Issuer") on August 12, 2014, and the City's Home Rule Charter. (See
"THE CERTIFICATES - Authority for Issuance" herein.)

The Certificates constitute direct and general obligations of the Issuer payable primarily from the proceeds of an annual ad valorem
tax levied upon all taxable property within the City, within the limitations prescribed by law, and are further payable from and secured
by a lien on and pledge of the Pledged Revenues (identified and defined in the Ordinance), being a limited amount of the Net
Revenues derived from the operation of the City's combined utility system (the "System") ,such lien on and pledge of the limited
amount of Net Revenues being subordinate and inferior to the lien on and pledge of such Net Revenues securing payment of any
Prior Lien Obligations, Junior Lien Obligations, or Subordinate Lien Obligations hereafter issued by the Issuer (all such terms as
defined in the Ordinance). In the Ordinance, the City reserves and retains the right to issue Prior Lien Obligations, Junior Lien
Obligations, Subordinate Lien Obligations, and Additional Limited Pledge Obligations (all as identified and defined in the Ordinance)
without limitation as to principal amount but subject to any terms, conditions or restrictions as may be applicable thereto under law or
otherwise. (See "THE CERTIFICATES - Security for Payment' and "TAX RATE LIMITATIONS" herein.)

Interest on the Certificates will accrue from August 1, 2014 (the "Dated Date") as shown above and will be payable on March 1 and
September 1 of each year, commencing March 1, 2015, until stated maturity or prior redemption, and will be calculated on the basis
of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months. The definitive Certificates will be issued as fully registered obligations in book-entry form
only and when issued will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company ("DTC"), New
York, New York. DTC will act as securities depository. Book-entry interests in the Certificates will be made available for purchase in
the principal amount of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. Purchasers of the Certificates ("Beneficial Owners") will not receive
physical delivery of certificates representing their interest in the Certificates purchase8. So long as DTC or its nominee is the
registered owner of the Certificates, the principal of and interest on the Certificates will be payable by BOKF, NA dba Bank of Texas,
as Paying Agent Registrar to the securities depository, which will in turn remit such principal and interest to its participants, which will
in turn remit such principal and interest to the Beneficial Owners of the Certificates. (See "BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM" herein.)

Proceeds from the sale of the Certificates will be used for the purpose of paying contractual obligations of the City to be incurred for
making permanent public improvements and for other public purposes, to-wit: (1) constructing, acquiring, purchasing, renovating,
enlarging and improving the City's utility system to include a new sewer interceptor and a new water well; (2) constructing street
improvements (including utilities repair, replacement, and relocation), curb, gutters, and sidewalk improvements including utilities
repair, replacement and relocation) and drainage incidental thereto; (3) constructing, acquiring, purchasing and equipping the Cites
new Municipal Court Building; (4) constructing, improving, acquiring, purchasing, renovating, and enlarging various public safety
facilities, including a fire station rehabilitation and a new parking lot for the Police Department; (5) the purchase of materials, supplies,
equipment, public safety vehicles and equipment, communication vehicles and equipment, machinery, landscaping, land, and rights-
of-way for authorized needs and purposes relating to the aforementioned capital improvements; and (6) the payment of professional
services relating to the design, construction, project management, and financing of the aforementioned projects. (See "THE
CERTIFICATES -Use of Certificate Proceeds" herein.)

SEE FOLLOWING PAGE FOR STATED MATURITIES, PRINCIPAL AMOUNTS, INTEREST
RATES, INITIAL YIELDS, CUStP NUMBERS, AND REDEMPTION PROVtSIONS FOR THE

CERTIFICATES

The Certificates are offered for delivery, when, as and if issued and received by the initial purchaser (the 'Purchaser') and subject to
the approving opinion of the Attorney General of the State of Texas and the approval of certain legal matters by Fulbright & Jaworski
LLP of San Antonio, Texas, a member of Norton Rose Fulbright, Bond Counsel. The legal opinion of Bond Counsel will be printed
on, or attached to, the Certificates. (See 'LEGAL MATTERS -Legal Opinions and No-Litigation Certificate"herein). It is expected that
the Certiflicates will be available for initial delivery through DTC on or about September 3, 2014.



X8,500,000
CITY Off' BELLMEAD, TEXAS

(A political subdivision of the State of Texas located in McLennan County, Texas)

COMBINAT'IOIV TAX AND LIMITED PL~DG~ REVENUE CERTIFIGATE~ OF OBLIGAI"ION, SERIES 2014

iN.4TURITY SCHEDULE
(Due March 1)

5~~~ C:lS!!~ _ ~J79~35 ~a~

Stated Interest Initial
Maturity Principal Rate Yield CUSIP
March 1 Amount ~ ~ Suffix~a~

2015 $140,000 2.500 0.450 EB 0

2016 18Q,000 2.500 0.550 EC 8

2017 180,000 2.000 0.700 ED 6

2018 410,000 2.000 1.050 ~~ 4

2019 385,000 2.000 1.200 EF 1

2020 395,000 2.JOC 1.500 EG 9

2021 405,000 2.250 1.900 EH 7

2022 415,000 2.250 2.000 EJ 3

2023 425,000 2.375 2.250 EK 0

2024 435,000 2.500 2.400 EL 8

2025 440,000 2.750 2.500 ~b~ EM 6

2026 460,000 2.750 2.600 ~b~ EN 4

2027 470,000 3.000 2.700 ~b~ EP 9

2028 485,000 3.000 2.800 ~b~ EQ 7

2029 500,000 3.125 3.000 ~b~ ER 5

2030 520,000 3.250 3.100 ~b~ ES 3

2031 530,000 3.500 3.300 ~b~ ET 1

2032 555,000 3.500 3.400 ~b~ EU 8

2033 575,000 3.750 3.500 ~b~ EV 6

2034 595,000 3.750 3.600 ~b~ EW 4

(Interest to accrue from the Dated Date)

The Issuer reserves the right to redeem the Certificates maturing on or after March 1, 2025, in whole or in part, in principal
amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof on March 1, 2024, or any date thereafter, at the redemption price of par
plus accrued interes4 as further described herein. (See "THE CERTiFiCATES - Redemption Provisions of 4he Certificates"
herein.)

~ is a registered trademark of the American Bankers Association. CUSIP data herein is provided by Standard and
Poor's CUSIP Service Bureau, a Standard & Poor's Financial Services LLC business. This data is not intended to create a
database and does not serve in any way as a substitute for the CUSIP Services. /None of the City, the Financial Advisor or
the Purchaser is responsible for the selection or the correctness of the CUSIP numbers set forth herein.

~b~ Yield calculated based on the assumption the denoted Certificates will b2 called on Ma; ch 1, 2094, their first date of cpfionu;
redemption, at the price of par plus accrued interest to said redemption date.



CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS
3015 Bellmead Drive

Bellmead, Texas 76705
254 799-2436 —Phone

254-799-5969 - Facsimile

ELECTED OFFICIALS

On Council Term Expires
Name Position Since Mav Mav Occupation

Doss Youngblood Mayor 2013 2015 Retired
Gary Moore Mayor Pro Tem 2012 2016 Appliance Delivery Service
Carlos Luna Council Member 2011 2015 Customer Sales - Verizon
Mathew Jordon Council Member 2014 2016 Retired
U.F. Roberts Council Member 2009 2016 Retired

Kevin Wilson Council Member 2008 2015 U.S. Postal Service Supervisor

ADMINISTRATION
Years Years of
With Municipal

Name Position the Ci Experience

Everett "Bo" Thomas City Manager 2 years 27 years

Victor Salas Chief Financial Officer 2 years 27 years

Cynthia Ward City Clerk 5 years 5 years
Charles Buenger City Attorney 0.5 years 39 years

Lydia Alvarado Police Chief 3 years 21 years
Bill Hlavenka Fire Chief 22 years 22 years

CONSULTANTS AND ADVISORS

Bond Counsel .....................................................................................Fulbright & Jaworski LLP, a member of Norton Rose Fuibright
San Antonio, Texas

Certified Public Accountants ...................................................................................................................Patillo, Brown &Hill, L.L.P.
Waco, Texas

Financial Advisor ........................................................................................................................................ Southwest Securities, Inc.
San Antonio, Texas

Mr. Victor Salas
Chief Financial Officer

City of Bellmead
3015 Bellmead Drive

Belimead, Texas 76705
(254)799-2436 (Phone)
(254) 799-5969 (Fax)
vsalas@bellmead. com

For Additional Information Please Contact:

Mr. Mark McLiney
Senior Vice President

Southwest Securities, Inc.
404Q Broadway, Suite 220
San Antonio, Texas 78209
(214) 226-8677 (Phone)
(210) 226-8299 (Fax}
mmcliney@swst.com

Mr. Andrew T. Friedman
Vice President

Southwest Securities, Inc.
4040 Broadway, Suite 220
San Antonio, Texas 78209
(210) 226-8677 (Phone)
(210) 226-8299 (Fax)

andrew. friedman@swst. com
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iVo dealer, broker, salesman, or other person has been authorized to give any information, or to make any representation
other than those contained in this Official Statement, and, if given or made, such other information or representations must not
be relied upon as having been authorized by the Issuer. This Official Statement is not to be used in connection with an offer
to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy in any state in which such offer or solicitation is not authorized or in which the
person making such offer or solicitation is not authorized or in which the person making such offer or solicitation is not
qualified to do so or to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer or solicitation. Any information or expression of
opinion herein contained are subject to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale
made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create an implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the
Issuer or other matters described herein since the date hereof.

The Financial Advisor has provided the followina sentence for inclusion in this Official Statement. The Financial Advisor has
reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with its responsibilities to the Issuer and, as applicable, to
investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but the Financial
Advisor does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information.

THE CERTIFICATES AF2E EXEMPT FROM REC3ISTRATION WITH THE IJNITEQ STATES SECURITIES AND EXGHANCE
COMMISSION AND CONSEQUENTLY HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED THEREWITH. THE REGISTRATION,
QUALIFICATION, OR EXEMPTION OF THE CERTIFICATES IN ACCORDANCE WITH APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAW
PROVISIONS OF THE JURISDICTIONS IN WHICH THE CERTIFICATES HAVE BEEN REGISTERED, QUALIFIED, OR
EXEMPTED SHQJL~ NAT BE REG° RDEL' ~S ~ RECOMMEND~TlON THEREQF.

None of t1i~ amity, t~iB Financial A~viscrs Gi' tilE ruii,,iaSc~i iiiaiCv''S ally i~Ni~S8ilt8ti~ii uP warranty 'vJitil i~Sj~@Ct t~ till
information contained in this Official Statement regarding The Depository Trust Company ("DTC") or its Book-Entry-Only
System, as such information is provided by DTC.

The agreements of the City and others related to the Certificates are contained solely in the contracts described herein.
Neither this Official Statement nor any other statement made in connection with the offer or sale of the Certificates is to be
construed as constituting an agreement with the purchaser of the Certificates. INVESTORS SHOULD READ THE ENTIRE
OFFICIAL STATEMENT, INCLUDING ALL APPENDICES ATTACHED HERETO, TO OBTAIN INFORMATION ESSENTIAL
TO MAKING AN INFORMED INVESTMENT DECISION.
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SELECTED DATA FROM THE OFFICIAL STATEMENT

The selected data is subject in all respects to the more complete information and definitions contained or incorporated in this Official
Statement. The offering of the Certificates to potential investors is made anly by means of this entire Official Statement. No person
is authorized to detach this page from this Official Statement or to otherwise use it without the entire Official Statement.

The Issuer The City of Belimead, Texas (the "City" or "Issuer") is located three miles to the northeast
of Waco on U.S. Highway 84. The 2010 census population was 9,901, increasing 7.46%
since 2000. The current population estimate is 10,092. The City operates under a
Mayor/City Council form of government pursuant to the laws of the State of Texas and the
City's Home Rule Charter. (See "APPENDIX B - General Information Regarding the City of
Bellmead and McLennan County, Texas" herein.)

The Certificates The Certificates are being issued pursuant to the Certificate of Obligation Act of 1971
(Sections 271.041 through 271.064, Texas Locai Government Code, as amended),
Chapter 1502, as amended, Texas Government Code, an ordinance (the "Ordinance")
adopted by the City Council of the City, on August 12, 2014 and the City's Home Rule
Charter. (See "THE CERTIFICATES - Authority for Issuance" herein.)

Paying Agent/Registrar The initial Paying Agent/Registrar is BOKF, NA, dba Bank of Texas.

Security The Certificates constitute direct and general obligations of the Issuer payable primarily
from the proceeds of an annual ad valorem tax levied upon ail taxable property within the
City, within the limitations prescribed by law, and are further payable from and secured by a
lien on and pledge of the Pledged Revenues (identified and defined in the Ordinance),
being a limited amount of the Net Revenues derived from the operation of the City's
combined utility system (the "System"), such lien on and pledge of the limited amount of
Net Revenues being subordinate and inferior to the lien on and pledge of such Net
Revenues securing payment of any Prior Lien Obligations, Junior Lien Obligations, or
Subordinate Lien Obligations hereafter issued by the issuer (all such terms as defined in
the Ordinance). In the Ordinance, the City reserves and retains the right to issue Prior Lien
Obligations, Junior Lien Obligations, Subordinate Lien Obligations, and Additional Limited
Pledge Obligations (all as identified and defined in the Ordinance) without limitation as to
principal amount but subject to any terms, conditions or restrictions as may be applicable
thereto under law or otherwise. (See "THE CERTIFICATES - Security for Payment' and
"TAX RATE LIMITATIONS" herein.)

Redemption Provisions of the The Issuer reserves the right, at its sole option, to redeem Certificates stated to mature on
Certificates or after March 1, 2025, in whole or in part, in principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral

multiple thereof, on March 1, 2024, or any date thereafter, at the redemption price of par
plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption. (See 'THE CERTIFICATES -
Redemption Provisions of the Certificates" herein.)

Tax Matters In the opinion of Bond Counsel, the interest on the Certificates will be excludable from
gross income of the owners thereof for purposes of federal income taxation under existing
statutes, regulations, published rulings and court decisions, subject to matters discussed
herein under "TAX MATTERS", including the alternative tax on corporations. -(See "TAX
MATTERS" and "APPENDIX C -Form of Opinion of Bond Counsel" herein.)

Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligations The Issuer has designated the Certificates as "Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligations" for
financial institutions. (See "TAX MATTERS - Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligations" herein.)

Use of Certificate Proceeds Proceeds from the sale of the Certificates will be used for the purpose of paying contractual
obligations of the City to be incurred for making permanent public improvements and for
other public purposes, to-wit: (1) constructing, acquiring, purchasing, renovating, enlarging
and improving the City's utility system to include a new sewer interceptor and a new water
well; (2) constructing street improvements (including utilities repair, replacement, and
relocation), curb, gutters, and sidewalk improvements including utilities repair, replacement
and relocation) and drainage incidental thereto; (3) constructing, acquiring, purchasing and
equipping the City's new Municipal Court Building; (4) constructing, improving, acquiring,
purchasing, renovating, and enlarging various public safety facilities, including a fire station
rehabilitation and a new parking lot for the Police Department; (5) the purchase of
materials, supplies, equipment, public safety vehicles and equipment, communication
vehicles and equipment, machinery, landscaping, land, and rights-of-way for authorized
needs and purposes relating to the aforementioned capital improvements; and (6) the
payment of professional services relating to the design, construction, project management,
and financing of the aforementioned projects. (See "THE CERTIFICATES -Use of
Certificate Proceeds" herein.)
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Future Bond Issues
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S!andard & Poor's Ratings Seriices, a Standard & Poor's Financial Services I I C business
("S&P") has assigned a rating of "AA-" to the Certifica4es. (See "OTHER PERTINENT
INFORMATION - Rating" herein.)

The Issuer has never defaulted on the payment of its bonded indebtedness.

The City does not anticipate the issuance of any additional ad valorem tax debt within the
next twelve months, except potentially refunding bonds for debt service savings.

When issued, anticipated on or about September 3, 2014.

delivery of the Certificates is subject to the apprav~l by the A#k~mey General of the State
of Texas and the approval of certain legal matters by Fulbright & Jaworski LLP of San
Hnionio, i exas, a memoer or ivorion nose ruiorigni, Bond Cvunsei.

(The remainder of this page intentionally left blank.)



OFFICIAL STATEMENT

relating to

$8,500,000
CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS

(Apolitical subdivision of the State of Texas located in McLennan, Texas)

COMBINATION TAX AND LIMITED PLEDGE REVENUE CERTIFICATES OF OBLIGATION, SERIES 2014

INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT

This Official Statement provides certain information in connection with the issuance by the City of Bellmead, Texas (the "City'
or the "Issuer") of its $8,500,000 Combination Tax and Limited Pledge Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2014 (the
"Certificates") identified on the cover page.

The Issuer is a political subdivision of the State of Texas and a municipal corporation organized and existing under the
Constitution and laws of the State of Texas and its Home Rule Charter. Unless otherwise indicated, capitalized terms used in
this Official Statement have the same meanings assigned to such terms in the Ordinance. Included in this Official Statement
are descriptions of the Certificates and certain information about the Issuer and its finances. ALL DESCRIPTIONS OF
DOCUMENTS CONTAINED HEREIN ARE SUMMARIES ONLY AND ARE QUALIFIED /N THEIR ENTIRETY BY
REFERENCE TO EACH SUCH DOCUMENT. Copies of such documents may be obtained upon request from the Issuer or
its Financial Advisor, Southwest Securities, Inc., 4040 Broadway, Suite 220, San Antonio, Texas 78209, via electronic mail or
upon payment of reasonable copying, handling, and delivery charges.

All financial and other information presented in this Official Statement has been provided by the City from its records, except
for information expressly attributed to other sources. The presentation of information, including tables of receipts from taxes
and other sources, is intended to show recent historic information, and is not intended to indicate future or continuing trends in
financial position or other affairs of the City. No representation is made that past experience, as is shown by financial and
other information, will necessarily continue or be repeated in the future.

This Official Statement speaks only as to its date, and the information contained herein is subject to change. A copy of the
Final Official Statement pertaining to the Certificates will be deposited with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board
through its Electronic Municipal Market Access ("EMMA") system. See "CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION"
herein for a description of the City's undertaking to provide certain information on a continuing basis.

THE CERTIFICATES

General Description of the Certificates

The Certificates will be dated August 1, 2014 (the "Dated Date"), will mature on the dates and in the principal amounts and
will bear interest at the rates set forth on page ii of this Official Statement. The Certificates will be registered and issued in
denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. The Certificates will bear interest from the Dated Date, or from the
most recent date to which interest has been paid or duly provided for, and will be paid semiannually on March 1 and
September 1 of each year, commencing March 1, 2015, until stated maturity or prior redemption. Principal of and interest on
the Certificates are payable in the manner described herein under "BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM". In the event the Book-
Entry-Only System is discontinued, the interest on the Certificates payable on an interest payment date will be payable to the
registered owner as shown on the security register maintained by BOKF, NA dba Bank of Texas, Austin, Texas as the initial
Paying AgenURegistrar, as of the Record Date (defined below), by check, mailed first-class, postage prepaid, to the address
of such person on the security register or by such other method acceptable to the Paying AgenURegistrar requested by and at
the risk and expense of the registered owner. In the event the Book-Entry-Only System is discontinued, principal of the
Certificates will be payable at stated maturity or prior redemption upon presentation and surrender thereof at the corporate
trust once of the Paying AgenURegistrar.

If the date for the payment of the principal of or interest on the Certificates is a Saturday, Sunday, a legal holiday or a day
when banking institutions in the city where the Paying AgenURegistrar is located are authorized by law or executive order to
close, then the date for such payment will be the next succeeding day which is not a Saturday, Sunday, legal holiday or a day
on which banking institutions are authorized to close; and payment on such date will have the same force and effect as if
made on the original date payment was due.

Authority for Issuance

The Certificates are being issued pursuant to the Certificate of Obligation Act of 1971 (Sections 271.041 through 271.064
Texas Local Government Code, as amended), Chapter 1502, as amended, Texas Government Code, an ordinance (the
"Ordinance") adopted by the City Council of the City (the "City Council") on August 12, 2014, and the City's Home Rule
Charter.
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Limited Pledge of Ad Valorem Taxes. l~he Certificates are general obligations of the City, payable from its collection of an ad
valorem tax levied annually, within the legal limitations imposed by law, upon all taxable property located in the City. (See
"AD VALOREM T~;X °ROCEDURES" and "Ta?C R,~TE LIMITl~TIONS" herein.)

Limited Revenue Pledge Benefiting fhe Certificates. Solely to comply with Texas law allowing the Certificates to be Bald for
cash, the Certificates are further secured by a lien on and pledge of the Pledged Revenues (being a limited amount of the Net
Revenues derived from the operation of the Issuer's combined utility system (the "System") not to exceed $1,000 during the
entire period the Certificates or interest thereor remain outstanding, such lien on and pledge of the limited amount of Net
Revenues being subordinate and inferior to the lien on and pledge of such Net Revenues securing payment of any Prior Lien
c"~bligations, Junior Lien Obligations, or Subordinate Lien Obligations hereafter issued by the issuer (all such terms as defiined
in the 4rdin~ncel: In the ordinance, the pity resPrve~ ~ne~ ret~in~ the right tc~ issue Prior Lien Obligations; Junior Lien
Obligations, Subordinate Lien Obligations, and Additional Limited Pledge Obligations (all as identified and defined in the
Ordinance) without limitation as to principal amount but subject to any terms, conditions or restrictions as may be applicable
thereto under law or otherwise.

ftedernptio~a Prov9sion~ of the Ge~k9ficates

The Issuer reserves the right, at its sole option, to redeem Certificates stated to mature, on or after March 1, 2025, in whole or
in part, in principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof on March 1, 2024, or any date thereafter, at the par
value thereof plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption. If less than all of the Certificates within a stated maturity
are to be redeemed, the particular Certificates to be redeemed shall be selected by lot or by other customary random method
~y the Paying Agent/Registrar.

At least 30 days prior to the date fixed for any redemption of any Certificates or portions thereof prior to stated maturity, the
Issuer shall cause notice of such redemption to be sent by United States mail, first-class postage prepaid, to the registered
owner of each Certificate or a portion thereof to be redeemed at its address as it appeared on the registration books of the
Paying AgenURegistrar on the day such notice of redemption is mailed. By the date fixed for any such redemption, due
provision shall be made with the Paying AgenURegistrar for the payment of the required redemption price for the Certificates
or portions thereof which are to be so redeemed. If such notice of redemption is given and if due provision for such payment
is made, all as provided above, the Certificates or portions thereof which are to be so redeemed thereby automatically shall
be treated as redeemed prior to their scheduled maturities, and they shall not bear interest after the date fixed for redemption,
and they shall not be regarded as being outstanding except for the right of the registered owner to receive the redemption
price from the Paying Agent/Registrarout of the funds provided for such payment.

ANY NOTICE OF REDEMPTION SO MAILED SHALL BE CONCLUSIVELY PRESUMED TO HAVE BEEN DULY GIVEN
IRRESPECTIVE OF WHETHER RECEIVED BY THE CERTIFICATEHOLDER, AND, PROVIDED THAT PROVISION FOR
PAYMENT OF THE REDEMPTION PRICE IS MADE AND ANY OTHER CONDITIONS TO REDEMPTION ARE
SATISFIED, INTEREST ON THE REDEEMED CERTIFICATES SHALL CEASE TO ACCRUE FROM AND AFTER SUCH
R`D`M°T{CN vr~iT~ NvT1~/~T~JvT~i~JDIP~Iv Ti'i~T n vERTi Fivr~iTE Hr~iv NvT B~~N PREv~~~T~v CvR °~YME"dT.

Certificates of a denomination larger than $5,000 may be redeemed in part ($5,000 or any integral multiple thereofl. Any
Certificate to be partially redeemed must be surrendered in exchange for one or more new Certificates of the same stated
maturity and interest rate for the unredeemed portion of the principal,

The Paying AgenUFZegistrar and the Issuer, so long as aBook-Entry-only System is used for the Certificates, will send any
notice of redemption, notice of proposed amendment to the Ordinance or other notices with respect to the Certificates only to
DTC. Any failure by DTC to advise any DTC participant, or of any DTC participant or indirect participant to notify the
Beneficial Owner, will not affect the validity of the redemption of the Certificates called for redemption or any other action
premised on any such notice. Redemption of portions of the Certificates by the Issuer wiA reduce the outstanding principal
amount of such Certificates held by DTC. In such event, DTC may implement, through its Book-Entry-Only System, a
redemption of such Certificates held for the account of DTC participants in accordance with its rules or other agreements with
DTC participants and then DTC participants and indirect participants may implement a redemption of such Certificates from
the Beneficial Owners. Any such selection of Certificates to be redeemed will not be governed by the Ordinance and will not
b° ~.,̂ d• ̂ tau uy the l~~...,, .,r the !'uy;̂ g nge^UReg;strar. ^:either ;h° Issuer nor #"e °aging agê +JRe~,ist~ar ~nr!! have a^r
responsibility to DTC participants, indirect participants or the persons for whom DTC participants act as nominees, with
respect to the payments on the Certificates or the providing of notice to DTC participants, indirect participants, or Beneficial
Owners of the selection of portions of the Certificates for redemption. (see "~3UUK-~Ni KY-ONLY 5Y51 ~M" herein.]

use of Lertiricaie Nroceeds

Proceeds from the sale of the Certificates will be used for the purpose of paying contractual obligations of the City to be
incurred- for making permanent public improvements and fior other public purposes, to-wit: (1) constructing, acquiring,
purchasing, renovating, enlarging and improving the City's utility system to include a new sewer interceptor and a new water
well; (2) constructing street improvements (including utilities repair, replacement, and relocation), curb, gutters, and sidewalk
improvements {including utilities repair, replacement and relocation) and drainage incidental thereto; {3) constructing,
acquiring, purchasing and equipping the City's new Municipal Court Building; (4) constructing., improving ,acquiring,



purchasing, renovating, and enlarging various public safety facilities, including a fire station rehabilitation and a new parking
lot for the Police Department; (5) the purchase of material, supplies, equipment, public safety vehicles and equipment,
communication vehicles and equipment, machinery, landscaping, land, and right-of-way for authorized needs and purposes
relating to the aforementioned capital improvements; and (6J the payment of professional services relating to the design,
construction, project management, and financing of the aforementioned projects.

Sources and Uses

Sources
Par Amount of the Certificates $8,500,000.00
Accrued Interest on the Certificates 21,563.89
Premium 148,975.00

Total Sources of Funds ~8 670 538.89

Uses
General Fund Project Deposit $4,000,000.00
Utility Fund Project Deposit 4,500,000.00
Purchaser's Discount 60,57920
Accrued Interest 21,563.89
Costs of Issuance 85,000.00
Rounding Amount 3,395.80

Total Uses

Payment Record

The Issuer has never defaulted on the payment of its bonded indebtedness.

Amendments

The Issuer may amend the Ordinance without the consent of or notice to any registered owners in any manner not
detrimental to the interests of the registered owners, including the curing of any ambiguity, inconsistency, or formal defect or
omission therein. In addition, the Issuer may, with the written consent of the holders of a majority in aggregate principal
amount of the Certificates then outstanding affected thereby, amend, add to, or rescind any of the provisions of the
Ordinance; except that, without the consent of the registered owners of all of the Certificates affected, no such amendment,
addition, or rescission may (1) change the date specified as the date on which the principal of or any installment of interest on
any Certificate is due and payable, reduce the principal amount thereof, or the rate of interest thereon, change the redemption
price or amounts, change the place or places at or the coin or currency in which any Certificate or interest thereon is payable,
or in any other way modify the terms of payment of the principal of or interest on the Certificates, (2) give any preference to
any Certificate over any other Certificate, (3j extend any waiver of default to subsequent defaults, or (4) reduce the aggregate
principal amount of Certificates required for consent to any amendment, change, modification, or waiver.

Defeasance

The Ordinance provides for the defeasance of the Certificates when payment of the principal amount of the Certificates plus
interest accrued on the Certificates to their due date (whether such due date be by reason of stated maturity, redemption, or
otherwise), is provided by irrevocably depositing with a paying agent, or other authorized escrow agent, in trust (1) money in
an amount sufficient to make such payment, and/or (2) Government Securities (defined below), certified, in the case of a net
defeasance, by an independent accounting firm of national reputation, to mature as to principal and interest in such amounts
and at such times to insure the availability, without reinvestment, of sufficient money to make such payment, and all
necessary and proper fees, compensation and expenses of the paying agent for the Certificates; provided, however, that no
such certification by an independent accounting firm of the sufficiency of deposits shall be required in connection with a gross
defeasance of Certificates. The City has additionally reserved the right, subject to satisfying the requirements of (1) and (2)
above, to substitute other Government Securities originally deposited, to reinvest the uninvested moneys on deposit for such
defeasance and to withdraw for the benefit of the City, moneys in excess of the amount required for such defeasance. The
Ordinance provides that "Government Securities" means any securities and obligations now or hereafter authorized by State
law that are eligible to discharge obligations such as the Certificates. Current State law permits defeasance with the following
types of securities: (a) direct, noncallable obligations of the United States of America, including obligations that are
unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America, (b) noncallable obligations of an agency or instrumentality of the
United States of America, including obligations that are unconditionally guaranteed or insured by the agency or instrumentality
and that, on the date of the purchase thereof, are rated as to investment quality by a nationally recognized investment rating
firm not less than AAA or its equivalent, (c) noncallable obligations of a state or an agency or a county, municipality, or other
political subdivision of a state that on the date the governing body of the City adopts or approves the proceedings authorizing
the financial arrangements have been refunded and are rated as to investment quality by a nationally recognized investment
rating firm not less than AAA or its equivalent, and (d) any additional securities and obligations hereafter authorized by State



!uw a~ 2Ggible for use to accomplish the discharge ofi obligations such as the Certificates. There is nc assurance that the
ratings for U.~. Treasury securities acquired to defease any Certificates, or those for any oiher Government Securities, will ~e
maintained at any particular rating category. Further, there is no assurance that current State law will not be amended in a
manner that axpan~lG n~- rnntra~tg tha ~igt ~f rgrrr~iggjhla rla{gagan~a SeC:.~ri!ieS (Such IlSt COnslSt~ng ~f thASS Sec! ~rities
identified in clauses (a) through (c) above), or any rating requirement thereon, that may be purchased with def2asanca
proceeds relating to the Certificates ("Defeasance Proceeds"), though the City has reserved the right to utilize any additional
securities for such purpose in the event the aforementioned list is expanded. Because the Ordinance does not contractually
limit such permissible defeasance securities and expressly recognizes the ability of the City to use lawfully available
Defeasance Proceeds to defease all or any portion of the Certificates, registered owners of Certificates are deemed to have
c~nsenzed to the use or DeTeasance Proceeds io purchase such other defeasance securities, notwithstanding the facf that
such defeasance securities may not be of the same investment quality as those currently identified under State law as
permissible defeasance securities.

Upon such deposit as described above, such Certificates shall no longer be regarded to be outstanding or unpaid. After firm
banking and financial arrangements for the discharge and final payment of the Certificates have been made as described
above, aii rights of the City to initiate proceedings to call the Certificates for redemption or take any other action amending the
terms of the Certificates are extinguished; provided, however, the City has the option, to be exercised at the time; of the
defeasance of the Certificates, to call for redemption ai an earlier date those Certificates which have been defeased to (heir
maturity date, if the City (i) in the proceedings providing for the firm banking and financial arrangements, expressly reserves
the right to call the Certificates for redemption, (ii) gives notice of the reservation of that right to the owners of the Certificates
immediately following the making of the firm banking and financial arrangements, and (iii) directs that notice of the reservation
be included in any redemption notices that it authorizes.

Default and Remedies

The Ordinance establishes specific events of default with respect to the Certificates. If the City defaults in the payment of
principal, interest, or redemption price on the Certificates when due, or if if fails 4o make payments into any fund or funds
created in the Ordinance, or defaults in the observation or performance of any other covenants, conditions, or obligations set
forth in the Ordinance, the registered owners may seek a writ of mandamus to compel City officials to carry out their legally
imposed duties with respect to the Certificates, if there is no other available remedy at law to compel performance of the
Certificates or the Ordinance and the City's obligations are not uncertain or disputed. The issuance of a writ of mandamus is
controlled by equitable principles, so rests with the discretion of the court, but may not be arbitrarily refused. There is no
acceleration of maturity of the Certificates in the event of default and, consequently, the remedy of mandamus may have to
be relied upon from year to year. The Ordinance does not provide for the appointment of a trustee to represent the interest
of the bondholders upon any failure of the City to perform in accordance with the terms of the Ordinance, or upon any other
condition and accordingly all legal actions to enforce such remedies would have to be undertaken at the initiative of, and be
financed by, the registered owners. The Texas Supreme Court ruled in Tooke v. City of Mexia, 197 S.W.3d 325 (Tex. 2006)
that a waiver of sovereign immunity in a contractual dispute must be provided for by statute in "clear and unambiguous"
language. Because it is unclear whether the Texas legislature has effectively waived the City's sovereign immunity from a
suit fir money d~mag~s, bcrdheld2rs ̂ guy nc, be able t:, briny suc" a suit against the ~;ty fir breac" Gf the ~^,2i~tifi~at2S ar
the Ordinance. Even if a judgment against the City could be obtained, it could not be enforced by direct levy and execution
against the City's property. further, the registered owners caiviot tl~~i~~s~lves furecl~se ors ptu~ieity uvitliiri tl~e Cily u~ 5 11
property within the City to enforce the tax lien on taxable property to pay the principal of and interest on the Certificates.
Furthermore, the City is eligible to seek relief from its creditors under Chapter 9 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code {"Chapter 9").
Although Chapter 9 provides for the recognition of a security interest represented by a specifically pledged source of
revenues, the pledge of ad valorem taxes in support of a general obligation of a bankrupt entity is not specifically recognized
as a security interest under Chapter 9. Chapter 9 also includes an automatic stay provision that would prohibit, without
Bankruptcy Court approval, the prosecution of any other legal action by creditors or bondholders of an entity which has
sought protection under Chapter 9. Therefore, should the City avail itself of Chapter 9 protection from creditors, the ability to
enforce would be subject to the approval of the Bankruptcy Court (which could require that the action be heard in
Bankruptcy Court instead of other federal or state court); and the Bankruptcy Code provides for broad discretionary powers
of a Bankruptcy Court in administering any proceeding brought before it. The opinion of Bond Counsel will no#e #hat ail
opinions relative to the enforceability of the Ordinance and the Certificates are qualified with respect to the customary rights
of debtors relative to their creditors and general principals of equity that permit the exercise of judicial discretion.

REGISTRATION, TRANSFER AIdD EXCHAfdGE

paying ,4gent/Kegistrar

i he initial raying AgenURegistrar is r~~Kr, ivH d'pa tank of Texas. in the ordinance, the issuer retains the right to replace
the Paying AgenURegistrar. It the Paying Agent/Registrar is replaced by the Issuer, the new Paying AgenURegistrar shall
accept the previous Paying AgenURegistrar's records and act in the same capacity as the previous Paying Agent/Registrar.
Any successor Paying AgenURegistrar, selected at the sole discretion of the Issuer, shall be a national or state banking
association or corporation organized and doing business under the laws of the United States of America or of any state,
authorized under such laws to exercise trust powers, shall be subject to supervision or examination by federal or state



authority, and registered as a transfer agent with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission. Upon a change in
the Paying AgenURegist~ar for the Certificates, the Issuer agrees to promptly cause written notice thereof to be sent to each
registered owner of the Certificates affected by the change by United States mail, first-class, postage prepaid.

The Certificates will be issued in fully registered form in multiples of $5,000 for any one stated maturity, and principal and
semiannual interest will be paid by the Paying AgenURegistrar. Interest will be paid by check or draft mailed on each
interest payment date by the Paying AgenURegistrar to the registered owner at the last known address as it appears on the
Paying AgenURegistrar's books or by such other method, acceptable to the Paying Agent/Registrar, requested by and at the
risk and expense of the registered owner. Principal will be paid to the registered owner at stated maturity or prior
redemption upon presentation to the Paying AgenURegistrar; provided, however, that so long as DTC's Book-Entry-Only
System is utilized, all payments will be made as described under "BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM" herein. If the date for
the payment of the principal of or interest on the Certificates shall be a Saturday, Sunday, a legal holiday or a day when
banking institutions in the city where the Paying Agent/ Registrar is located are authorized to close, then the date for such
payment shall be the next succeeding day which is not such a day, and payment on such date shall have the same force
and effect as if made on the date payment was due.

Record Date

The record date ("Record Date") for determining the registered owner entitled to receive the interest payable on a Certificate
on any interest payment date means the fifteenth (15~') day of the month next preceding each interest payment date. In the
event of anon-payment of interest on a scheduled. payment date, and for 30 days thereafter, a new record date for such
interest payment will be established by the Paying AgenURegistrar. (See "REGISTRATION, TRANSFER, AND EXCHANGE
- Special Record Date for Interest Payment' herein.)

Special Record Date for Interest Payment

In the event of anon-payment of interest on a scheduled payment date, and for 30 days thereafter, a new record date for
such interest payment (a "Special Record Date") will be established by the Paying AgenURegistrar, if and when funds for the
payment of such interest have been received from the Issuer. Notice of the Special Record Date and of the scheduled
payment date of the past due interest (the "Special Payment Date" which shall be 15 days after the Special Record Date)
shall be sent at least five business days prior to the Special Record Date by United States mail, first class postage prepaid,
to the address of each registered owner of a Certificate appearing on the registration books of the Paying AgenURegistrar at
the close of business on the last day next preceding the date of mailing of such notice.

Future Registration

In the event the Certificates are not in the Book-Entry-Only System, the Certificates may be transferred, registered, and
assigned on the registration books of the Paying AgenURegistrar only upon presentation and surrender thereof to the
Paying Agent/Registrar, and such registration and transfer shall be without expense or service charge to the registered
owner, except for any tax or other governmental charges required to be paid with respect to such registration and transfer.
A Certificate may be assigned by the execution of an assignment form on the Certificate or by other instrument of transfer
and assignment acceptable to the Paying AgenURegistrar. Anew Certificate or Certificates will be delivered by the Paying
Agent/Registrar in lieu of the Certificates being transferred or exchanged at the corporate trust office of the Paying
AgenURegistrar, or sent by United States registered mail to the new registered owner at the registered owner's request, risk
and expense. New Certificates issued in an exchange or transfer of Certificates will be delivered to the registered owner or
assignee of the registered owner in not more than three (3) business days after the receipt of the Certificates to be canceled
in the exchange or transfer and the written instrument of transfer or request for exchange duly executed by the registered
owner or his duly authorized agent, in form satisfactory to the Paying AgenURegistrar. New Certificates registered and
delivered in an exchange or transfer shall be in denominations of $5,000 for any one stated maturity or any integral multiple
thereof and for a like aggregate principal amount and rate of interest as the Certificate or Certificates surrendered for
exchange or transfer. (See "BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM" herein for a description of the system to be utilized in regard to
ownership and transferability of the Certificates.)

Limitation on Transfer of Certificates

Neither the Issuer nor the Paying Agent/Registrarshsh be required (1) to issue, transfer, or exchange any Certificate called for
redemption, in whole or in part during a period beginning at the opening of business fifteen (15) days before the day of the first
mailing of a notice of redemption of Certificates hereunder and ending at the close of business on the day of such mailing or
(2) thereafter to transfer or exchange in whole or in part any Certificate so selected for redemption; provided, however, such
limitation is not applicable to the transferor exchange of the unredeemed balance of a Certificate called for redemption in part.

Replacement Certificates

The Issuer has agreed to replace mutilated, destroyed, lost, or stolen Certificates upon surrender of the mutilated Certificates
to the Paying AgenURegistrar, ar receipt of satisfactory evidence of such destruction, loss, or theft, and receipt by the Issuer
and Paying AgenURegistrar of security or indemnity as may be required by either of them to hold them harmless. The Issuer
may require payment of taxes, governmental charges, and other expenses in connection with any such replacement.



~OO~f=E~lTF~Y=9~lLY SY~7EN1

This section describes how ownership of the Certificates is to be #ransferred and how the prin~inai nf, premium; if any; and
interest on the Certifica#es are 4a be laid fo and credited by The Depository Trusfi Company ("DTC"), yew York, iVew York,
while the Certificates are registered in its nominee name. The information in this section concerning DTC and the
Book-Entry-Only System has been provided by DTC for use in disclosure documents such as this Official Statement. The
City, the Financial Advisor, and the Purchaser believe the source of such infiormation to be reliable, but take no responsibility
for the accuracy or completeness thereof.

The City cannot and does not give any assurance that (1) DTC will distribute payments of debt service on the Certificates, or
redemption or other notices, to DTC Participants, (2) DTC Participants or others will distribute debt service payments paid Yo
f1T~ nr ~#c n m~n~° ̀u~ :ho ror~`~i°i °v v~'di i~^`,r v~ i~13 v°i i~fiOr".~i`~$~, i cu'~i i i~'iiivi ~ vi vii ici i~viiic$~ iv ii is Bci ic~iClai vVvi ici$, vi

that they will do so on a timely basis, or (3) DTC will serve and act in the manner described in this Official Statement. The
current rules applicable to DTC are on file with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission, and the current
procedures of DTC to be followed in dealing with DTC Participants are on file with DTC.

Dl"C will act as securities depository for the Certificates. The Certificates will be issued as fully registered securities
registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC's partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an
authorized representative of DTC. One fully registered bond certificate will be issued for the Certificates, in the aggregate
principal amount of such issue, and will be deposited with DTC.

DTC, the world's largest depository, is alimited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a
'`banking organization" within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a
"clearing corporation" within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a "clearing agency" registered
pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing
for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments
from over 100 countries that DTC's participants ("Direct Participants") deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade
settlement among Direct Participants of sales anti oilier securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic
computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants' accounts. This eliminates the need for physical
movement of securities certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers,
banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The
Depository Trust &Clearing Corporation ("DTCC"). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearing
Corporation, and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is owned by the
users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S.
securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial
relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly ("Indirect Participants"). DTC has a Standard & Poor's rating
of AA+. The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the United States Securities and Exchange
Commission. More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com.

Purchases of Certificates under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will receive a credit
for the Certificates on DTC's records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Certificate ("Beneficial Owner")
is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants' records. Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation
from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the
transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Director Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial
Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the Certifica#es are to be accomplished by entries
made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not
receive physical certificates representing their ownership interests in Certificates, except in the event that use of the book-
entry system for the Certificates is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Certificates deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the name of
DTC's partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.
The deposit of Certificates with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not
effect any change in Beneficial Ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Certificates; DTC's
1'P_.C41'(ls I'P.flP~4 nllly the itlPntity of the t~ira~t P~rfirina~tg to w~pSe ?GGO! ~!?tS ci irh C'.grtifjcatgg ~~e ~rgrlitgri ~f~hl~h mad n~- ~p~~

not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings
on behalf of their customers.

(;nnvPVan~a of nntirac anti pthgr rQmmi iniratinn¢ by f1T( to flira~t Partirinantc by flircart Partirinantc ±~ Inrliro~4

Pa~ticipanis, ai~u uy Direci Paiiicij~ai~is silo inuii~e~i ra~~iei~ari4s 4o Ben~ficiai owners will pe governed by arrangements
among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Beneficial Owners of
Certificates may wish to take certain steps to augment the transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect to
the Certificates, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults, and proposed amendments to the Certificate documents. For
example, Beneficial Owners of Certificates may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the Certificates for their benefit has
agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners. In the alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish tv provide their
names and addresses to the registrar and request that copies of notices be provided directly #o #hem.



Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Certificates within a maturity are being redeemed, DTC's
practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such maturity to be redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to Certificates unless authorized
by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC's Procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to
the City as soon as possible after the record date. The Omnibus Praxy assigns Cede &Co.'s consenting or voting rights to
those Direct Participants to whose accounts Certificates are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the
Omnibus Proxy).

Redemption proceeds, principal, and interest payments on the Certificates will be made to Cede & Co., or such other
nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC's practice is to credit Direct Participants'
accounts upon DTC's receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from the City or the Paying Agent/Registrar, on
payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC's records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial
Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts
of customers in bearer form or registered in "street name," and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC nor
its nominee, the Paying AgenURegistrar, or the City, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect
from time to time. Payment of redemption proceeds, principal, and interest payments to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee
as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the City or the Paying Agent/Registrar,
disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to
the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Certificates at any time by giving reasonable
notice to Issuer or Paying AgenURegistrar. Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor depository is not
obtained, physical certificates are required to be printed and delivered. The Issuer may decide to discontinue use of the
system of book-entry transfers through DTC (or a successor securities depository). In that event, physical certificates will be
printed and delivered to the holder of such Certificates and will be subject to transfer, exchange and registration provisions as
set forth in the Ordinance and summarized under "REGISTRATION, TRANSER AND EXCHANGE" hereinabove.

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC's book-entry system has been obtained from sources that the City,
the Financial Advisor, and the Purchaser believe to be reliable, but none of the City, the Financial Advisor, or the Purchaser
takes responsibility for the accuracy thereof.

So long as Cede & Co. is the registered owner of the Certificates, the Issuer will have no obligation or responsibility to the
DTC. Participants or Indirect Participants, or the persons for which they act as nominees, with respect to payment to or
providing of notice to such Participants, or the persons for which they act as nominees.

Use of Certain Terms in Other Sections of this Official Statement

In reading this Official Statement it should be understood that while the Certificates are in the Book-Entry-Only System,
references in other sections of this Official Statement to registered owners should be read to include the person for which the
Participant acquires an interest in the Certificates, but (i) all rights of ownership must be exercised through DTC and the Book-
Entry-Only System, and (ii) except as described above, payment or notices that are to be given to registered owners under
the Ordinance will be given only to DTC.

Effect of Termination of Book-Entry-Only System

In the event that the Book-Entry-Only System is discontinued by DTC or the use of the Book-Entry-Only System is
discontinued by the City, printed certificates representing. the Certificates will be issued to the holders and the Certificates will
be subject to transfer, exchange and registration provisions as set forth in the Ordinance and summarized under
"REGISTRATION, TRANSFER AND EXCHANGE — Future Registration."

THE SYSTEM

Water System

Presently, the City of Bellmead obtains its water from five (5) deep artesian wells. The wells draw water from the Trinity Sands
aquifer. The capacity of these wells range from 430 to 700 gallons per minutes ("GPM"). The total pumping capacity, as of
June 20, 2014, is 3.83 million gallons daily ("MGD"). The City of Bellmead currently possesses 1,477 acre feet of ground
water rights annually through the Southern Trinity Groundwater Conservation District. The City of Bellmead, through an inter-
local agreement with the City of Waco, has a reserve water connection with the City of Waco's water system as a contingency
to purchase water in the event of emergency or mechanical failures with the City of Bellmead's water system.

The City of Bellmead's water system has four (4) elevated water storage towers. Together, the four water towers total
950,000 gallons of elevated storage. There are seven (7) ground storage tanks with a total capacity of 3,904,000 gallons of
ground storage.



The water i~ distributed and m~terQd throughaut fh~ system t"rough approximately 31,000 f22t of pipe. "the ~ize~ cf pipA~
used throughout the system range from 3/" to 12" in diameter. Meter sizes range from 3/" to 6". As of June 20, 2014 the City
of Bellmead had 3,418 service connections.

Wafter rates, for residential and commercial customers, are presently $17.00 for the first 2,000 gallons and $3.50 per thousand
gallons thereafter. Customers outside the City limits are charged $5.20 per 1,000 gallons above 2,000 gallons.

Wastewafer System

Ti~~ City ~f Belirnead is one oft eight ioc;al rnernber cities of the Waco Meirapoliian Area RegiUnal Sewer aysferri
("WMARSS"). All member cities participate on a cost sharing basis to fund the operations and maintenance, as well as capital
improvement needs, of the WMARSS. The City of Bellmead currently has a 5.707% interest in the system. The City of Waco
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the system through the WMARSS Board. The Board consists of the City Managers from each of the eight participating cities.

The City of Bellmead is currently served by approximately 230,000 feet of sewer pipe. Wastewater pipes, within the City limits,
range in size from 4" to 30" in diameter. The lower elevation areas, within the City, are served by 12 lift stations. All
wastewater collected within the City of Sellmead is metered and sent to the WMARSS treatment plant in the Gity of Waca.

Residential wastewater rates are $9.50 for the first 1,000 gallons and $1.40 for each additional 1,000 gallons up to a
maximum of $21.00. Commercial wastewater rates are the same as residential rates except that there is no maximum on the
amount charged.

INVESTMENT POLICIES

The Issuer invests its investable funds in investments authorized by Texas law in accordance with investment policies
approved by the City Council of the Issuer. The City Manager and Director of Finance /Chief Financial Officer are designated
as investment officers for the City. Both State law and the Issuer's investment policies are subject to change.

Legal Investment

Under Texas law, the Issuer is authorized to invest in (1) obligations, including letters of credit, of the United States or its
agencies and instrumentalities, (2) direct obligations of the State of Texas or its agencies and instrumentalities, (3)
collateralized mortgage obligations directly issued by a federal agency or instrumentality of the United States, the underlying
security for which is guaranteed by an agency or instrumentality of the United States, (4) other obligations, the principal and
interest of which are unconditionally guaranteed or insured by, or backed by the full faith and credit of the State of Texas or
the United States or their respective agencies and instrumentalities, including obligations that are fully guaranteed or insured
by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or by the explicit full faith and credit of the United States, (5) obligations of
states, agencies, counties, cities, and other political subdivisions of any state rated as to investment quality by a nationally
rar_.~~~j~ari invastmeClt ratinn~ {irm not lagc t{~~n "A„ nr itc gr~aj~ialgn}, !F_,~ (a~ rgrFlfi~?tes of ~igrngit a~ri sl~~ra rarFjfiratag iggi sari

by a depository institution that has its main office or branch office in the State of Texas, that are guaranteed or insured by the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or the National Credit Union Share Insurance Fund or their respective successors, or
are secured as to principal by obligations described in clauses (1) through (5) and clause (13) or in any other manner and
amount provided by law for System deposits, and in addition (b) the System is authorized, subject to certain conditions, to
invest in certificates of deposit with a depository institution that has its main office or branch office in the State of Texas and
that participates in the Certificate of Deposit Account Registry Service0 network ("CDARSO") and as further provided by
Texas law, (7) fully collateralized repurchase agreements that have a defined termination date, are fully secured by a
combination of cash and obligations described in clause (1) and require the security being purchased by the Issuer or cash
held by the Issuer to be pledged to the Issuer, held in the Issuer's name and deposited at the time the investment is made
with tha Issuer or with a third party selected and approved by the Issuer, and are placed through a primary government
securities dealer or a financial institution doing business in the State of Texas, (8) bankers' acceptances with the remaining
term of 270 days or less from the date of issuance, if the short-term obligations of the accepting bank or its parent are rated at
least "A-1" or "P-1" or the equivalent by at least one nationally recognized credit rating agency, (9) commercial paper with the
remaining term of 270 days or less from the date of issuance that is rated at least "A-1" or "P-1" or the equivalent by at least
(al iw~ n~~ig~t~ily I°PC:on~1iZ?d rr?c~if ~°~finn anPnCiQS n~° (hl nnP n~tic~r~~~~y rpCq~~j~aci r_.rgrijt rntj~~ ~gp~~v if the n~nPr iS fi lly

secured by an irrevocable letter of credit issued by a U.S. or state bank, (10) no-load money market mutual funds registered
with and regulated by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission that have a dollar weighted average portfolio
~naiutiiy vi 90 uays or less anu iii~luc;e in 4heir invesi~r~er~i vbje~iives iiie rnaiti#enarice oft a s4a~iie rie4 asse4 value vr' $ i r`or
Par_.h Share, (11~ nn-snarl m~iti sal fi ~n~l rgnigtarerl with tha l Injta~l Statgg sari iri{igg anti Fxrhanng C;nmrnigginn that: hayg an

average weiyhte~ maturity of less t .an two yeas; i. ~vesi exclusively i~ o~ligatioi ~s ues~ribeu i~ the Nreczuii ~y ~iau~eS ailu
clause (13), and are continuously rated as to investment quality by at least one nationally recognized investment rating firm of
not less than "AAA" or its equivalent, (12) public funds investment pools that have an advisory board which includes
participants in the pool and are continuously rated as to investment quality by at least one nationally recognized investment
rating firm of not less than "AAA" or "AAA-m" or its equivalent, and (13) bonds issued, assumed or guaranteed by the State of
Israel. Texas law also permits the Issuer to invest bond proceeds in a guaranteed investment contract subject to the
limitations set forih in Chapter 2256, as amended, Texas Government Code.



Entities such as the Issuer may enter into securities lending programs if (i) the securities loaned under the program are 100°/a
collateralized including accrued income, a loan made under the program allows for termination at any time and a loan made
under the program is either secured by (a) obligations that are described in clauses (1) through (5) and clause (13) above, (b)
pledged irrevocable letters of credit issued by a state or national bank that is continuously rated by a nationally recognized
investment rating firm at not less than "A" or its equivalent or (c) cash invested in obligations described in clauses (1) through
(5) and clause (13) above, clause (9) above and clauses (10) and (11) above, or an authorized investment pool; (ii) securities
held as collateral under a loan are pledged to such investing entity or a third party designated by such investing entity; (iii) a
loan made under the program is placed through either a primary government securities dealer or a financial institution doing
business in the State of Texas; and (iv) the agreement to lend securities has a term of one year or less.

The Issuer may invest in such obligations directly or through government investment pools that invest solely in such
obligations provided that the pool are rated no lower than "AAA" or "AAA-m" or an equivalent by at least one nationally
recognized rating- service. The Issuer is specifically prohibited from investing in (1) obligations whose payment represents the
coupon payments on the outstanding principal balance of the underlying mortgage-backed security collateral and pays no
principal; (2) obligations whose payment represents the principal stream of cash flow from the underlying mortgage-backed
security and bears no interest; (3) collateralized mortgage obligations that have a stated final maturity of greater than 10
years; and (4) collateralized mortgage obligations the interest rate of which is determined by an index that adjusts opposite to
the changes in a market index.

Investment Policies

Under Texas law, the Issuer is required to invest its funds under written investment policies that primarily emphasize safety of
principal and liquidity; that address investment diversification, yield, maturity, and the quality and capability of investment
management; and that includes a list of authorized investments for Issuer funds, maximum allowable stated maturity of any
individual investment, the maximum average dollar-weighted maturity allowed for pooled fund groups, and the methods to
monitor the market price of investments acquired with public funds and the requirement for settlement of all transactions,
except investment pool funds and mutual funds, on a delivery versus payment basis and procedures to monitor rating
changes in investments acquired with public funds and the liquidation of such investments. All Issuer funds must be invested
consistent with a formally adopted "Investment Strategy Statement' that specifically addresses each funds' investment. Each
Investment Strategy Statement will describe its objectives concerning (1) suitability of investment type, (2) preservation and
safety of principal, (3) liquidity, (4) marketability of each investment, (5) diversification of the portfolio, and (6) yield.

Under Texas law, Issuer investments must be made "with judgment and care, under prevailing circumstances, that a person
of prudence, discretion, and intelligence would exercise in the management of the person's own affairs, not for speculation,
but for investment, considering the probable safety of capital and the probable income to be derived." At least quarterly the
investment officers of the Issuer shall submit an investment report detailing: (1) the investment position of the Issuer, (2) that
all investment officers jointly prepared and signed the report, (3) the beginning market value, any additions and changes to
market value and the ending value of each pooled fund group, (4) the book value and market value of each separately listed
asset at the beginning and end of the reporting period, (5) the maturity date of each separately invested asset, (6) the account
or fund or pooled fund group for which each individual investment was acquired, and (7) the compliance of the investment
portfolio as it relates to: (a) adopted investment strategy statements and (b) state law. No person may invest Issuer funds
without express written authority from the City Council.

Additional Provisions

Under Texas law, the Issuer is additionally required to: (1) annually review its adopted policies and strategies, (2) adopt an
ordinance or resolution stating that it has reviewed its investment policy and investment strategies and records any changes
made to either its investment policy or investment strategy in the said ordinance or resolution, (3) require any investment
officers with personal business relationships or relatives with firms seeking to sell securities to the entity to disclose the
relationship and file a statement with the Texas Ethics Commission and the City Council; (4) require the qualified
representative of firms offering to engage in an investment transaction with the Issuer to: (a) receive and review the Issuer's
investment policy, (b) acknowledge that reasonable controls and procedures have been implemented to preclude investment
transactions conducted between the Issuer and the business organization that are not authorized by the Issuer's investment
policy (except to the extent that this authorization is dependent on an analysis of the makeup of the Issuer's entire portfolio or
requires an interpretation of subjective investment standards), and (c) deliver a written statement in a form acceptable to the
Issuer and the business organization attesting to these requirements; (5) perForm an annual audit of the management controls
on investments and adherence to the Issuer's investment policy; (6) provide specific investment training for the Treasurer,
Chief Financial Officer, or other investment officers; (7) restrict reverse repurchase agreements to not more than 90 days and
restrict the investment of reverse repurchase agreement funds to no greater than the term of the reverse repurchase
agreement; (8) restrict the investment in mutual funds in the aggregate to no more than 80% of the Issuer's monthly average
fund balance, excluding bond proceeds and reserves and other funds held for debt service and further restrict the investment
in non-money market mutual funds of any portion of bond proceeds, reserves and funds held for debt service and to no more
than 15% of the Issuer's monthly average fund balance, excluding bond proceeds and reserves and other funds held for debt
service and further restrict the investment in no-load money market mutual funds of any portion of bonc4 proceeds reserves
and funds held for debt service to no more than 15% of the entity's monthly average fund balance, excluding band proceeds



and r2~2rv2s and o4h2r funds h21d for debt service; (9) require lo:,al government investment pools to confirm to the ilBVJ
disclosure, rating, net asset value, yield calculation, and advisory board requirements, and (10) at least annually review,
revise, and adopt a list of qualified brokers that are authorized to engage in investment transactions with the Issuer.

Curren$ inve~#mend

As of May 31, 2014 (unaudited), the City held investments as follows:

Investment Tvpe Amount Percentage
Depository Bank Accounts $ 5,385,570.54 44.41
Certificates of Deposit 6,557,437.40 54.07%
Investment Fool Accounts 183,884.07 1.52%

Total X12126,892.01 100.00%

As of such date, the market value of such investments (as determined by the Issuer by reference to published quotations,
dealer bids, and comparable information) was approximately 100% of their book value. No funds of the Issuer are invested in
derivative securities, i.e., securities whose rate of return is determined by reference to some other instrument, index, or
commodity.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAtd

Plan Description

The City provides pension benefits for all of its eligible employees through a nontraditional, joint contributory, hybrid defined
benefit plan in the state-wide Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS), an agent multiple-employer public employee
retirement system. The City employees also participate in the U.S. Social Security program. TMRS issues a publicly
available comprehensive annual financial report, which may be obtained from the TMRS website a www.TMRS.com.

The plan provisions are adopted by the governing body of the City, within the options available in the state statutes governing
TMRS. Members can retire at ages 60 and above with 5 or more years of service or with 25 or more years of service
regardless of age. A member is vested after 5 years.

The contribution rate for employee members is 6.0%, and the City's matching ratio is currently two to one, both as adopted by
the governing body of the City. The City's contributions for Fiscal Year 2013 were based on an annual covered payroll of
$2,780,627. The Annual Required Contribution (ARC) was $241,743 and the Annual Pension Cost was $241,743. The
Actual Contributions Made for Fiscal Year 2013 were $507,723, resulting in a Net Pension Obligation at the end of Fiscal
Year 2013 of $0.

The funded status as of December 31, 2012, the most recent actuarial valuation date, is as follows:

Actuarial Value of Assets $9,412,845
Actuarial Accrued Liability $9,736,082
Percentage funded 96.7%
Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability $ 323,237
Annual covered Payroll $2,780,627
Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability as a
Percentage Of Covered Payroll 11.6%

For more detailed information concerning the City's retirement plan for Fiscal Year 2013, see APPENDIX D Excerpts from the
City of Bellmead Audited Financial Statements for the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2013 -pages 34-36.

Other Post-Employment Benefit

i lie Ciiy also pariicipaies in the cost snaring muiiipie-employer defiined benefii group-'term iiie insurance plan operated by ine
Texas Municipal Retiremen4 System (TMRS) know as the Supplemental Death Benefits Fund (SDBF). The City elected, by
ordinance, to provide group-term life insurance coverage to both current and retired employees. The City may terminate
coverage under and discontinue participation in the SDBF by adopting an ordinance before November 1 of any year to be
eiieciive ine fioiiowing January ~i.

The death benefit for active employees provides clump-sum payment approximately equal to the employee's annual salary
(calculated based on the employee's actual earnings, for the 12-month period preceding the month of death); retired
employees are insured for $7,500. For Fiscal Year 2013 the Annual Required contribution Rate was 0.05% and the Actual
Contribution Rate Made was 0.05°/o, or 100% of the required rate.

For more detailed information concerning 4he City's retirement plan for Fiscal Year 2013, see APPENDIX D Excerpts irorn iiie
City of Bellmead Audited Financial Statements for the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2013 -pages 36-37.
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AD VALOREM TAX PROCEDURES

Property Tax Code and County-Wide Appraisal District

The Texas Property Tax Code (the "Tax Code ") provides for county-wide appraisal and equalization of taxable property
values and establishes in each county of the State of Texas an appraisal district and an appraisal review board responsible
for appraising property for all taxing units within the county. The McLennan County Appraisal District (the "Appraisal District')
is responsible for appraising property within the City generally as of January 1 of each year. The appraisal values set by the
Appraisal District are subject to review and change by the McLennan County Review Board (the "Appraisal Review Board")
which is appointed by the Appraisal District. Such appraisal rolls, as approved by the Appraisal Review Board, are used by
the Issuer in establishing its tax roll and tax rate.

Property Subject to Taxation by the Issuer

Except for certain exemptions provided by Texas law, all real and certain tangible personal property with a tax situs in the City
are subject to taxation by the City. Principal categories of exempt property (including certain exemptions which are subject to
local option by the City Council) include property owned by the State of Texas or its political subdivisions if the property is
used for public purposes; property exempt from ad valorem taxation by federal law; certain improvements to real property and
certain tangible personal property located in designated reinvestment zones on which the Issuer has agreed to abate ad
valorem taxes, certain household goods, family supplies and personal effects; farm products owned by the producers; certain
property of anon-profit corporation used in scientific research and educational activities benefiting a college or university, and
designated historical sites. Other principal categories of exempt property include tangible personal property not held or used
for production of income, solar and wind-powered energy devices; most individually owned automobiles; certain varying
amounts of valuation attributable to residential homesteads of disabled persons or persons ages 65 or over and property of
disabled veterans or the surviving spouse or children of a deceased veteran who died while on active duty in the armed
forces; and certain classes of intangible property. Owners of agricultural and open space land, under certain circumstances,
may request valuation of such land on the basis of productive capacity rather than market value.

At an election held on September 13, 2003, the voters of the State of Texas approved a constitutional amendment authorizing
counties, cities, towns or junior college districts to establish an ad valorem "tax freeze" on residence homesteads of the
disabled and persons sixty-five years of age or older. The surviving spouse of a taxpayer who qualifies for the freeze on ad
valorem taxes is entitled to the same exemption so long as (i) the taxpayer died in a year in which he qualified for the
exemption, (ii) the surviving spouse was at least 55 years of age when the taxpayer died, and (iii) the property was the
residence homestead of the surviving spouse when the taxpayer died and the property remains the residence homestead of
the surviving spouse. This "tax freeze" can be implemented by official action of a governing body, or pursuant to an election
called by the governing body upon receipt of a petition signed by 5% of registered voters of the municipality.

Valuation of Property for Taxation

Generally, property in the City must be appraised by the Appraisal District at market value as of January 1 of each year.
Once an appraisal roll is prepared and finally approved by the Appraisal Review Board, it is used by the Issuer in establishing
its tax rolls and tax rate. Assessments under the Tax Code are to be based on one hundred percent (100%) of market value,
except as described below, and no assessment ratio can be applied.

State law requires the appraised value of a residence homestead to be based solely on the property's value as a residence
homestead, regardless of whether residential use is considered to be the highest and best use of the property. State law
further limits the appraised value of a residence homestead-for a tax year to an amount not to exceed the lesser of (1) the
market value of the property or (2) the sum of (a) 10% of the appraised value of the property for the last year in which the
property was appraised for taxation times the number of years since the property was last appraised, plus (b) the appraised
value of the property for the last year in which the property was appraised plus (c) the market value of all new improvements
to the property.

Article VIII of the Texas Constitution and the Tax Code permits land designated for agricultural use (Section 1-d), open space
or timberland (Section 1-d-1) to be appraised at the lesser of its value based on the land's capacity to produce agricultural or
timber products or its market value. Landowners wishing to avail themselves of the agricultural use designation must apply for
the designation, and the appraiser is required by the Tax Code to act on each claimant's right to the designation individually.
If a claimant receives the agricultural use designation and later loses it by changing the use of the property or selling it to an
unqualified owner, the Issuer can collect taxes based on the new value, including three (3) years for agricultural use and five
(5) years for agricultural open space land and timberland prior to the loss of the designation. The same land may not be
qualified under both Section 1-d and 1-d-1.

The Tax Code requires the Appraisal District to implement a plan for periodic reappraisal of property to update appraisal
values. The plan must provide for appraisal of all real property in the Appraisal District at least once every three (3) years.
The Issuer, at its expense, has the right to obtain from the Appraisal District a current estimate of appraised values within the
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City or an estimate of any new praperty or imprav~m2nt~ within the amity. While such current estimut~ of appraised values
may ~2rv~ to indicate the rate and extent of growth of taxable values within the City, it cannot be used for establishing a tax
rate within the City until such time as the Appraisal District chooses to formally include such values on its appraisal roll.

~eside~atia9 F9~~ae~iead ~~ernp~io~s

Under Section 1-b, Article VIII of the Texas Constitution, and State law, the governing body of a political subdivision, at ifs
option, may grant:

1. An sremption of not less than $3,000 cf the mar!<et value of the residence hom2st2Gd of persons 65 years of
age or older and the disabled from all ad valorem taxes thereafter levied by the political subdivision.

2. An ?xemn#inn of i m to 7Q% ~f the markat vale ig of rgcirianrg hnmastgarlc~ minimi im axa~nrtinn ~ri,nnn,

In the case of residence homestead exemptions granted under Section 1-b, Article VIII, ad valorem taxes may continue to be
levied against the value of homesteads exempted where ad valorem taxes have previously been pledged for the payment of
debt if cessation of the levy would impair the obligation of the contract by which the debt was created. The surviving spouse
of a taxpayer who qualifies for the freeze on ad valorem #axes is entitled to the same exemption so long as (i) the taxpayer
died in a year in which he qualified for the exemption, (ii) the surviving spouse was at least 55 years of age when the taxpayer
died, and (iii) the property was the residence homestead of the surviving spouse when the taxpayer died and the property
remains the residence homestead of the surviving spouse.

State law and Section 2, Article VIII, mandate an additional property tax exemption for disabled veterans or the surviving
spouse or children of a ~e~eased veteran vd~o t1ie~ while un active uuty iii ii~e alined iurces; ii~e exeiiiNiiaii a~iplies io either
real or personal property with the amount of assessed valuation exempted ranging from $5,000 to a maximum of $12,000.

A disabled veteran who receives from the United States Department of Veterans Affairs or its successor 100% disability
compensation due to aservice-connected disability and a rating of 100% disabled or of individual unemployability is entitled
to an exemption from taxation of the total appraised value of the veteran's residence homestead. Furthermore, following the
approval by the voters at a November 8, 2Q11 statewide election, effective January 1, 2012, the surviving spouse of a
deceased veteran who had received a disability rating of 100% is entitled to receive a residential homestead exemption equal
to the exemption received by the deceased spouse until such surviving spouse remarries.

Following the approval by the voters at a November 5, 2013 statewide election, a partially disabled veteran or the surviving
spouse of a partially disabled veteran is entitled to an exemption equal to the percentage of the veteran's disability, if the
residence was donated at no cost to the veteran by a charitable organization.

Also approved by the November 5, 2013, election was a constitutional amendment providing that the surviving spouse of a
member of the armed forces who is killed in action is entitled to a property tax exemption for all or a part of the market value of
such surviving spouse's residence homestead, if the surviving spouse has not remarried since the service member's death
and said property was the service member's residence homestead at the time of death. Such exemption is transferable to a
different property of the surviving spouse, if the surviving spouse has not remarried, in an amount equal to the exemption
received on the prior residence in the last year in which such exemption was received.

Freeport Goods and Goods-In-Transit exemption

Article Vlii, Section 1-j of the Texas Constitution provides for an exemption from ad valorem taxation for "freeport property,"
which is defined as goods detained in the state for 175 days or less for the purpose of assembly, storage, manufacturing,
processing or fabrication. Taxing units that took action prior to April 1, 1990 may continue to tax freeport property and
decisions to continue to tax freeport property may be reversed in the future. However, decisions to exempt freeport property
are not subject to reversal.

In addition, Article VIII, Jection 1-n of the Texas Constitution provides far an exemption from 4axafion for "goods-in-Transit",
which are defined as personal property acquired or imported into the state and transported to another location inside or
outside the state within 175 days of the date the property was acquired or imported into the state. The exemption excludes
oil, natural gas, petroleum products, aircraft and special inventory, including motor vehicle, vessel and out-board motor, heavy
equipment and manufactured housing inventory. After holding a public hearing, a taxing unit may take action by January 1 of
the year preceding a tax year to tax goods-in-transit during the following tax year. A taxn~yer many ~htain only ~ freer~ort
exemption or agoods-in-transit exemption for items of personal property. Senate Bill 1, passed by the 82"d Texas
Legislature, 1'` Called Session, requires that the governmental entities take affirmative action prior to December 31; 2011 to
continue its taxation of goods-in-transit in the 2012 tax year and beyond.

Tax 9nvestment Financing/Tax ~.batement/Economic Development F rogram

Tax Increment Reinvestment (Financing) ,ones: The City, by action of the City Co~!ncil, may create one or more tax
increment reinvestment zones ("TIRZs" or "TIFs") within the City, and in doing so, other overlapping taxing entities may agree
io contribute 4axes levied against the "Incremental Value" in the TIRZ to finance or pay for public improvements or projects
within the TIRZ. At the time of the creation of the TIRZ, a "base value" for the real property in the TIRZ is established and the



difference between any increase in the assessed valuation of taxable real property in the TIRZ in excess of the base value of
taxable real property in the TIRZ is known as the "Incremental Value", and during the existence of the TIRZ, all or a portion
(as determined by the City) of the taxes levied by the City against the Incremental Value in the TIRZ are restricted to paying
project and financing costs within the TIRZ and are not available for the payment of other obligations of the City.

Tax Abatement Agreements: The City also may enter into tax abatement agreements to encourage economic development.
Under the agreements, a property owner agrees to construct certain improvements on its property. The City, in turn, agrees
not to levy a tax on all or part of the increased value attributable to the improvements until the expiration of the agreement.
The abatement agreement could last for a period of up to 10 years.

Economic Development Programs of Grants and Loans: The City is authorized, pursuant to Chapter 380, Texas Local
Government Code ("Chapter 380") to establish programs to promote state or local economic development and to stimulate
business and commercial activity in the City. In accordance with a program established pursuant to Chapter 380, the City may
make loans or grants of public funds for economic development purposes, however, no obligations secured by ad valorem
taxes may be issued for such purposes unless approved by voters of the City.

Issuer and Taxpayer Remedies

Under certain circumstances, taxpayers and taxing units, including the Issuer, may appeal the orders of the Appraisal Review
Board by filing a time4y petition for review in district court within 45 days after notice is received that a final order has been
entered. In such event, the property value in question may be determined by the court, or by a jury, if requested by any party,
or through binding arbitration, if requested by the taxpayer. Additionally, taxing units may bring suit against the Appraisal
District to compel compliance with the Tax Code.

The Tax Code sets forth notice and hearing procedures for certain tax rate increases by the Issuer and provides for taxpayer
referenda that could result in the repeal of certain tax increases. The Tax Code also establishes a procedure for notice to
property owners of reappraisals reflecting increased property value, appraisals which are higher than renditions, and
appraisals of property not previously on an appraisal roll.

The Financial Institutions Act of 1989

The "Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of 1989" ("FIRREA"), enacted on August 9, 1989, contains
certain provisions which affect the time for protesting property valuations, the fixing of tax liens and the collection of penalties
and interest on delinquent taxes on real property owned by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (the "FDIC").

Under - FIRREA, real property held by the FDIC is subject to ad valorem taxation, however such act states that (i) no real
property of the FDIC shall be subject to foreclosure or sale without the consent of the FDIC and no involuntary lien shall
attach to such property, (ii) the FDIC shall not be liable for any penalties or fines, including those arising from the failure to pay
any real property tax when due, (iii) no personal property owned by FDIC is subject to ad valorem taxation, and (iv)
notwithstanding failure of a person to challenge an appraisal in accordance with State law, such value shall be determined as
of the period for which such tax is imposed.

As of the date hereof, the Issuer is not aware of any significant properties in the City which are under the control of the FDIC,
however, real property could come under their control while acting as the receiver of an insolvent financial institution.
Accordingly, to the extent the FIRREA provisions are valid and applicable to property in the City, and to the event that the
FDIC attempts to enforce the same, the provisions may affect the time at which the Issuer can collect taxes on property
owned by the FDIC, if any, in the City.

Lery and Collection of Taxes

The Issuer is responsible for the levy and collection of its taxes unless it elects to transfer such functions to another
governmental entity. Before the later of September 30~h or the 60~' day after the date the certified appraisal roll is received by
the taxing unit or as soon thereafter as practicable, the rate of taxation is set by the Issuer based upon the valuation of
property within the City as of the preceding January 1. Taxes are due October 1, or when billed, whichever comes later, and
become delinquent after January 31 of the following year. A delinquent tax incurs a penalty of six percent (6%) of the amount
of the tax for the first calendar month it is delinquent, plus one percent (1 %) for each additional month or portion of a month
the tax remains unpaid prior to July 1 of the year in which it becomes delinquent. If the tax is not paid by July 1 of the year in
which it becorrres delinquent, the tax incurs a total penalty o~ twelve percent (12%) regardless of the number of months the tax
has been delinquent and incurs an additional penalty of up to twenty percent (20%) if imposed by the Issuer. The delinquent
tax also accrues interest at a rate of one percent (1 °/o) for each month or portion of a month it remains unpaid. The Tax Code
also makes provision for the split payment of taxes, discounts for early payment and the postponement of the delinquency
date of taxes under certain circumstances.

Issuer's Rights in the Event of Tax Delinquencies

Taxes levied by the Issuer are a personal obligation of the owner of the property as of January 1 of the year for which the tax
is imposed. On January 1 of each year, a tax lien attaches to property to secure the payment of all state and local taxes,
penalties, and interest ultimately imposed for the year on the property. The lien exists in favor of the State of Texas and each
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local taxing unit, including the ,~~u~r, having power to tax the property. 7h2 l~su2r's tux lien i~ on a parity with tax liens of
such other taxing units. A tax lien on real property takes priority aver the claim of most creditors and other holders of liens an
the property encumbered by the tax lien, whether or not the debt or lien existed before the attachment of the tax lien;
hnwPVgr; whe#h?r a. li?n of the t_Initee~ States i~ nn a. narity with pr takPg nriprity ~var a tax lien of the ~SSUer is ~letgrmineci by

applicable federal law. Personal property, under certain circumstances, is subject to seizure and sale for the payment of
delinquent taxes, penalty, and interest.

At any time after taxes on property become delinquent, the Issuer may file suit to foreclose the lien securing payment of the
tax, to enforce personal liability for the tax, or both. In filing a suit to foreclose a tax lien on real property, the Issuer must join
ether faxing units that have claims r'~r delinqusnf taxes againsi all or par# ai the same proper~y. ~oileciion or` delinquent faxes
may be adversely affected by the amount of taxes owed to other taxing units, by the effects of market conditions on the
foreclosure sale price, by taxpayer redemption rights (a taxpayer may redeem property within two (2) years after the
j~ui CilaSci ~3 uccCj iSSUcu at ti is ivi cC~OSui c S2ic iS IicCi ii i ii is amity i cCvi uS~ vi uy vai ~ni U(~itCy jai vCc2~ii iyS VJiiiCi i i c3ii iCt ii is

collection of taxpayer debts. Federal bankruptcy law provides that an automatic stay of actions by creditors and other entities,
including governmental units, goes into effect with the filing of any petition in bankruptcy. The automatic stay prevents
governmental units from foreclosing on property and prevents liens for post-petition taxes from attaching to property and
obtaining secured creditor status unless, in either case, an order lifting the stay is obtained from the bankruptcy court. In
many cases, post-petition taxes are paid as an administrative expense of the estate in bankruptcy or by order of the
bankruptcy court.

CITY APPLIC,4TION OF THE PROPERTY T,~C CODE

The City grants an exemption of $7,500 of residence homesteads of persons 65 or older and the disabled. See Appendix A —
Table 9, Page A-4 for a listing of the amounts of these exemptions.

The City does not grant an exemption of 20% of the market value of all residence homesteads, with a minimum exemption of
$5,000.

The City has not adopted the tax freeze for citizens who are disabled or are 65 years of age or older, which became a local
option and subject to local referendum on January 1, 2004.

The City does not tax non-business personal property.

The City has contracted with the McLennan County Tax Assessor/Collector for the collection of the City's property taxes.

McLennan County does not permit split payments or discounts.

The City does grant the Article VIII, Section 1-j ("freeport property")exemption.

?h~ City does net grart ar exemp±i~̂ fir "goods-in-!ransiY'. T"° City "as nit take, , ~ificia! action to ~~ntinGe t~ tax gaols-„ ;
transit for 2012 and beyond.

The City does not participate in a Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone.

The City has no abatement agreements.

The City has not made any loans or grants under Chapter 380, Texas Local Government Code.

6lDDITIONAL TIC COLLECTIONS

Municipal Sales Tax Collections

The City has adopted the provisions of Chapter 34 of the Tax Code, as amended, which provides for the maximum levy of a
one percent sales tax which may be used by the City for any lawful purpose except that the City may not pledge any of the
a11t1(`I~atPfl C?IPC t~Y YP\/P111 IP t(1 SP~I IYe tI'1P ~a~ Il'1P(lt !Jf tI'1P rer!ifiC~t2S 41' ̂ +h8!' I!1~8~?}Pdness. n!et c~!!ectl~Jl1S 0!l ~ fSfM~ ~?~!'
basis are shown in Table 14 of APPENDIX A — Financial Information Relating to the City of Bellmead, Texas.

~piionai Sales i ax

i ne i ax lode provides certain ciiies and counties ine option or assessing a maximum one-half percent ~~i/2°loj safes 'tax on
retail sales of taxable items for the purpose of reducing its ad valorem taxes, if approved by a majority of the voters in a local
option election. If the additional tax is approved and levied, the ad valorem property tax levy must be reduced by the amount
of the estimated sales tax revenues to be generated in the current year. Further the Tax Code provides certain cities the
option of assessing a maximum one-half percent (1/2%) sales tax on retail sales of taxable items for economic development
purposes, if approved by a rrrajority of the voters in a local option election.
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At an election held on March 26, 1980, the registered voters of the City approved an additional one-half percent ('/2%) sales
tax to be collected for economic development purposes in accordance with Chapters 501, 502 and 504, Texas Local
Government Code, as amended (formerly Section 4A of Article 5190.6, Texas Revised Civil Statutes). Levy of this sales tax
began on October 1, 1992.

At an election held on November 6, 2007, registered voters of the City voted to reduce the one-half percent ('/2%) additional
sales tax for economic development to one-quarter percent ('/%) and approved an additional one-quarter percent ('/%)
additional sales tax for street maintenance and improvements. Levy of these additional sales taxes began in July 1, 2010.

At an election held on May 8, 2010, the registered voters of the City voted to dissolve the 4A Economic Development
Corporation and approved an additional one-quarter percent ('/%) sales tax to be collected for community development
purposes in accordance with Chapters 501, 502 and 505, Texas Local Government Code, as amended (formerly Section 4B
of Article 5190.6, Texas Revised Civil Statutes). Levy of this community development sales tax began on October 1, 2010.

The City has not held an election regarding an additional sales tax for reduction of property tax reduction.

The Commissioners Court of McLennan County levies and assesses the remaining'/2% additional sales and use tax for ad
valorem property tax reduction.

TAX RATE LIMITATIONS

Article XI, Section 5 of the Texas Constitution, applicable to cities of more than 5,000 population: $2.50 per $100 assessed
valuation. The Issuer has adopted a Home Rule Charter which does not lir~it the City's maximum tax rate limit beyond the
Constitutional limit of $2.50 per $100 of assessed valuation for all Issuer purposes.

No direct funded debt limitation is imposed on the City under current Texas law. Article XI, Section 5 of the Texas
Constitution is applicable to the City, and limits its maximum ad valorem tax rate to $2.50 per $100 assessed valuation for all
City purposes. As stated above, the City operates under a Home Rule Charter which does not limit the City's maximum tax
rate beyond the Constitutional limit. The Texas Attorney General has adopted an administrative policy that generally prohibits
the issuance of debt by a municipality, such as the City, if its issuance produces debt service requirements exceeding that
which can be paid from $1.50 of the foregoing $2.50 maximum tax rate calculated at 90% collection. The issuance of the
Certificates does not violate this Constitutional provision or the Texas Attorney General's administrative policy.

Before the later of September 30~' or the 60`h day after the date the certified appraisal roll is received by the Issuer, or as soon
thereafter as practicable, the City Council must adopt a tax rate per $100 taxable value for the current year. The tax rate
consists of two components: (1) a rate for funding of maintenance and operation expenditures, and (2) a rate for debt
service.

The Tax Code

The City must annually calculate and publicize its "effective tax rate" and "rollback tax rate". The City Council may not adopt
a tax rate that exceeds the lower of the rollback rate or the effective tax rate until it has held two public hearings on the
proposed increase following notice to the taxpayers and otherwise complied with the Tax Code. If the adopted tax rate
exceeds the rollback tax rate, the qualified voters of the City, by petition, may require that an election be held to determine
whether or not to reduce the tax rate adopted for the current year to the rollback tax rate.

"Effective tax rate" means the rate that will produce last year's total tax levy (adjusted) from this year's total taxable values
(adjusted). "Adjusted" means lost values are not included in the calculation of last year's taxes and new values are not
included in this year's taxable values.

"Rollback tax rate" means the rate that will produce last year's maintenance and operation tax levy (adjusted) from this
year's values (unadjusted) multiplied by 1.08 plus a rate that will produce this year's debt service from this year's values
(adjusted} divided by the anticipated tax collection rate.

Reference is made to the Tax Code for definitive requirements for the levy and collection of ad valorem taxes and the
calculation of the various defined tax rates.

TAX MATTERS

Tax Exemption

The delivery of the Certificates is subject to an opinion of Fulbright & Jaworski LLP of San Antonio, Texas, a member of
Norton Rose Fulbright, Bond Counsel to the City ("Bond Counsel"), to the effect that interest on the Certificates for federal
income tax purposes under existing statutes, regulations, published rulings and court decisions (1) will be excludable from the
gross income, as defined in section 61 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended to the date of initial delivery of the
Certificates (the "Code"), of the owners thereof pursuant to section 103 of the Code and (2) will not be included in computing
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the alternative minimum taxable income of the owners thereof wha are individuals ar, except us h2reinaft2r d~scrib2d,
corporations. The statute, regulations, rulings and court decisions on which such opinion will be based a. e subject to change.
A form of Bond Counsel's opinion appears in APPENDIX C attached hereto.

Interest on ail fax exempt obligations, including the Certificates, owned by a corporation will be included in such corporation's
adjusted current earnings for purposes of calculating the alternative minimum taxable income of such corporation, other than
an S corporation, a qualified mutual fund, a real estate investment trust (REIT), a financial asset securitization investment trust
(FASIT), or a real estate mortgage investment conduit (REMIC). A corporation's alternative minimum taxable income is the
basis on which the alternative minimum tax imposed by section 55 of the Code will be computed.

In rendering the foregoing opinions, Bond Counsel will rely upon representations and certifications of the City pertaining to the
use, expenditure and investment of the proceeds of the Certificates and will assume continuing compliance with the
j~fC~iS~vi1S ^vf lilt viCiiiiaii.^.2~)y fii^c vity SufJSĉC~uciii iv iiic iSSuai~Cc vi file vciiiiCaicS. Tiic vi~iiiBi~C@ CGi~iaiiiS Cv'vciiaiii~ uy
the City with respect to, among other matters, the use of the proceeds of the Certificates and the facilities financed therewith
by persons other than state or local governmental units, the manner in which the proceeds of the Certificates are to be
invested and the periodic calculation and payment to the United States Treasury of arbitrage "profits" from the investment of
the proceeds and the reporting of certain information to the United States Treasury. Failure to comply with any of these
covenants may cause interest on the Certificates to be includable in the grass income of the owner thereof for federal income
taxes from the date of the issuance of the Certificates.

Except as described above, Bond Counsel will express no other opinion with respect to any other federal, state or local tax
consequences under present law, or proposed legislation, resulting from the receipt or accrual of interest on, or the acquisition
or disposition of, the Certificates. Bond Counsel's opinion is not a guarantee of a result, but represents its legal judgment
based upon its review of existing statutes, published rulings and court decisions and the representations and covenants of the
City described above. No ruling has been sought from the Internal Revenue Service (the "Service")with respect to the matters
addressed in the opinion of Bond Counsel, and Bond Counsel's opinion is not binding on the Service. The Service has an
ongoing program of auditing the tax-exempt status of the interest on municipal obligations. If an audit of the Certificates is
commenced, under current procedures the Service is likely to treat the City as the "taxpayer," and the Owners would have no
riytit to participate in the audit process. In responding to or defending an audit of the tax-exempt status of the interest on the
Certificates, the City may have different or conflicting interests from the owners of the Certificates. Public awareness of any
future audit of the Certificates could adversely affect the value and liquidity of the Certificates during the pendency of the audit,
regardless of its ultimate outcome.

Tax Changes

Existing law may change to reduce or eliminate the benefit to registered owners of the exclusion of interest on the Certificates
from gross income for federal income tax purposes. Any proposed legislation or administrative action, whether or not taken,
could also affect the value and marketability of the Certificates. Prospective purchasers of the Certificates should consult with
their own tax advisors with respect to any proposed or future changes in tax law.

Ancillary Tax Consequences

Prospective purchasers of the Certificates should be aware that the ownership of tax-exempt obligations such as the
Certificates may result in collateral federal tax consequences to, among others, financial institutions (see discussion under the
caption "Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligations" herein), property and casualty insurance companies, life insurance companies,
certain foreign corpora#lane doing business in the ~lnited States, S corporations with subchapter C earnings and profits,
owners of an interest in a FASIT, individual recipients of Social Security or Railroad Retirement benefits, individuals otherwise
qualifying for the earned income tax credit and taxpayers who may be deemed to have incurred or continued indebtedness to
purchase or carry, or who have paid or incurred certain expenses allocable to, tax-exempt obligations. Prospective
purchasers should consult their own tax advisors as to the applicability of these consequences to their particular
circumstances.

Tax Accounting Treatment of Discount Certificates

Tea initial ni ihlir nffgrinn nri~a to ha najri fnr rgr-Fain ~grtjfiratac ~~~ I~p loge 4h~~ thA amour± r^,u~~~~o ~n SU~h ~.'°ltlflC~t@S w±
maturity (the "Discount Certificates"). An amount equal to the difference between the initial public offering price of a Discount
Certificate (assuming that a substantial amount of the Discount Certificates of that maturity are sold to the public at such price)
and the amouni payable at maturity constitutes original issue discount to the initial purchaser of such viscount Certificates. A
rnrfipn of SUCK ̂I'lyll?~I !SS;,lP, G{ISCG~u~nt all^r.,aw{,~~@ ±n ±ho hnl~jllly ~^.°fl^,~ ̂ f 8 nlSCC:.~n, ('°~'t.If~Cu±° u'y' ~h° I^I.~uI YU~.^,hu.~i°Y~ ."JI~~ .~3°

tr~eai~ii as irj4~resf for Tederai income lax purposes, excludable firom gross income on the same Terms and conditions as those
for other interest on the Certificates. Such interest is considered to be accrued actuarially in accordance with the constant
interest method over the life of a Discount Certificate, taking into account the semiannual compounding of accrued interest, at
the yield to maturity on such Discount Certificate and generally will be allocated to an initial purchaser in a different amount
from the amount of the payment denominated as interest actually received by the initial purchaser during his taxable year.
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However, such accrued. interest may be required to be taken into account in determining the alternative minimum taxable
income of a corporation, for purposes of calculating a corporation's alternative minimum tax imposed by section 55 of the
Code, and the amount of the branch profits tax applicable to certain foreign corporations doing business in the United States,
even though there will not be a corresponding cash payment. In addition, the accrual of such interest may result in certain
other collateral federal income tax consequences to, among others, financial institutions (see discussion under the caption
"Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligations" herein), property and casualty insurance companies, life insurance companies, S
corporations with subchapter C earnings and profits, owners of an interest in a FASIT, individual recipients of Social Security
or Railroad Retirement benefits, individuals otherwise qualifying for the earned income tax credit, and taxpayers who may be
deemed to have incurred or continued indebtedness to purchase or carry, or who have paid or incurred certain expenses
allocable to, tax-exempt obligations.

In the event of the sale or other taxable disposition of a Discount Certificate prior to maturity, the amount realized by such
owner in excess of the basis of such Discount Certificate in the hands of such owner (adjusted upward by the portion of the
original issue discount allocable to the period for which such Discount Certificate was held) is includable in gross income.

Owners of Discount Certificates should consult with their own tax advisors with respect to the determination for federal income
tax purposes of accrued interest upon disposition of Discount Certificates and with respect to the state and local tax
consequences of owning Discount Certificates. It is possible that, under applicable provisions governing determination of state
and local income taxes, accrued interest on the Discount Certificates may be deemed to be received in the year of accrual
even though there will not be a corresponding cash payment.

Tax Accounting Treatment of Premium Certificates

The initial public offering price to be paid for certain Certificates may be greater than the stated redemption price on such
Certificates at maturity (the "Premium Certificates"). An amount equal to the difference between the initial public offering price
of a Premium Certificate (assuming that a substantial amount of the Premium Certificates of that maturity are sold to the
public at such price) and its stated redemption price at maturity constitutes premium to the initial purchaser of such Premium
Certificates. The basis for federal income tax purposes of a Premium Certificate in the hands of such initial purchaser must be
reduced each year by the amortizable certificate premium, although no federal income tax deduction is allowed as a result of
such reduction in basis for amortizable certificate premium with respect to the Premium Certificates. Such reduction in basis
will increase the amount of any gain (or decrease the amount of any loss) to be recognized for federal income tax purposes
upon a sale or other taxable disposition of a Premium Certificate. The amount of premium which is amortizable each year by
an initial purchaser is determined by using such purchaser's yield to maturity.

Purchasers of the Premium Certificates should consult with their own tax advisors with respect to the determination of
amortizable certificate premium on Premium Certificates for federal income tax purposes and with respect to the state and
local tax consequences of owning and disposing of Premium Certificates.

Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligations

Section 265 of the Code provides, in general, that interest expense to acquire or carry tax-exempt obligations is not deductible
from the gross income of the owner of such obligations. In addition, section 265 of the Code generally disallows 100% of any
deduction for interest expense which is incurred by "financial institutions" described in such section and is allocable, as
computed in such section, to tax-exempt interest on obligations acquired after August 7, 1986. Section 265(b) of the Code
provides an exception to this. interest disallowance rule for financial institutions, stating that such disallowance does not apply
to interest expense allocable to tax-exempt obligations (other than private activity bonds that are not qualified 501(c)(3)
bonds) which are properly designated by an issuer as "qualified tax-exempt obligations." An issuer may designate obligations
as "qualified tax-exempt obligations" only if the amount of the issue of which they are a part, when added to the amount of all
other tax-exempt obligations (other than private activity bonds that are not qualified 501(c)(3) obligations and other than
certain current refunding bonds) issued or reasonably anticipated to be issued by the issuer during the same calendar year,
does not exceed $10,000,000.

The City has designated the Certificates as "qualified tax-exempt obligations" and has certified its expectation that the above-
described $10,000,000 ceiling will not be exceeded. Accordingly, it is anticipated that financial institutions which purchase the
Certificates will not be subject to the 100°/a disallowance of interest expense allocable to interest on the Certificates under
section 265(b) of the Code. However, the deduction for interest expense incurred by a financial institution which is allocable
to the interest on the Certificates will be reduced by 20% pursuant to section 291 of the Code.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION

The City is exempt from certain of the continuing disclosure obligations set forth in the United States Securities and Exchange
Commission Rule 15c2-12, as amended (the "Rule") pursuant to the exemption under subsection (d)(2), which applies to
certain small issuers such as the City who are not an "obligated person" (as defined in the Rule) responsible for the
repayment of municipal securities outstanding (including the Certificates) in an aggregate principal amount exceeding
$10,000,000. This exemption allows the Issuer to not file annual updates to all financial and operating data that is included in
this Official Statement.
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In the ordinance, the City has made the following agreement far the benefit of the R~gi~t~r~d Own~r~ of the Certificates. The
City is required to ob~2rve the agreement far so long as it remains obligated to advance funds to pay the Certificates. Under
the agreement, the City will be obligated to timely file with the MSRB updated financial information and operating data of the
City that is included in this Official Sta#ement #h~# is custpm~rily nrPpareei by th? City and that js ni ihlicly av~llahlP, as v~rPII as
no4ice of speciTied events. The information provided to the MSRB will be available to the public free of charge via the E~I~A
system through an Internet website accessible at www.emma.msrb.org.

Annual Reports

1~~t1er Texas law, including, i~ui iiai iimiieci io C'r~apter° 103, as amended, Texas Government Gade, the Cify must keep its
fiscal records in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, must have its financial accounts and records
audited by a certified public accountant and must maintain each audit report within 180 days after the close of the City's fiscal
your Thy ~`~ty'~ fiS~Gi i cC^vi ~S afiu uu i'c~iv~S 8i c avai~auic ;Oi j~uv~iC ii ~Sj~c~iiGi i uui ii iy ili2 icyu~ai vuSii less i ivUi S, ai iu ii is

City is required to provide a copy of the City's audit reports to any certificate holder or other member of the public within a
reasonable time of request to the City Clerk, 3015 Beiimead Drive, Bellmead, Texas 76705, and upon payment of charges
prescribed by the Texas General Services Commission.

l"he City will file certain updated financial information and operating data with the MSRB. The information to be updated
includes all quantitative financial information and operating data with respect to the City of the general type included in
APPENDIX D to this Official Statement. The City will update and provide this information within six months after the end of
each fiscal year ending in and after 2014.

The financial information and operating data to be provided may be set forth in full in one or more documents or may be
included by specific reference to any document available to the public on the MSRB's EMMA Internet Web site or filed with
the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"), as permitted by SEC Rule 15c2-12 (the "Rule"). The
updated information will include audited financial statements, if the City commissions an audit and it is completed by the
required time. If audited financial statements are not available by the required time, the City will provide unaudited financial
statements by the required time and audited financial statements when and if such audited financial statements become
available.

Any such financial statements will be prepared in accordance with the accounting principles described in APPENDIX D or
such other accounting principles as the City may be required to employ from time to time pursuant to State law or regulation.
The City's current fiscal year end is September 30. Accordingly, it must provide updated information by March 31 in each
year, unless the City changes its fiscal year. If the City changes its fiscal year, it will file notice of the change with the MSRB
through EMMA.

Notices of Certain Events

The City will file with the MSRB notice of any of the following events with respect to the Certificates in a timely manner (and
net ~nrg thar. '!0 ~ausiness days after ~~~urrer~e of ±he given+,;: ~'!; ~rin~ipal and interest paymert delirquan~ies; ~2; ncr-
payment related defaults, if material; (3) unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; (4)
unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; (5) substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or
their failure to perForm; (6) adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final
determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS dorm 5701-TEB), or other material notices or determinations with
respect to the tax status of the Certificates, or other material events affecting the tax status of the Certificates; (7)
modifications to rights of holders of the Certificates, if material; (f3) Certificate calls, if material, and tender offers; {9)
defeasances; (10) release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Certificates, if material; (11) rating
changes; (12) bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, or similar event of the City, which shall occur as described below; (13) the
consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the City or the sale of all or substantially all of its assets,
other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into of a definitive agreement to undertake such an action or the
termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material; and (14)
appointment of a successor or additional paying agenUregistrar or the change of name of a paying agenbregistrar, if material.
Neither the Certificates nor the Ordinance make any provision for debt service reserves, credit enhancement, or liquidity
enhancement. in addition, the City will provide timely notice of any failure by the City to provide information, data, or financial
5tatgmantg in ar_.rnrrianra ~nrith itc anrggmgnt rieSCf!h8~ ?~JOV@ !ender ~;QI?!?! gal Rg~,nrFg", '['~A rlty 'A!!II r^,:'~Vld° °8Ch .̂. ±̂!C?

described in this paragraph to the MSRB.

For these purposes, any event described in clause (~i2j or the immeciiateiy preceding paragraph is considered to occur when
anti of thg fn~~n~fijr~ n~ci ~r• tha ap~nintrpent of ~ rArAj vicar fj~r~l aeon+ nr ~jmjlar n~~or fnr 4hn (';:y ~n ? ~."nC°°u~ny u~~°C rho

i;i~iieu Siai~s Bankru~4cy ~ocie yr in any other proceeding under siaie or fiederal law in which a court or governmental
authority has assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the City, or if such jurisdiction has been
assumed by leaving the existing governing body and o~ciais or officers in possession but subject to the supervision and
orders of a court or governmental authority, or the entry of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement, or
liquidation by a court or governmental authority having supervision or jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or
business of the City.
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Availability of Information

Effective July 1, 2009 (the "EMMA Effective Date"), the SEC implemented amendments to Rule 15c2-12 which approved the
establishment by the MSRB of EMMA, which is now the sole successor to the national municipal securities information
repositories with respect to filings made in connection with undertakings made under Rule 15c2-12 after the EMMA Effective
Date. Commencing with the EMMA Effective Date, all information and documentation filing required to be made by the City in
accordance with its undertaking made for the Certificates. will be made with the MSRB in electronic format in accordance with
MSRB guidelines. Access to such filings will be provided, without charge to the general public, by the MSRB.

Limitations and Amendments

The City has agreed to update information and to provide notices of material events only as described above. The City has
not agreed to provide other information that may be relevant or material to a complete presentation of its financial results of
operations, condition, or prospects or agreed to update any information that is provided, except as described above. The City
makes no representation or warranty concerning such information or concerning its usefulness to a decision to invest in or sell
Certificates at any future date. The City disclaims any contractual or tort liability for damages resulting in whole or in part from
any breach of its continuing disclosure agreement or from any statement made pursuant to its agreement, although holders or
registered owners of Certificates may seek a writ of mandamus to compel the City to comply with its agreement.

The City may amend its continuing disclosure agreement from time to time to adapt to changed circumstances that arise from
a change in legal requirements, a change in law, or a change in the identity, nature, status, or type of operations of the City, if
(i) the agreement, as amended, would have permitted an underwriter to purchase or sell Certificates in the offering described
herein in compliance with the Rule, taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule to the date of such
amendment, as well as such changed circumstances, and (ii) either (a) the holders of a majority in aggregate principal
amount of the outstanding Certificates consent to the amendment or (b) any person unaffiliated with the City (such as
nationally recognized bond counsel) determines that the amendment will not materially impair the interests of the holders and
Beneficial Owners of the Certificates. The City may also amend or repeal the provisions of this continuing disclosure
agreement if the SEC amends or repeals the applicable provisions of 'the Rule or a court of final jurisdiction enters judgment
that such provisions of the Rule are invalid, but only if and to the extent that the provisions of this sentence would not prevent
an underwriter from lawfully purchasing or selling Certificates in the primary offering of the Certificates. If the City so amends
the agreement, it has agreed to include with the next financial information and operating data provided in accordance with its
agreement described above under "Annual Reports" an explanation, in narrative form, of the reasons for the amendment and
of the impact of any change in the type of financial information and operating data so provided. The City may also amend or
repeal the provisions of this continuing disclosure agreement if the SEC amends or repeals the applicable provision of the rule
or a court of final jurisdiction enters judgment that such provisions of the rule are invalid, but only if and to the extent that the
provisions of this sentence would not prevent a purchaser from lawfully purchasing or selling Certificates, respectively, in the
primary offering of the Certificates.

Compliance with Prior Undertakings

The City has not previously made a continuing disclosure agreement in accordance with SEC Rule 15c2-12.

LEGAL MATTERS

Legal Opinions and No-Litigation Certificate

The Issuer will furnish the Purchaser with a complete transcript of proceedings incident to the authorization and issuance of
the Certificates, including the unqualified approving legal opinion of the Attorney General of the State of Texas to the effect
that the Initial Certificate is a valid and legally binding obligation of the Issuer, and based upon examination of such transcript
of proceedings, the approval of certain legal matters by Bond Counsel, to the effect that the Certificates, issued in
compliance with the provisions of the Ordinance, are valid and legally binding obligations of the Issuer and, subject to the
qualifications set forth herein under "TAX MATTERS", the interest on the Certificates is exempt from federal income taxation
under existing statutes, published rulings, regulations, and court decisions. Though it represents the Financial Advisor from
time to time in matters unrelated to the issuance of the Certificates, Band Counsel was engaged by, and only represents, the
City in connection with the issuance of the Certificates. In its capacity as Bond Counsel, Fulbright & Jaworski LLP of San
Antonio, Texas a member of Norton Rose Fulbright has reviewed (except for numerical, statistical or technical data) the
information under the captions "THE CERTIFICATES" (except under the subcaptions "Use of Certificate Proceeds",
"Sources and Uses" "Payment Record", and "Default and Remedies", as to which no opinion is expressed),
"REGISTRATION, TRANSFER AND EXCHANGE", "TAX MATTERS", "CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION"
(except under the subheading "Compliance with Prior Undertakings" as to which no opinion is expressed), "LEGAL
MATTERS—Legal Investments and Eligibility to Secure Public Funds in Texas", and "OTHER PERTINENT
INFORMATION—Registration and Qualification of Certificates for Sale" in the Official Statement and such firm is of the
opinion that the information relating to the Certificates and the Ordinance contained under such captions is a fair and
accurate summary of the information purported to be shown and that the information and descriptions contained under such
captions relating to the provisions of applicable staEe and federal laws are correct as to matters of law. The customary
closing papers, including a certificate to the effect that no litigation of any nature has been filed or is then pending to restrain
the issuance and delivery of the Certificates or which would affect the provision made for their payment or security, or in any

19



m?nner ~~esfionin~ the ~ialidity of the Certificates ~nrill also ~e furnished. The legal fees to be paid fond Counsel for
services rendered in connection with the issuance of Certificates are contingent on the sale and initial delivery of the
Certificates. The legal opinion of Bond Counsel will accompany the Certificates deposited with DTC or will be printed on the
definitive Certificates in the event of the discontinuance of the Book-Entry-Only Svstem.

The various legal opinions to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the Certificates express the professional judgment
of the attorneys rendering fhe opinions as 4o the legal issues explicitly addressed Therein. in rendering a legal opinion, the
attorney does not become an insurer or guarantor of the expression of professional judgment, of the transaction opined upon,
or of the future performance of the parties to the transaction, nor does the rendering of an opinion guarantee the outcome of
any legal dispute that may arisz out ~f the transaction.

Lit9gation

In the opinion of City officials, there is no litigation or other proceeding pending against or, to their knowledge, threatened
against the Issuer in any court, agency, or administrative body (either state or federal) wherein an adverse decision would
materially adversely affect the financial condition of the Issuer.

Legal lrsves#o~aents and Eli~3laility to S~c~;re Public Faar~d~ in ~'exa~

Section 1201.041 of the Public Securities Procedures Act (Chapter 1201, Texas Government Code) and Section 271.051, as
amended, Texas Local Government Code, each, provide that the Certificates are negotiable instruments governed by
vi~aaier 8, as am~nc~ed, Texas Business and i,~r7~merce C~d~, and ~r~ legal and authorized investments r'or insurance
companies, fiduciaries, and trustees, and for the sinking funds of municipalities or other political subdivisions or public
agencies of the State of i exas. For poiifical subdivisions in i exas which have adopted investment policies and guidelines in
accordance with the Public Funds Investment Act, Chapter 2256, as amended, Texas Government Code, the Certificates
must have to be assigned a rating of at least "A" or its equivalent as to investment quality by a national rating agency before
such obligations are eligible investments for sinking funds and other public funds. (See "OTHER PERTINENT
INFORMATION — Rating" herein.) In addition, various provisions of the Texas Finance Code provide that, subject to a
prudent investor standard, the Certificates are legal investments for state banks, savings banks, trust companies with at least
$1 million of capital, and savings and loan associations.

The City has made no investigation of other laws, rules, regulations or investment criteria which might apply to such
institutions or entities or which might limit the suitability of the Certificates for any of the foregoing purposes or limit the
authority of such institutions or entities to purchase or invest in the Certificates for such purposes. The City has made no
review of laws in other states to determine whether the Certificates are legal investments for various institutions in those
states.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENT

The stat?m?nts ront~inPrl in this nffi~iai Statement, anti in anv pthar jnfnrm~tjnn ~re~~~r~e~ n~ the C'.itu that ara not n~rg~v> >e .. ..... .... .. ..... r ~

historical, are forward-looking statements, including statements regarding the City's expectations, hopes, intentions, or
strategies regarding the future. Readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking etatomonts. nll forward looking
statements included in this Official Statement are based on information available to the City on the date hereof, and the City
assumes no obligation to update any such forward-looking statements. It is important to note that the City's actual results
could differ materially from those in such forward-looking statements.

The forward-looking statements herein are necessarily based on various assumptions and estimates and are inherently
subject to various risks and uncertainties, including risks and uncertainties relating to the possible invalidity of the underlying
assumptions and estimates and possible changes or developments in social, economic, business, industry, market, legal, and
regulatory circumstances and conditions and actions taken or omitted to be taken by third parties, including customers,
suppliers, business partners and competitors, and legislative, judicial and other governmental authorities and officials.
Assumptions related to the foregoing involve judgments with respect to, among other things, future economic, competitive,
and market conditions and future business decisions, all of which are difficult or impossible to predict accurately and many of
which are beyond the control of the City. Any of such assumptions could be inaccurate and, therefore, there can be no
assurance that the forward-looking statements included in #his Ofiici~l S#a#emen# will nr~v? t~ b? acc~ir~tP.

OTHER PERTINENT INFORMATION

Registration and Qualificatign gf CPrtifir_.atPS fnr SaIP

The sale of the Certificates has not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, in reliance upon
exemptions provided in such Act; the Certificates have not been qualified under the Securities Act of Texas in reliance upon
exemptions contained therein; nor have the Certificates been qualified under the securities acts of any other jurisdiction. The
Issuer assumes no responsibility for qualification of the Certificates under the securities laws of any jurisdiction in which they
may be sold, assigned, pledged, hypothecated or otherwise transferred. This disclaimer of responsibility for qualification for
sale or other disposition of the Certificates shall not be construed as an interpretation of any kind with regard to the availability
of any exemption from securities registration or qualification provisions.
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Rating

Standard & Poor's Ratings Services, a Standard & Poor's Financial Services LLC business ("S&P") has assigned a rating of
"AA-" to the Certificates. An explanation of the significance of such a rating may be obtained from S&P. The rating of the
Certificates by S&P reflects only the view of S&P at the time the rating is given, and the Issuer makes no representations as
to the appropriateness of the rating. There is no assurance that the rating will continue for any given period of time, or that
the rating will nod be revised downward or withdrawn entirely by S&P, if, in the judgment of S&P, circumstances so warrant.
Any such downward revision or withdrawal of the rating may have an adverse effect on the market price of the Certificates.

Authenticity of Financial Information

The financial data and other information contained herein have been obtained from the Issuer's records, audited financial
statements and other sources which are believed to be reliable. RII of the summaries of the statutes, documents and
Ordinances contained in this Official Statement are made subject to all of the provisions of such statutes, documents and
Ordinances. These summaries do not purport to be complete statements of such provisions and reference is made to such
documents for further information. All information contained in this Official Statement is subject, in ai4 respects, to the
complete body of information contained in the original sources thereof and no guaranty, warranty or other representation is
made concerning the accuracy or completeness of the information herein. In particular, no opinion or representation is
rendered as to whether any projection will approximate actual results, and ail opinions, estimates and assumptions, whether
or not expressly identified as such, should not be considered statements of fact.

Financial Advisor

Southwest Securities, Inc. is employed as a Financial Advisor to the Issuer in connection with the issuance of the
Certificates. In this capacity, the Financial Advisor has compiled certain data relating to the Certificates and has drafted this
Official Statement. The Financial Advisor has not independently verified any of the data contained herein or conducted a
detailed investigation of the affairs of the Issuer to determine the accuracy or completeness of this Official Statement.
Because of its limited participation, the Financial Advisor assumes no responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of any
of the information contained herein. The fees for the Financial Advisor are contingent upon the issuance, sale and initial
delivery of the Certificates.

The Financial Advisor has provided the following sentence for inclusion in this Official Statement. The Financial Advisor has
reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with its responsibilities to the City and, as applicable, to
investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but the Financial
Advisor does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information.

Winning Bidder

After requesting- competitive bids for the Certificates, the City accepted the bid of Raymond James &Associates, Inc. (the
"Purchaser" or the "Initial Purchase") to purchase the Certificates at the interest rates shown on the page ii of this Official
Statement at a price of par, plus an original reoffering premium of $148,975.00, plus accrued interest on the Certificates from
their Dated Date to their date of initial delivery. The Purchaser's compensation is $60,579.20. The City can give no
assurance that any trading market will be developed for the City after their sale by the City to the Purchaser. The City has no
control over the price at which the Certificates are subsequently sold and the initial yield at which the Certificates will be priced
and reoffered will be established by and will be the responsibility of the Purchaser.

Certification of the Official Statement

At the time of payment for and delivery of the Initial Certificates, the Purchaser will be furnished a certificate, executed by
proper officials of the City, acting in their official capacities, to the effect that to the best of their knowledge and belief: (a) the
descriptions and statements of or pertaining to the City contained in its Official Statement, and any addenda, supplement or
amendment thereto, for the Certificates, on the date of such Official Statement, on the date of sale of said Certificates and the
acceptance of the best bid therefor, and on the date of the delivery, were and are true and correct in all material respects; (b)
insofar as the City and. its affairs, including its financial affairs, are concerned, such Official Statement did not and does not
contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to
make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; (c) insofar as the
descriptions and statements including financial data, of or pertaining to entities, other than the City, anc4 their activities
contained in such Official Statement are concerned, such statements and data have been obtained from sources which the
City believes to be reliable and the City has no reason to believe that they are untrue in any material respect; and (d) there
has been no material adverse change in the financial condition of the City, since September 30, 2013, the date of the last
financial statements of the City appearing in the Official Statement.
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No person has been authorized to give any information or to make any representations other than those contained in this
Official S#a#ement; and if given or made, s~~ch other information or re;~resentatic~r~G miigt npt Fig ra~igri itnpn ag havinn haa~
authorized by fhe City. This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or solicitation of an offer to buy in any state
in which such offer or solicitation is not authorized or in which the person making such offer or solicitation is not qualified to do
so or to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer of solicitation.

The information set forth herein has been obtained from the City's records, audited financial statements and other sources
whici~ the City considers io be reliaole. There i~ no guaranree ihaf any of the assumptions or estima#es con4ained herein will
ever be realized. Ail of the summaries of the statutes, documents and the Ordinance contained in this Official Statement are
made subject to all of the provisions of such statutes, documents, and the Ordinance. These summaries do not purport to be
~Oi i ijrictc Siatct'i ici Ii8 iF SuCi i j~fvJiSivi iS ai i~ i cf8fĉi iCc i3 i i iauc iv Sufi i Sup i u i jai iZcu t'~vCiii i i2i ~i~ iGi i ui'ti i2i ii iiGi ~ i iaii0i i.

Reference is made to official documents in all respects.

The Ordinance authorizing the issuance of the Certificates approves the form and content of this Official Statement and any
addenda, supplement or amendment thereto and authorizes its further use in the r~-offering of the Certificates by the
°urchaser.

This Official Statement was approved by the Council for distribution in accordance with the provisions of the SEC's rule
codified at 17 C.F.R. Section 240.15c2-12, as amended.

A~EST:

/s/ Cynthia Ward
City Clerk

City of Bellmead, Texas
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APPENDIX A

FINANCIAL INFORMATION RELATING TO THE CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS

(This appendix contains quantitative financial information and operating data with respect to the Issuer. The information is only a
partial representation and does not purport to be complete. For further and more complete information, reference should be made to

the original documents, which can be obtained from various sources, as noted.)





FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE ISSUER

ASSESSED VALUATION TABLE 1

2013 Actual Market Value of Taxable Property (100% of Actual) $ 431,981,516

Less Exemptions:
Local, Optional Over-65 and/or Disabled Homestead Exemptions $ 4,877,816
Disabled and Deceased Veterans' Exemptions 4,674,784

Productivity Value Loss 2,024,650

Freeport Exemption

10% Cap Loss 6,678,105

Pollution Control 48,342

Charitable /Other 340,140

Partially Exempt Property 62,688

Totally Exempt Property 57,136,110 75,842,635

2013 Net Taxable Assessed Valuation ~a~ $ 356,138,881 ~b>

~a~ See 'AD VALOREM TAX PROCEDURES" and "CITY APPLICATION OF THE PROPERTY TAX CODE "in the Official Statement
for a description of the Issuer's taxation procedures.

~b~ The Cify received a Certified 2014 Net Taxable Assessed Valuation of $365,397,502, which includes $41,440 under ARB Review.
Source: McLennan County Appraisal District

GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDED DEBT TABLE 2

General Obligation Debt Principal Outstanding: (As of August 1, 2014)
General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2012
Tax Notes, Series 2012

Current Issues General Obligation Debt Principal
Combination Tax and Limited Pledge Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2014 (the "Certificates")

Total Gross General Obligation Debt Principal Outstanding (Following the Issuance of the Certificates)

Less: Self-Supporting General Obligation Debt Principal:

General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2012 (approx. 64.32% UF)

Combination Tax and Limited Pledge Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2014 (the "Certificates") (approx.53.47% UF)

Total Self-Supporting General Obligation Debt Principal Outstanding:

Total Net General Obligation Debt Principal Outstanding (Following the Issuance of the Certificates)

General Obligation Interest and Sinking Fund Balance as of May 31, 2014 (Unaudited)

Ratio of Gross General Obligation Debt Principal to 2013 Net Taxable Assessed Valuation
Ratio of Net General Obligation Debt Principal to 2013Net Taxable Assessed Valuation
2013 Net Taxable Assessed Valuation

OTHER OBLIGATIONS

Population: 1990 - 8,336; 2000 - 9,214; 2010 - 9,901; Current (Estimate) -
Per Capita 2013 Net Taxable Assessed Valuation -
Per Capita Gross General Obligation Debt Principal -
Per Capita Net General Obligation Debt Principal -

The City has no other debt obligations outstanding.

A-1
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GENEtl~AL OBLIGATION DEB7 SERVICE REQUIREMEPlTS 7ABL~ 4

('.~irrgntly (`pml,3inorl I ogg Ng4

Fiscal Year Outstanding The Certificates 'total Self-Supporting To4ai
Sept 30 Debt Service Principal Interest ~a~ Total Debt Service debt Service Debt Service
2014 $ 490,886.25 $ - $ - $ - $ 490,886.25 $ 190,740.00 $ 300,146.25
2015 219,755.50 140,000.00 261,059.90 401,059.90 620,815.40 313,147.04 307,668.36
2016 220,951.75 180,000.00 236,843.76 416,843.76 637,795.51 333,966.50 303,829.01
2017 227,013.75 180,000.00 232,793.76 412,793.76 639,807.51 335,203.75 304,603.76
2018 - 410,000.00 226,893.76 636,893.76 636,893.76 336,237.50 300,656.26
2019 - 385,000.00 218,943.76 603,943.76 603,943.76 336,987.50 266,956.26
2020 - 395,000.00 211,143.76 606,143.76 606,143.76 337,637.50 268,506.26
2021 40ti,000.00 2C' ~3?.5? ~C7,6'?.5^ X07,5°?.51 33' °.05.25 26~ ?01.25
2022 - 415,000.00 193,412.51 608,412.51 608,412.51 337,787.50 270,625.01
2023 - 425,000.00 183,696.88 608,696.88 608,696.88 342,350.00 266,346.88
2024 - 435,000.00 173,212.50 608,212.50 608,212.50 341,437.50 266,775.00
2025 - 440,000.00 161,725.00 601,725.00 601,725.00 335,006.25 266,718.75
2026 - 460,000.00 149,350.00 609,350.00 609,350.00 338,131.25 271,2'I8.75
2027 - 470,000.00 135,975.00 605,975.00 &05,975.00 335,725.00 270,250.00
2028 - 485,000.00 121,650.00 506,650.00 506,650.00 337,775.00 2&8,875.00
2029 - 500,000.00 106,562.50 606,562.50 606,562.50 339,350.00 267,212.50
2030 - 520,000.00 90,300.00 610,300.00 610,300.00 340,262.50 270,037.50
?031 - 530,000.00 ?2,575.OQ 602,575.00 602,575.00 335,387.5Q 267,187.50
2032 - 555,00.00 53,587.50 608,587.50 608,587.50 339,800.00 268,787.50
2033 - 575,000.00 33,093.75 608,093.75 608,093.75 338,375.00 269,718.?5

2034 - 595,000.00 11,156.25 606,156.25 606,156.25 336,187.50 269,968.75

$ 1,158,607.25 $ 8,500,000.00 $ 3,076,613.10 $ 11,576,613.10 $ 12,735,220.35 $ 6,919,401.04 $ 5,545,850.56

Interest calculated at an average interest rate of 3.118136%

TAX ADEQUACY (Includes Self-5upportinq Debt1 TA~L~ 5A

2013 Net Taxable Assessed Valuation $ 356,138,881
Maximum Annual Debt Service Requirements (Fiscal Year Ending 9-30-17) $ 639,808
indicated Maximum Interest and Sinking Fund Tax Rate at 96% Collections $ 0.187137

Note: Above computation is exclusive of investment earnings, delinquent tax collections and penalties and
interest on delinquent tax collections.

TAX ADEQUACY Excludes Self-Supporting Debt) TABLE 5B

2013 Nei Taxable Assessed Valuation $ 356,138,881
iUlaximum Annual Debt Service Requirements (Fiscal Year Ending 9-30-15) $ 307,868
Indicated Maximum Interest and Sinking Fund Tax Rate at 96% Collections $ 0.089990

Note: Above computation is exclusive of investment earnings, delinquent tax collections and penalties and
interest on delinquent tax collections.

TAXABLE ASSESSED VALUATION FOR TAX YEARS 2004-2013 TABLE 6

Net Taxable Change from Previous Year
Year Assessed Valuation Amount ($~ Percent

2004-05 $ 238,236,847 13,922,107 6.21%

2005-06 247,774,534 9,537,687 4.00%

2006-07 276,14.i,72o 28,3"09,151 i 1.45'/0

2007-08 275,677;485 (466;2401 (Q.17°/,l

2005-05 291,103,350 15,425,595 5.60%

2009-10 327,880,106 36, 776, 726 12.63%

2010-11 328,311,013 430,907 0.13%

2011-12 330,975,338 2,664,325 0.81%

2012-13 337,473,605 6,498,267 1.96%

20'13-'14 356,138,889 18,665,2'76 5.53%

Note: Assessed Valuations may change during the year due to various supplements and protests. Valuations in other tables of this Official Statement
may not match those shown in this table.

Sources: Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts and Mclennan County Appraisal nistrict and the lsse!er.
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INTEREST AND SINKING FUND MANAGEMENT INDEX TABLE 7

Interest and Sinking Fund Balance, Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2013 $ 155,626

2013-2014 Interest and Sinking (I&S) Fund Tax Levy of $0.084422 at 96% Collections Produces ~a~ 288,633

Total Available for Debt Service $ 444,259

Less: Net General Obligation Debt Service Requirements, Fiscal Year Ending 9-30-14 300,146

Estimated Surplus at Fiscal Year Ending 9-30-14 $ 144,113 ~a~

~a~ Does not include delinquent tax collections, penalties and interest on delinquent tax collections or
Investment earnings.

GENERAL OBLIGATION PRINCIPAL REPAYMENT SCHEDULE TABLE 8
(Includes the Certificates)

Principal Repayment Schedule Bonds Percent of
Fiscal Year Outstanding The Unpaid at Principal
Ending 9/30 Obligations ~a~ Certificates Total End of Year Retired (%)

2014 $ - $ - $ - $ 9,150,000 0.00%
2015 210,000 140,000 350,000 8,800,000 3.83%
2016 215,000 180,000 395,000 8,405,000 8.14%
2017 225,000 180,000 405,000 8,000,000 12.57%
2018 - 410,000 410,000 7,590,000 17.05%
2019 - 385,000 385,000 7,205,000 21.26%
2020 - 395,000 395,000 6,810,000 25.57%
2021 - 405,000 405,000 6,405,000 30.00%
2022 - 415,000 415,000 5,990,000 34.54%
2023 - 425,000 425,000 5,565,000 39.18%
2024 - 435,000 435,000 5,130,000 43.93%
2025 - 440,000 440,000 4,690,000 48.74%
2026 - 460,000 460,000 4,230,000 53.77%
2027 - 470,000 470,000 3,760,000 58.91%
2028 - 485,000 485,000 3,275,000 64.21
2029 - 500,000 500,000 2,775,000 69.67%
2030 - 520,000 520,000 2,255,000 75.36%
2031 - 530,000 530,000 1,725,000 81.15%
2032 - 555,000 555,000 1,170,000 87.21°/a
2033 - 575,000 575,000 595,000 93.50%
2034 - 595,000 595,000 - 100.00%

$ 650,000 $ 8,500,000 $ 9,150,000

~a~ As of August 1, 2014. Excludes 3-1-14 principal payments.
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PRINCIPAL TAXPAYERS 2013-2014 TABLE 10

2013 Net % of Total 2013
Taxable Net Taxable
Assessed Assessed

Name Tvpe of Business Valuation Valuation
Wal-Mart Real Estate Business Trust Real Estate $ 11,419,220 3.21%
Wal-Mart Stores East LP Retail Sales 8,380,780 2.35%
Sams Club East Inc. Retail Sales 7,934,090 2.23%
Home Depot USA Inc. Retail Home Improvement Sales 7,262,680 2.04%
Prem Sai Inc. Hotel/Motel 7,168,155 2.01%
Bellmead McLennan NH Ltd. Nursing Home 6,900,913 1.94%
Butt H. E. Grocery Co. Retail Grocery Sales 5,926,338 1.66%
Dune SC Sub it LLC Real Estate Development 4,900,000 1.38%
Home Depot Retail Home Improvement Sales 4,313,560 1.21%
American Bank NA Banking Services 4,013,390 1.13%

TOYaI $ 68.219.126 19.16% ~a>
Based on a 2013 Freeze Adjusted Taxable Assessed Valuation of $ 356,138,881

'°' As shown in the table above, the top ten taxpayers in the City account for in excess of 19% of the City's tax base. Adverse
developments in economic conditions, especially in a particular industry in which any one of these large taxpayers participates, could
adversely impact these businesses and, consequently, the tax values in the City, resulting in less local tax revenue. If any major
taxpayer, or a combination of top taxpayers, were to default in the payment of taxes, the ability of the City to make timely payment of
debt service on the Certificates may be dependent on its ability to enforce and liquidate its tax lien, which is a time consuming
process that may only occur annually. See "THE CERTIFfCATES - Default and Remedies" and `AD VALOREM TAX
PROCEDURES -Issuer's. Rights in the Event of Tax Delinquencies" in this Official Statement.

Source: Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts

PROPERTY TAX RATES AND COLLECTIONS ~a~ TABLE 11

Tax Net Taxable Tax Adjusted %Collections Year
Year Assessed Valuation Rate Tax Levv Current Total Ended

2004-05 $ 238,236,847 $ 0.305100 $ 725,517 96.25% 99.33% 9-30-05
2005-06 247,774,534 0.296400 769,885 90.85% 93.80% 9-30-06

2006-07 276,143,725 0.278800 768,214 96.19% 99.47% 9-30-07

2007-08 275,677,485 0.267500 778,490 96.54% 100.10% 9-30-08
2008-09 291,103,380 0.253300 809,763 93.69% 96.66% 9-30-09

2009-10 327,880,106 0.247000 806,616 96.02% 98.10% 9-30-10

2010-11 328,311,013 0.265600 867,934 95.56% 97.69% 9-30-11

2011-12 330,975,338 0.274500 903,305 96.65% 99.62% 9-30-12

2012-13 337,473,605 0.298600 1,006,643 97.29% 99.42% 9-30-13
2013-14 356,138,881 0.298608 1,060,378 ~b~ 94.69% ~b~ 96.08% ~b~ 9-30-14

~a~ See 'AD VALOREM TAX PROCEDURES -Levy and Collection of Taxes" in the body of the Official Statement for a complete discussion
of the City's provisions.

~b~ Information is as of May 37, 2014.
Note: Assessed Valuations may change during the year due to various supplements and protests. Valuations in other tables of this Official

Statement may not match those shown in this table.
Source: Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts, McLennan County Appraisal District, Texas Municipal Report published by the Municipal

Advisory Council of Texas and the Issuer's Audited Financial Statements and Supplemental Information.

TAX RATE DISTRIBUTION TABLE 12

2013-2014 2012-2013 2011-2012 2010-2011 2009-2010 2008-2009
General Fund $0.214186 $0.211100 $0.211100 $0.196900 $0.182100 $0.188700
& S Fund 0.084422 0.087508 0.063400 0.068600 0.064900 0.064600
TOTAL $0.298608 $0.298608 $0.274500 $0.265500 $0.247000 $0.253300

Source: The Issuer
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FUND BALANCES TABLE 13

General Operating Fund
General Obligation Debt Service Fund
Water and Sewer Fund

Special Revenue Funds (Hotel Occupancy &Court)

Street Improvements Fund (Sales Tax)

As of
May 31, 2014
$ 1,921,417

149,248
5,048,280

1,149,862

1,659,928

Total $ 9,928.735

MUNICIPAL ~AL~S TAX TAB~~ 14

At an election held on March 26, 1980, the registered voters of the City approved an additional one-half percent ('/%) sales tax to be
collected for economic development purposes in accordance with Chapters 501, 502 and 504, Texas Local Government Code, as
amended (formerly Section 4A of Article 5190.6; Texas Revised Civil Statutesl. Lew of this sales tax began on October 1; 1992.

At an election held on November 6, 2007, registered voters of the City voted to reduce the one-half percent ('/%) additional sales tax
for economic development to one-quarter percent (%,%) and approved an additional one-quarter percent (%a%) additional sales tax for
street maintenance and improvements. Levy of these additional sales taxes did not begin until July 1, 2010.

At an election held on May 8, 2010, the registered voters of the City voted to dissolve the 4A Economic Development Corporation and
approved an additional one-quarter percent (%%) sales tax to be collected for community development purposes in accordance with
Chapters 501, 502 and 505, Texas Local Government Code, as amended (formerly Section 4B of Article 5190.6, Texas Revised Civil
Statutes). Levy of this community development sales tax began on October 1, 2010.

The City has not held an election regarding an additional sales tax for reduction of property tax reduction

The Commissioners Court of McLennan County levies and assesses the remaining '/z% additional sales and use tax for ad valorem
property tax reduction.

City Portion 0.50%10.25%
1.50% 1.00% City Portion ($) Equivalent of Economic 0.25%

Fiscal Total City % of Ad Valorem Ad Valorem Deveopment Streets
Year Collections Collections Tax Lew Tax Rate Collections Collections
2006 $ 2,698,110 $ 1,798,740 233.64% $0.69 $ 899,370 ~a~ $ -

2007 2,872,858 1,915,238 249.31% 0.70 957,619 ~a> -

2008 2,991,705 1,994,470 256.20% 0.69 997,235 ~a> -

2009 3,034,576 2,023,051 249.83% 0.63 1,011,525 ~a> -

2010 3,074,535 2,049,690 254.11% 0.63 1,024,845 ~a> -

2011 3,132,993 2,088,662 240.65% 0.64 522,166 ~b~ 522,166

2012 3,161,020 2,107,347 233.29% 0.64 526,837 ~b~ 526,837

2013 3,278,348 2,185,565 217.11% 0.65 546,391 ~b~ 546,391

2014~`~ 1,907,175 1,271,450 119.91% 0.36 317,863 ~b~ 317,863

~b~ Represents 0.50% collections.
~b~ Represents 0.25% collections.
~°~ Fiscal Year 2014 collections are for October 1, 2013 through Apri130, 2014 (seven months only).
Sources: Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts Website http:%/ecpa.cpa.state.tx.us/allocation/AIIocHist
Note: The Compytroller's website figures list sales tax revenues in the month they are deliveredto the City, which is

[WV /I/lam/%I (I%J O%l G% l/%Cy Q%C yC%IC%OlCU%4V%%C4{CU.
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OVERLAPPING DEBT DATA AND INFORMATION TABLE 15
(As of August 1, 2014)

Gross Debt % Amount
Taxing Bodv Principal Overlapping Overlapping

Connally Independent School District $ 19,440,500 0.78% $ 151,636
La Vega Independent School District $ 42,615,564 46.92% 19,996,630
McLennan County $ 180,750,000 2.88% 5,205,600
McLennan County Junior College District 76,330,000 2.88% 2,198,304

Total Gross Overlapping Debt $ 27,552,170
City of Belimead 9,800,000 ~a~ 100.00% 9,800,000 ~a~

Total Gross Direct and Overlapping Debt Principal $ 37,352,170 ~a~

Ratio of Direct and Overlapping Debt to 2013 Net Taxable Assessed Valuation 10.49% cap
Ratio of Direct and Overlapping Debt to 2013 Actual Market Value 8.65% (a~
Per Capita Direct and Qverlapping Debt $3,701 ~a>

Note: Figures above show Gross General Obligation Debt Principal for the City of Bellmead, Texas
The Issuer's Net General Obligation Debt Principal $ 4,790,000 ~a~

Calculations on Net General Obligation Debt Principal would change the above figures as follows:

Total Net Direct and Overlapping Debt Principal $ 32,342,170 ~a~

Ratio of Net Direct and Overlapping Debt Principal to 2013 Net Taxable Assessed Valuation g pg% cad

Ratio of Net Direct and Overlapping Debt Principal to 2013 Actual Market Value 7 490/o ~a~

Per Capita Net Direct and Overlapping Debt Principal $3,205 ~a~

2013 Net Taxable Assessed Valuation $ 356,138,881

~a~ Includes the Certificates.
Source: The most recent Texas Municipal Reports published by the Municipal Advisory Council of Texas

ASSESSED VALUATION AND TAX RATE OF OVERLAPPING ENTITIES TABLE 16

2013 Net Taxable 2013
Governmental Entitv Assessed Valuation % of Actual Tax Rate

ConnailylndependentSchoolDistrict $ 563,601,669 100% $1.26570

La Vega Independent School District 643,920,977 100% 1.42000

McLennan County 11,397,796,939 100% 0.53530

McLennan County Junior College District 16,531,869,952 100% 0.15153

AUTHORIZED BUT UNISSUED GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS OF
DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING GOVERNMENTAL ENTITIES TABLE 17

Date of Amount Issued
Taxing Bodv Authorization Purpose Authorized To-Date Unissued
La Vega Independent School District None
McLennan County None
McLennan County Community College Dist None
City of Belfinead None

Source: Texas Municipal Reports published by the Municipal Advisory Council of Texas
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RIND CHANGES iFl Fl7ND ~AL~4NCES TALE °i8

Fiscal Year Ended September 30
REVENUES: 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Property Taxes $ 721,099 $ 704,056 $ 638,877 $ 597,596 $ 594,957
Sales Taxes 2,731,957 2,634,182 2,610,813 2,049,690 2,028,963
Franchise Taxes 492,154 522,844 569,355 550,229 589,469
Hotel Occupancy Taxes - - - - 334,917
Other Taxes 52,305 43,236 44,197 42,027 -
Licenses and Permits 55.093 34.668 112.098 96.056 38.122
Intergovernmental 89,713 93,191 - 273,915 5,796
Rent - - - 46,500 -
Parks and Recreation Fees - - - - 39,855
Fines and Fees 371,414 269,182 307,005 364,337 339,502
Investment Earnings 15,658 8,847 12,778 20,107 33,136
Miscellaneous 479,102 196,729 100,108 134,881 151,057

Total Revenues $ 5,008,495 $ 4,506,935 $ 4,395,231 $ 4,175,338 $ 4,155,774

FXQF(~[11T~IRFC;

General Government
Public Safety
Highways and Streets
Economic and Physical Development
Culture and Recreation
Debt Service

Total Expenditures

Excess (Deficit) of Revenues
Over Expenditures

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Transfers In
Transfers Out
Proceeds from Debt Issuance
Sale of Property

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Net Change in Fund Balance

Fund Balance - October 1 (Beginning)

Prior Year Adjustment

Fund Balance - September 30 (Ending)

$ 909,033 $ 1,379,384 $ 1,284,233 $ 1,140,559 $ 1,168,113
2,818,755 2,535,42' 2,142,473 L~%J2,̂ u21 1,901,131
616,325 510,897 634,401 605,608 635,515

1,000 160,014 37,714 - -
69,733 51,347 48,922 120985 268,583

- 10,000 - - -

$ 4,414,~i47 $ 4,648,069 $ 4,147,743 $ 4,599,773 $ 3,973,342

$ 593,648 $ (141,134) $ 247,488 $ (424,435) $ 182,432

$ - $ 30,991 $ -

- 230,000 -

$ $ 260,991 $ -

$ 593,648 $ 119,857 $ 247,488

2,690,282 2,493,984 2,246,496 ~b~

- 76,441 -

$ 3.283.930 ~a~ $ 2.690.282 $ 2.493.984

$ 40,000
(15,000)

810,509

$ 835,509

$ 411,074

$ 110,000
(551,600)

~ (4~F I,OUV)

$ (259,168)

1,497,055 ~°~ 2,780,794

174,278 -

$ 2.082.407 ~b~ $ 2.521.626 ~°~

~a~ The City estimates its unaudited FY 2014 General Fund Balance will be approximately $3,383,930.
~b~ Restatement of the fund balance to include the Granf Fund and Street Special Fund and to remove the Court Technology.
~°~ Change in the reporting requirements for Special Revenue Funds, previously reported with the General Funds, resulted in a reduced fund balance

for the General Fund.
Source: The Issuer's Audited Annual Financial Reports

A-8



CONDENSED WATERWORKS AND SEWER SYSTEM OPERATING STATEMENT TABLE 19

Fiscal Year Ended September 30
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Revenues~a~ $ 2,681,105 $ 2,683,083 $ 2,602,693 $ 2,436,697 $ 2,721,093

Expenses~b~ 1,528,841 1,339,988 1,479,491 1,566,533 2,411,298

Net Revenue Available for Debt Service $ 1,152,264 $ 1,343,095 $ 1,123,202 $ 870,164 $ 309,795

Annual Debt Service Requirements
for Revenue Bonds $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -

Coverage of Revenue Debt Service N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Annual Debt Service Requirements
for General Obligation Debt Service
Paid from System Revenues $ 193,962 $ 189,948 $ 189,948 $ 234,119 $ 234,093

Coverage of All Debt Paid From System
Revenues 5.94 x 7.07 x 5.91 x 3.72 x 1.32 x

Customer Count: FY 2014~~~
Water 3,418 3,389 3,381 3,372 3,316 3,320
Sewer 3,300 3,276 3,267 3,263 3,211 3,216

~a~ Revenues include operating revenues, interest income and other revenues of the Waterworks and Sewer System

~b~ Expenses include total expenses less depreciation and amortization of the Waterworks and Sewer System.

~°~ Current fiscal year customer count as of May 37, 2014.
Sources: Information from the Issuer and the Issuer's Annual Audited Financial Reports
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WATER RATES TALE 20
(Sased on Monthly Billing)

tTtective October 1. 1UU%

Minimum Monthly Charge -First 2,000 Gallons $ 17.00
Per each additional 1,000 Gallons of Consumption (Within City Limits) $ 3.50
Per each additional 1,000 Gallons of Consumption (Outside City Limits) $ 5.20

P!ZlNClPAL VNATER CUSTOMERS 2012-2013 7ABL~ 21
(As of September 30, 2013)

Average Monthly Average
Name of Customer Consumption (Gals.) Monthly Bill
Atrium of Bellmead 2,578,542 $ 9,034.89
Bordeaux Apartments 715,333 3,653.67
Eaglecrest Apartments 94,416 580.46
Ballmead Carwash 411,500 1,450.25
Delta Inn 347,700 1,224.50
Home Depot 335,916 1,168.72
Cloverleaf Mobile Park 178,525 874.84
Bellmead Kidney Center 297,583 1,055.04
HEB Grocery 280,583 992.04
Holiday Inn 264,250 934.88

5,504,348 $ 20,969.29 ~a~
Total

~a~ Principal Water Customers represent approximately 14.44% of total annual water sales.

SEWER RATES i'ABLE 22
(Based on Monthly Billing)

Effective October 1.2006

Schedule A Customers Minimum (First 1,000 Gallons) $ 9.50
(single family, multi-family, trailer park, charitable, office buildings)

Per each additional 1,000 Gallons of Consumption $ 1.40
Maximum Charge $ 21.00

Schedule B Customers $ 9.50
(small businesses, school)

Per each additional 1,000 Gallons of Consumption $ 1.40

Schedule C Customers
4-inch Sewer Taps $ 425.00
6-inch Sewer Taps $ 550.00

Schedule DCustomer -Union Pacific Railway Company Contract

PRINCIPAL SEWER CUSTOMERS 2012-2013 TABLE 23
(As of September 30, 2013)

Average fl~onth9y Average
Name of Customer Consumption (Gals.) Monthly Bill
Atrium of Bellmead 2,578,542 $ 3,618.06
Bordeaux Apartments 715,333 840.47
Eaglecrest Apartments 94,415 105.58
Bellmead Carwash 411,500 584.20
delta lnn 347,700 893.90
Home Depot 335,916 478.39
Cloverleaf Mobile Park 178,525 228.64
Bellmead Kidney Center 297,583 424.72
HEB Grocery 280,583 400.92
Holiday Inn 26a,250 378.05

Y9ta! 5,504,348 $ 7,554.03 ~a~

~a~ Principal Sewer Customers represent approximately 11.27% of total annual sewer charges
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APPENDIX B

GEfVERAL iPIFORMATIOFi REGARDING THE CITY OF BELLBiIEAD AfV[3 iVieLENNARI COUPJ'i''~', TEXAS





GENERAL INFORMATION REGARDING THE CITY OF BELLMEAD
AND McLENNAN COUNTY, TEXAS

General

The City of Beilmead is a residential area located three miles to the northeast of Waco on U.S. Highway 84. The 2010 census
was 9,901, increasing 7.46% since 2006. The current population estimate is 10,092. Many residents of the City work in Waco.

McLennan County is located in central Texas and comprises the Waco Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA). The County's
economy is based primarily on manufacturing and agriculture, with higher education also making a significant impact on the
economy. The County is traversed by interstate Highway 35, United States Highways 77, 81 and 84, State Highways 6, 31 and
317, and 29 farm-to-market and park roads. The County economy has experienced a growth trend from new industry,
expansions of existing industry and new commercial investment that is generating service sector and manufacturing jobs. The
City of Waco is the county seat and a center for manufacturing, tourism, conventions and agribusiness for central Texas.

The County is a major center for higher education. Baylor University, the world's largest Southern Baptist University, with an
enrollment of over 13,000 is located in the City of Waco. Also located in the County are McLennan Community College and the
Texas State Technical College -James Connally Campus.

Recreational and camping facilities are provided at Fort Fisher Park and Lake Waco. Other points of interest include the Homer
Garrison, Jr. Texas Ranger Museum, Texas Ranger Hall of Fame, Cameron Park and the Cen-Tex Zoo. Activities of interest
include the Brazos River Festival, symphony orchestra, civic theater, college and university events, Heart O' Texas Fair Rodeo
and the Central Texas Fair.

Source: Latest Texas Municipal Report published by the Municipal Advisory Council of Texas

Population:

City of McLennan
Year Bellmead Coun

2014 Estimate 10,092 242,179
2010 Census 9,901 234,906
2000 Census 9,214 213,517
1990 Census 8,336 189,123

Sources: United States Bureau of the Census and the City of Bellmead
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Leading EmpBoyer~ Bellmead and the Surrounding Area:

Employer

Baylor University

L-3 Integrated Systems

HEB Grocery

Wal-Mart

Sanderson Farms

-r°Y.us St^u±o To~I,niCB! CCI~~y~

La Vega Independent School District

Clayton Homes

Sam's Club

Source: Information from the Issuer

Education

2014
iVUmper of

Type of Business Employees

Nigher Education 2,360

Aircraft maintenance /Modification 1,619

Grocery 1,350

Retaii Sales 1,290

Poultry Factory ~i ,170
ToC~h~C2~ I-I~r~h~r CA.UCc".~ii^vii vvn-~i~

Public School Education 381

Manufactured Homes 225

Retail Sales 140

The City is served by the La Vega Independent School District (the "District"), which is fully accredited by the l°exas Education
Agency. The high school is also accredited by the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools. The District is comprised of
two elementary schools for grades kindergarten through third, one intermediate school for grades fourth through sixth, and one
high school for grades ninth through twelfth. All campuses offer enriched curricula with special programs for gifted/talented
students as well as students achieving below grade level and are equipped with computers and full cafeteria service. The
District's enrollment for the 2013-2014 school year was 2,875 (as of May 31, 2014), and the District employs 408 persons, 191 of
which are classroom teachers.

Source: Information from the Issuer

Labor Force Statistics

McLennan County Waco MSA State of Texas

May May May May May May
2094 2013 29'!4 2013 2014 3073

Civilian Lat~or Force 115,053 115,082 115,100 115,100 12,969,300 12,821,100
Total Employed 109,253 108,072 109,300 108,100 12,313,700 12,015,900
Total Unemployed 5,800 7,010 5,800 7,000 655,600 805,200

Unemployed 5.0% 6.0% 5.0% 6.1 % 5.1 % 6.3%
Unemployed (United States) 6.1% 7.3% 6.1% 7.3% 6.1% 7.3%

Source: Texas Workforce Commission, Labor Market Information Department.
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Fuibright & Jaworski LLP

300 Convent Street, Suite 2100
San Antonio, Texas 78205-3792
United States

Tel +1 210 224 5575
Fax +1 210 270 7205
nortonrosefulbright.com

lyl~/_1~

IN REGARD to the authorization and issuance of the "City of Bellmead, Texas Combination Tax
and Limited Pledge Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2014" (the Certificates), dated
August 1, 2014 in the aggregate principal amount of $8,500,000 we have reviewed the legality
and validity of the issuance thereof by the City Council of the City of Bellmead, Texas (the
Issuer). The Certificates are issuable in fully registered form only, in denominations of $5,000 or
any integral multiple thereof (within a Stated Maturity). The Certificates have Stated Maturities
of March 1 in each of the years 2015 through 2034, unless redeemed prior to Stated Maturity in
accordance with the terms stated on the face of the Certificates. Interest on the Certificates
accrues from the dates, at the rates, in the manner, and is payable on the dates as provided in
the ordinance (the Ordinance) authorizing the issuance of the Certificates. Capitalized terms
used herein without definition shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Ordinance.

WE HAVE SERVED AS BOND COUNSEL for the Issuer solely to pass upon the legality and
validity of the issuance of the Certificates under the laws of the State of Texas and with respect
to the exclusion of the interest on the Certificates from the gross income of the owners thereof
for federal income tax purposes and for no other purpose. We have not been requested to
investigate or verify, and have not independently investigated or verified, any records, data, or
other material relating to the financial condition or capabilities of the Issuer or the Issuer's
combined utility system and have not assumed any responsibility with respect to the financial
condition or capabilities of the Issuer or the disclosure thereof in connection with the sale of the
Certificates. We express no opinion and make no comment with respect to the sufficiency of
the security for or the marketability of the Certificates. Our role in connection with the Issuer's
Official Statement prepared for use in connection with the sale of the Certificates has been
limited as described therein.

WE HAVE EXAMINED, the applicable and pertinent laws of the State of Texas and the United
States of America. In rendering the opinions herein we rely upon (1) original or certified copies
of the proceedings of the City Council of the Issuer in connection with the issuance of the
Certificates, including the Ordinance; (2) customary certifications and opinions of officials of the
Issuer; (3) certificates executed by officers of the Issuer relating to the expected use and
investment of proceeds of the Certificates and certain other funds of the Issuer and to certain
other facts solely within the knowledge and control of the Issuer; and (4) such other
documentation, including an examination of the Certificate executed and delivered initially by
the Issuer and such matters of law as we deem relevant to the matters discussed below. In
such examination, we have assumed the authenticity of all documents submitted to us as
originals, the conformity to original copies of all documents submitted to us as certified copies,
and the accuracy of the statements and information contained in such certificates. We express
no opinion concerning any effect on the following opinions which may result from changes in law
effected after the date hereof.

Fulbright & Jaworski LLP is a limited liability partnership registered under the laws of Texas. 40792006.2

Fulbright & Jaworski LLP, Norton Rose Fulbright LLP, Norton Rose Fulbright Australia, Norton Rose Fulbright Canada LLP, Norton Rose Fulbright
South Africa (incorporated as Deneys Reitz, Inc.), each of which is a separate legal entity, are members of Norton Rose Fulbright Verein, a Swiss
Verein. Details of each entity, with certain regulatory information, are at nortonrosefulbright.com. Norton Rose Fulbright Verein helps coordinate the
activities of the members but does not itself provide legal services to clients.
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Legal Opinion ofi Fulbright ~ Jaworski LLP of San Antonio, 7"exas, a member of Pdor~on
Rose Fulbright, in connection with the authorization and 'os~uance of 66CITY OF
BELLMEAD, TEXAS COMBINATION TAX AND LIMITED PLEDGE REVENUE
dERT'~FI~~~'~S ~;~ ~B~lv°~°I~Pl, S~Fl~d Zc1~,°

BASED ON OUR EXAMINATION, IT IS OUR OPINION that the Certificates have been duly
authorized and issued in conformity with the laws of the State of Texas now in force and that the
Certificates are valid and legally binding obligations of the Issuer enforceable in accordance with
the t~rm~ and conditions de~crib~d ther~ir~, except to the extent that the enfarceability thereof
may be affected by bankrupicy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, or other sirnii~r laws
affecting creditors' rights or the exercise of judicial discretion in accordance with general
principles of equity. The Certificates are payable from the levy of an ad valorem tax, within the
limitations prescribed qy law, upon ail taxable property in the issuer and are fiurther payable
from and secured by a lien on and pledge of the Pledged Revenues, being a limited amount of
the Net Revenues derived from the operation of the System, such lien on and pledge of the
limited amount of Net Revenues being subordinate and inferior to the lien on and pledge of such
Net Revenues securing the payment of and security of any Prior Lien Obligations, Junior Lien
Obligations, or Subordinate Lien Obligations hereafter issued by the Issuer. In the Ordinance,
the Issuer retains the right to issue Prior Lien Obligations, Junior Lien Obligations, Subordinate
Lien Obligations, and Additional Limited Pledge Obligations without limitation as to principal
amount but subject to any terms, conditions, or restrictions as may be applicable thereto under
law or otherwise.

IT IS FURTHER OUR OPINION THAT, assuming continuing compliance after the date hereof
by the Issuer with the provisions of the Ordinance and in reliance upon the representations and
certifications of the Issuer made in a certificate of even date herewith pertaining to the use,
expenditure, and investment of the proceeds of the Certificates, under existing statutes,
re~uiaii~r~s, ~u~iisneU ~uiings, and coup decisions ~ i j interest on zne ~er~ifiicates will be
excludable from the gross income, as defined in section 61 of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended to the date hereof (the Code), of the owners thereof for federal income tax
purposes, pursuant to section 103 of the Code, and (2) interest on the Certificates will not be
included in computing the alternative minimum taxable income of the owners thereof who are
individuals or, except as hereinafter described, corpGraiions.

WE CALL YOUR ATTENTION TO THE FACT THAT, with respect to our opinion in clause (2)
above, interest on all tax-exempt obligations, such as the Certificates, owned by a corporation
will be included in such corporation's adjusted current earnings for purposes of calculating the
alternative minimum fiaxable incame at such corporation, ether than an S corporation, a mutual
fund, a financial asset securitization investment trust, a real estate mortgage investment
conduit, nr ~ rP~l estate investment trust, A CC~rr~c~~-atin~'S cr1ltP_.~'Y]~~jVP_. Yl'1IY11YY~I.J9T? tc`~.X~I~I~ iPI~QYYIP IS
the basis on which the alternative minimum tax imposed by section 55 of the Code will be
computed.

1/1/F FXPRF~C f~l(1 nTN~R nPlNlOni Wj±h roSN°~± ±0 u~y~ ~tl~gr fL~Bt'~~, S~u~° ^r I^~u~ ~~X
consequences under present law or any proposed legislation resulting from the receipt or
accrual of interest on, or the acquisition or tfisposition at, the Certificates. Ownership of tax-
exempt obligations such as the Certificates may result in collateral federal tax consequences to,
among others, financial institutions, life ~nsuiarce c~,ir~pai~ies, praperty ai d casualty insurance
corripar~ies, certain foreign cor~oratioi~s doine~ business in the United Stales, S corporations wifih

40792006.2
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Legal Opinion of Fulbright & Jaworski LLP of San Antonio, Texas, a member of Norton
Rose Fulbright, in connection with the authorization and issuance of "CITY OF
BELLMEAD, TEXAS COMBINATION TAX AND LIMITED PLEDGE REVENUE
CERTIFICATES OF OBLIGATION, SERIES 2014"

subchapter C earnings and profits, owners of an interest in a financial asset securitization
investment trust, individual recipients of Social Security or Railroad Retirement Benefits,
individuals otherwise qualifying for the earned income credit, and taxpayers who may be
deemed to have incurred or continued indebtedness to purchase or carry, or who have paid or
incurred certain expenses allocable to, tax-exempt obligations.

OUR OPINIONS ARE BASED on existing law, which is subject to change. Such opinions are
further based on our knowledge of facts as of the date hereof. We assume no duty to update or
supplement our opinions to reflect any facts or circumstances that may thereafter come to our
attention or to reflect any changes in any law that may thereafter occur or become effective.
Moreover, our opinions are not a guarantee of result and are not binding on the Internal
Revenue Service; rather, such opinions represent our legal judgment based upon our review of
existing law that we deem relevant to such opinions and in reliance upon the representations
and covenants referenced above.

Fulbright & Jaworski LLP

40792006.2
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APPENDIX D

EXCERPTS FROM THE CITY OF BELLMEAD AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

(Independent Auditor's Report, Managements Discussion and Analysis, General Financial Statements and Notes to the Financial
Statements -not intended to be a complete statement of the Issuer's financial condition. Reference is made to the complete Annual

Financial Report for further information.)
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PATTILLO, BROWN &HILL, L.~..P.
CERTZiIED CUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS ~ BUSINESS CpNSULTANTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Honorable Mayor and
Members of the City Council

City of Bellmead, Texas

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the
business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the
aggregate remaining fund information of City of Bellmead, Texas, as of and for the year ended
September 30, 2013, and the xelated notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the
City of Bellmead's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standazds require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whethex due to
fraud ox error. Tn making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entzty's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

401 WEST HIGHWAY 6 ~ P. Q. BOX 20725 ~ WACO, 7'X 76702-0725 r (254) 772-4901 ~ FAX: (254) 772-4920 ~ www.pbhcpa.com
AFFILIATE OFFICES: HROWNSVILLE,'I'X (956) 544-7778 ~ HILLSBORO, TX (254} 582-2583

TEMPLE, TX (254) 791-3460 ~ ALBUQUERQUE, NM (505) 266-5904
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis ~'or our audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major
fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Bellmead, as of September 30, 2013,
and the respective changes in financial position thereof for the year then ended in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
management's discussion and analysis and budgetary comparison information on pages 3-10 and 38-43
be presented to supplement the basic financial statennents. Such information, although not a part of the
basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers
it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and othex knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic
financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because
the lamited procedures do not provide u~ with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any
assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted fox the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the City of Bellmead's basic financial statements. The combining and individual
nonmajor fund financial statements are presented for purposes of additional analysis and aze not a
required part of the basic financial statements.

The combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements are the responsibility of
management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been sub,}ected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures,
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves,
and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. In our opinion, th.e combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements aze
fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

per, ~ ~, ~~ ~. ~.
April 23, 2014
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The management of the City of Bellmead, Texas (the "City") offers the following overview and analysis
of the City's financial statements and financial activities for the fiscal year ended Septerr~ber 30, 2013.
It should be read in conjunction with the City's financial statements, which follow this section.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The assets of the City exceeded liabilities at the close of the most recent fiscal year by
$26,923,237 (net position). Of this amount, $8,327,981 (unrestricted net position)
may be used to meet the City's ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors in
accordance with fund designation and fiscal policies. In the pxior year, the City's
assets exceeded its liabilities by $25,469,118. Of this amount, $7,219,107
(unrestricted net position) could have been used to meet the City's ongoing
obligations to citizens and creditors in accoxdance with the City's fund designation
and fiscal policies.

• The City's net investment in capital assets decreased by $152,043 from the prior year.

As of September 30, 2013, the City of Bellmead's governmental funds reported
ending fund balances of $7,632,482. Of this amount, $1,869,707 is unrestricted fund
balance in the General Fund available for use within the City's fund designation and
fiscal policies. T~ 4he prior year, ~e City's ~ovex en~l funds reported enduxg fired
balances of $6,506,112. Of this amount, $1,705,700 was unrestricted fund balance in
the General Fund available for use within the City's f scal policies.

As of September 30, 2013, the restricted net position of the governmental activities is
$4,483,968 of which $3,166,471 is restricted for economic development and
$995,230 was restricted for culture and recreation. In the prior year, restricted net
position of the governnnental activities was $3,906,347 of which $2,677,724 was
restricted for economic development and $948,458 was restricted for culture and
recreation.

As of September 30, 2013, the City of Bellmead's Enterprise Fund reported ending
fund net position of $7,892,677. Of this amount, $5,213,955 is unrestricted fund net
position available fox use within the City's fund designation and fiscal policies. In
the prior yeaz, the City's Enterprise Fund` reported ending fund net position of
$7,450,992. Of this amount, $4,653,092 was unrestricted fund net position available
for use within the City's fiscal policies.

• The total cost of the City's programs represents the inclusion of the City Council's
funding priorities including: employee compensation and insurance, maintenance of
the water system, and equipment for maintenance and operations.
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'his discr~ssion and analysis zs intended to sezve as an introduction to the City's basic financial
statements. The Ciiy's basic financial statexrients include three components: 1) goverrunent-wide
financial statements; 2) fund financial statements; and 3) notes to the financial statements. This report
also contains other ~upplemsnta~y information in addition to t~s basic financial statements.

rnvarn,~;mnn±_.:~,d~d ~f:::::~d;»1 et^~*~:~:r.̂.~U

The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the
City's finances, in a manner similar to aprivate-sector business.

~Il~ St~t~YYi~Y3t Of 13~~ ~30S1~30f1 ~Y~S~TAtS Y3Af+tYYiT1B~Y0Y1 OYl ~1 O~ ~'1~ C11j~'s assets ~d liabilities, with the
difference between the two reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases iai net position
~-aay ser~~ a~ ~ ~efi~l i~di~at~r ~f iv~a~th~r the ~r~ci~ ~~sitzord ~f the Katy is u-aa}~r~vizig yr
deteriorating.

The statement of activities pxesents information showing how the City's net position changed during the
most recent fiscal year. ~Lll changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving
rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses
are reported in this statement far some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods.

Both of" tie governmen#-wide ~in~anciai statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally
supported by citations, sales tax, street tax, and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities)
from other functions that` are intended to recover all or ~ significant portion of their costs through user
fees anal charges (business-type activities). The govenpmental activities of the City include general
government, public safety, economic development, culture and recreation, and highways and streets.
The buszness-type activities of the City include a water distribution operation and sewer services.

The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 11 and 12 of -this report.

Faand #aaa~aa~a~l ~tat~aaa~ntso A fund is a gauping ~f related acc~un~s that zs used to maint~n control
orrer resoixi°ces mat have bee~x segregated for specific ac4ivi~ies or objec~i~res. The Czty, like other state
and local governments, uses fund ~ecountiia~ to en~tare and 3emon~strats co~pli~nce with finaa~ce~related
legal requirements. AlI of the funds of the City can be divided into two categories: governmental funds
aa~d proprietary fiandsa

Governmental funds. Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions
re~~z~ed as gc~vernm~nYal acti~ifies in fhe g~vernmenf-wide ~inatYCia1 sYa~ements. Horrver~.er, ~lik~ ~h~
government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term

tti..--•_ __~ qtr---._ r____a.,Li_ .._.,_. _., i L ~ fi ~ Lt z ..
11111VWJ ZLL1LL Vl1U1VWS Ul Jk1GilUZ1U1G IGJVl1I~l.~GJ~ dS WG~~1 aJ' Vil Ua.1~.L~l:GJ Ul Jj.JG'i~t13U1C iGJ'~Jli1~.GJ ~V~~a~~c a~

the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a government9s near-term
11i1G~1l:l11~ ~GtjU1~CII1CI1Lg.

Because the focus of governmental fiands is narrower than that of the government-wide financial
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar
information presented far gavenuanental activities in the ~overnznez~t-wide ~z~azxcial statements. ~y
doing so, readers may bei#er understand the ling-term ir_zpact of the go~~ernrnent's near-team financing
decisions. both the governmental fuY~d balaric~ sheet arAd the governmental fund statement of revenues,
expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison
between governmental funds and governmental activities.

4



The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 13 through 17 of this report.

Proprietary -funds. The City maintains one type of proprietary fund. Enterprise Funds are used to
report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial
statements. The City uses Enterprise Funds to account for its water distribution operations and sewer
services.

Proprietary fund financial statements provide the same type of information as the government-wide
financial statements, only in more detail.

The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 18 through 20 of this report.

i~Totes to financial statements. The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to
the financial statements can be found on pages 21 — 37 of this report.

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSTS

Net assets. The City's combined net position was $26,923,237 at September 30, 2013, which is a
5.71% increase from September 30, 2012. (See Table A-1) The largest portion of the City's net
position, $14,111,288, reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g., land, buildings and improvements,
equipment, and water and sewer facilities), less any related debt used to acquire those assets. The City
.uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for
future spezading. Although, t}ae City's investzxient iaa its capital assets is reported net of related debt9 it
should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources since
the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.

Table A-1
City of Belimead, Texas' Net Position

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Totals

20]3 2012 2013 2012 20]3 2012

Current end other assets S 9,270,202 $ 8,A36,413 $ 5,756,063 S 5,310,338 $ 15,026,265 S 13,746,751

Capital assets 111877,168 12,249,131 3,348,303 3,587,567 15 2,2 5,471 15,836,698

Total assets S .21,147,370 S 20,685,544 S 9,104,366 $ 8,897,905 $ 30,251,736 ~ 29,583,449

Long-term liabilities S 1,330,029 $ 1,766,902 S 522,799 S 707,212 $ 1,852,828 S 2,474,114

Other liabilities 786,781 900,516 686,890 739,701 I,A75,671 1,640,217

Total liabilities 2,116,810 2,667,418 1,211,689 1,446,913 3,328,499 4,114,331

Net position:

Net investment in

capital assets l 1,452,985 11,545,764 2,658,303 2,717,567 14,1 1 1,288 14,263,331

Restricted 4,463,549 3,906,347 20,419 80,333 4,483,968 3,986,680

Unrestricted 3,11A,026 2,566015 5,213,955 4,653,092 8,327,981 7,219,107

Total net position 5 19,030,560 $ 18,018,126 S 7,892,677 S 7,450,992 $ 26,923,237 5 25,469,118

~`



As of Set~t~ztt~bex 3(?; 2Q13; the ('.ity hoc nc~gitiv~ l~s~l~nce~ in all thr~ r.~te~onr~a:c ~f nit ~~g~L~; tenth fnr the

~~v~ eat ~s ~ while, ~s ~v~ll ~s s~~~r~~l~ for itis ~ov~rr~men~t end business-iype t~e~~~4ies.

Changes en 1Vet .Position. The City's total revenues were X9,212,006. Property taxes coYnprise 11.0 %,
or $1,020,937 of the City's revenue. Sales tax revenue comprises 35.59%, or $3,27 ,348 of the City's
revenue, Izx ~dditioxi, $3,161,419 ox 34.32% comes from charges for services, water and sewer fees of
$2,672,~~I c~mpris~ ~4.~~% of the eharges for ser~fces.

Fox the priox year, The City's total z~evenues were $8,641,081. Property #axes comprise 10.54%, ox
X910,859 of the City's revenue, Sales tax xevenue comprises 36.58%, or $3,161,021 of the City's
~~v~n~e, In ~dditio~, $3,0 1,?71 0~ 3506 °10 ~~~~~~ ~oxr~ ~~~~es f~~ ~~~~~es; gager ~d s~~rep fees of
$2,678,041 comprise X6.90% ofthe charges for sezvices.

~Otal e!/el1UE5 ~O~, - ~~3
$1,672 $531,407

__...t'--~... __ x$1,020,937~'
.~

.5492,354

$9,~'7~,34}8

■ Property ~x~

a Sales taxes

~< Franchise taxes

Hotel occupanry taxes

■Charges for services

~ Inoa~stmeM e~rt~in~s

d Miscellaneous



The total cost of all programs and services for the year ended September 30, 2013, was $7,757,887. For
the prior year ended September 30, 2012, the total cost of all programs and services was $7,908,879.

■Public safety

u Interest on long-term debt ;

Economic development

■ Hlghweys and streets

Culture and recreation

iGenerai government

Water and sewer

Governmental Activities

Total Expenses 2012 - 2013

Sz,aae,azo

~,.~ —

i

~ ~.

$988,499,/ '"~'=
w..:,. ,:

s2,sos,zea

~.,_~~

~'~`

~~~~ k r~
~ ~~' -Y:r,, ~,~

.,~~~

v ;r,~1 y

$20,432

• The City increased its property tax rate for 2013 from .274498 to .298608 per $100
valuation resulting in increased property tax income for fiscal year 2013. The
increase was in the I&S tax rate.

• City sales tax revenue increased $117,327 or 3.71 %from the priox year.

• Miscellaneous income increased due to the change in the charging fox administrative
SEPVICBS.

• The increases in public safety, highways and streets and culture and recreation aze
related to the additional expenses from the change in administrative services.
Economic development expenses decreased due to the completion ox prior projects.

Business-type Activities

• Water and sewer expenses increased due to administrative charges.



Revenues

grogram revenues:
C'hAroec fpr e~nrirre

Operating grants
General revenues:
Property 4axes
5sl~s taxes
Fc°~nchiss48xes
HoYei occupancy
Investment earnings
Miscellaneous
Gain on sale of land

T~fe! seven~aw

Facpenditures
General government
Public safety

Highways and streets
Economic development
Culture and recreation
Inc~resc on long-4erm debt
Water and sewer

Total expenditures

Increase (decrease) in net assets
before transfers

Transfers

Changes in net assets

Ne! assets, beginning

Prior period adjustment

Net assets, ending

7°able .~-~
~a4y of ~~ll~~a~, 'T'exas9 .~~~~~YYi~Tfi~ Qif l~C~1V➢$➢~3

Governmental Activities business-type Activities °Catals
20]3 2012 2013 2012 2013 20]2

4; dAR /.dR 4 dA9 7Ql1 4 9 l.79 971 C 7l.74 fldl C 1 1~l dt0 @

y .89,713

i llAi 771

V93,19189,713 93,191 - ~

1,020,937 910,859 - - 1,020,937 91U,859
3,278,398 3,161,021 ~ ~ 3,27 ,348 3,361,021
492,154 522,8`i4 ~ - 492,34 522,844
381,192 350,580 - - 381,Y92 350,580
98,338 108,908 8,334 5,042 106,672 113,950
53],407 252,912 - - 531,407 252,912
150,764 153,953 - 150,164 153,953

5,5?4,901 5,°S?~ 2,55.,205 2,SE3,L'33 > 3.2,CL5 3.'-"3,4~:

988,499 1,453,451 - - 98$,499 1,453,451
2,905,248 2,463,513 - - 2,905,298 2,463,513
728,A20 6]&,766 - - 728,820 b18.766
359,382 959,452 - - 359,382 959,452
516,036 ~ 381,033 - 516,036 381,033
20,432 33,159 - - 20,432 32,]59

2,239,A20 2,000,505 2,239,420 2,000,505

5,518,467 5,908,374 2,2392420 2,000,SQS 7,757,887 7,908,874

1,012,434 49,624 441,685 6$2,578 1,454,119 732,202

- 60,000 ( 60,000)

1,012,434 109,624 441,685 b22,578 1,454,119 732,202

18,018,126 ]7,832,061 7,A50,992 6,~2~,414 25,4b9,i1~ 24,660,475

7b,441 - 76,441

S 19,03Q,560 $ 18,018,126 $ 7,892,677 $ ?,A50,992 $ 26,923,237 $ 25,469,118

~alysis of the CA4y's Opet°ations. Table A-2 provides a summary of the City's operations for the year
ended September 30, 2013. The goverrirnental activities increased the City's net assets by $1,012,434.
The business-type activities increased zaet a.~sets key $44~ 3685.
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY'S FUNDS AND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS

Governmental Funds

In the current year, actual expenditures as compared to prior year actual expenditures, decreased by
$964,356. The significant changes in actual expenditures reflected a decrease in general government of
$470,351 and economic development of $972,990 offset by increases in public safety of $281,039 and
highways and streets of $105,428. Also, actual resources available were $567,955 or 9.78% more than
the actual resources available in the prior year. Notable changes in actual resources were as follows:
total taxes increased by $227,659; miscellaneous revenue increased by $260,919; and fines and fees
increased by $102,232.

Proprietary Fund

For the current year, actual expenses as compared to prior year actual expenses increased by $203,102,
or 11.69%. Operating revenues in the current year were $5,270 or 0.20% less than the actual revenues
in the prior year. The notable decrease ini actual revenues was a decrease in water sales and service in
the amowat of $56,366.

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

The original budget for the General Fund was amended during the year. For fiscal year 2012-2013,
revenues exceeded budgetary estimates while expenditures exceeded the budget in general government,
public safety, economic development and culture and recreation.

Budgeted expenditures exceeded actual expenditures by $135,901. The most significant variance
resulted from actual expenditures being less than budgeted in highways and streets by $300,285, while
actual expenditures were more than budgeted in public safety by $77,908 and general government by
X76,983. On the other hand, actual resources available were $339,995 more than budgeted resources.

CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Capital Assets

During the year ended September 30, 2013, the City spent $265,792 for governmental capital asset
additions. Of the additions, $250,123 represented the purchase of equipment. Additionally, the City
spent $172,518 for enterprise capital asset additions during the year ended September 30, 2013.

• Total gross governmental capital assets as of September 30, 2013, are $18,102,069.
For the prior year, gross governmental capital assets were $17,83b,277.

• Total gross enterprise capital assets as of September 30, 2013, are $10,853,528. For
the prior year, gross entezprise capital assets were $1'0,681,010.

Additional information on the City's capital assets can be found in Note 8 to the financial statements on
pages 31 — 32 of this report.

F~



L~~aa~-tea'en I)~b8

At Sept~rnb~r 309 2013, the Caty had $1,125,000 in bonds and notes outstandang. As of Septerriber 30,
2012, the City had $1,595,000 in bonds and notes outstanding.

Add~itidr~~ti in~ern~t~tidn on fhe pity's long-berm debt can be found in ~1ote 9 to the financial sfiafiernents
on pages 32 — 33 of #his report.

T'he pity ~s conhnuin~ to budget conservatively in order to maintain fliscal responsibxlzty. 'I he
unrestricted fund balance is the General Fund is currently approximately 5 months of estimated
ex~endxtures for a year. The City will continue to moxutor zts fund balance closely in order to keep a
strong fund balance for ~iiture considerations.

CON'PACTYNG ~'H~ CIT3~"S FYNANCIAL iYyAlotAGEMENT

Itega~ests fox° Infoi°mm~tion

This financial report ~s designed to provide a general overview of the City's finances for all those with
an intexest in the pity's finances. Questions concerning any of ttie information provided in ttus report or
requests for additional financial information should be addz~essed to the Office of the City Manager, City
ofBellmead, Texas, 3015 Bellmead Drive, BelImead, Texas 76705.

L
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~r°~v c~~ r~~.i.i.~r~~~_ ~~x~~_~_~_~

S°fATE1ViE1`IT OF N~7' ~'051TIO1V

SEFTEMBE~2 30, 2013

C 3vernmental 8usindss-r~p~
Activities Activities Total

ASSE'T'S
Cash and cash equivalents $ 7,357,298 $ 3,765,765 $ 11,123,063
Accounts receivable, net 659,425 351,409 1,010,834
Inventories 728 19,713 20,44 I
Internal balances 4,012 ( 4,012)
Prepaids 440 - 440
Restricted cash and cash equivalents - 20,419 20,419
Equity in joint venture - 1,568,316 1,568,316
Lease receivable:
~3~ bt'i~?n ~2?C ~r~r 7 ~d~3?~,1 _ ~ ~q~3?0
Due in more than one year 1,063,162 - 1,063,162

Deferred charges 10,817 34,453 45,270
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land 2,771,193 38,799 2,809,992
ConsWction in progress - 64,039 64,039

Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation:
Building end ~imprn~vemen4s 4,712,483 844, 12 5,557,295
Infrastructure 2,863,312 - 2,863,312
Water and sewer facilities - 2,175,573 2,175,573
Equipment 1,530,180 225,080 1,755,260

Total assets 21,147,370 9,104?366 30,251,73b

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 172;179 179.268 351;447
Accrued liabilities 102,993 14,615 117,608
Customer deposits payable - 310,741 310,741
~913CLLYfC~IIt IH~bfl1fl~9~S:

D~fer~~d geve~~a~:
Due witt~i~n one yeas° 174,320 - 174,320
Due in more than one year 1,063,1G2 - 1,063,162

Notes and bonds payable:
Due r~vithiri one year 337,289 184,266 521,555
L)ue in more than ane year 266,$6? 522,799 789,66b

Total liabilities 2,116,810 1,211,689 3,328,499

T POSIT~OP]
Net investrnent in capi4al assets A 1;452;985 2;6~$;3Q3 14;1 ~ i;~RR

Restricted for:
Court security and technology 31,225 - 31,225
Public safety 81,259 - 81,259
Debt sea'vice 1 R9~~~d - 1$9,3Fd

Capital projects - 20,419 20,419
Economic development 3,166,471 - 3,155,471
Culture aid r~cr~atien 995,23 ? - 945,230

Unrestricted 3,114,026 5,213,955 8,327,9$]

Total net position $ 19,030,560 ~ 7,892,677 $ 26,923,237

See ac~ompanya~a~ ~9tes to ~~an~s~1 s~~~emen#s,
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~`'T'f'Y (l~ 12~i i .T .10~~' ~ it 'I'~~ ~ C
9

Bff Ltil\l.G ~&7C. Sv 1 lvo i' ~1`l~l►1L1~ d tfd-r d' V111V.7

SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

Bellmead

ASSETS
dash and cash equiva➢ants :~ 3,083,364 $ 1,366,537
iteceivables (net of allowance far
uncoltectibles) 534,906

Lease receivable _ y 237~g82
1_~u~ from oihe~ finds - _
T'repaids 4q0 -
Iaveni~zes 72$ -

Total assets $ 3,fi19,438 $ 2,60A,019

1LTABTI.I'ITES AND FUND BALAPICES
Liabilities:
Accounts payable S 117,632 $ 1,900
Acceued liabilities 98,543
Due to other funds ~ 38,173 1,585
Deferred revenue -sale of building - 1,237,482
Deferred revenue -delinquent property taxes 81, ] 60 .

Total liabilities 335,508 1,240,967

Fund balances:
Restricted for.
Inventories 7yg
l~repaids q4p
Pubic safety 8 i,259
CouK technology
Culture and recreation
£conomio development m
Aebt service

Committed foe:
Street improvements 1,331,796

Unrestricted 1,869,707

Total fiand b~lanc.~s 3,283,930

Toeal liabilities and fund balances S 3619,438

Amounts repotted for governmental activities in the statement of net position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and, therefore, are not reported in the funds.

Other long-term assets are not available to pay for cuerent period expenditures and, therefore, are deferred in the funds.

«..^.A~=l~7"..^. :7~~D~t2;~~ ..... ..~. .a.~E o ~.a. ŷ~jaE;~ 7i~ She tu~7ci~~ Ncii~u 51u, ui6iZii~c, ac i~vt ic~uiiBU iii u~Z ii➢i7~iS.

Includes compensated absences of $169,156 and long-term debt of $435,000 less deferred charges of $10,817.

Net position ofgovemmental activities

See accompanying notes to financial staterments<
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1,363,052

$ 2,604,019



Total
Bellmead Other Governmental
EDC B Hotel/Motel Tax Governmental Funds

$ 1,719,172 $ 1,037,727 $ 150,498 S 7,357,298

89,665 - 34,854 659,425

- - - 1,237,482
1,585 6,948 35,237 43,770

- - 440

- - 728

$ 1,810,422 $ 1,044,675 $ 220,589 $ 9,299,143

7,003 ~ 45,644 $ ~ 172,179
- 3,801 102,344

- 39,758
1,237,482

33,738 114,898

7,003 49,445 33,738 1,666,661

728
440

81,259
- - 31,225 31,225
- 995,230 - 995,230

1,803,419 - - 3,166,471
- 155,626 155,626

- 1,331,796
1,869,707

1.803,419 995,230 186.851 7,632.482

$ 1,810,422 ~ 1,044,675 S 220,589

'I 1,877,168

114,249

~ 593,339)

$ 19,030,560

14



vA1 A Vd' LJ.:JV~l~l a•.t~.Y9•11J1~L.[2U

S"d°A°I'EMENT OF' RE!'EIVUES, ~7GP~iVDITURES
ANA CHANG~~ IN FU1~113 BA~,AIVC~ — GOO~ERivMENTAL FUNDS

~OR'Y'H1E YEAR EIVI)ED SE~'TENf~EYt 30, 2013

REVENUES
Taxes:
Property
Sales

Franchise
~-iote! occupancy
Other

Licenses and permits
Iniergovemmental
Rent
Fines and fees
Investment earnings
Miscellaneous

Totai revenues

F.XPENDiTiJR7ES
General govemmene
Pubtic safety
Highways and sheets
Economic end physical developratent
(;allure and recreation
Debt service:
Principal
Interest and other charges

Capital outlay

Totat expenditures

FXCE~S (DEFIL°I~NC`~j OF YiIEVEi+TtJE3
OVER (TJNDER) EXPENDITURES

OTHER ]N'~NANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in
Transfers out

Sale of property

Total other financing sour6cs (uses)

IVE1° CIiA1YG~ IPt ~iJND ~AY.ANCE

1F[IND BALANCE, BEGINNING

FUND BALAiVCE, ENAING

Bellmead
Geneeal EDC A

~' 721,099 S.
2,731,957
492,154

52,305
55,093
89,713

371,414
15,658 80,122

479,102

5,008,495 80,122

909,033
2,818,756 -
616,325

1,000 50,049
69,733 -

4,414,847 30 049

593,648 30,073

43,375)

150,164

- 106,789

593,648 136,862

2,690,282 1,226,190

$ 3,283,930 $ 1,363,052

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Total
Bellmead Other Governmental
EDC B HoteUMotel Tax Governmental Funds

$ -

$ -

$ 

296,963 $ 1,018,062
546,391 - - 3,278,348

- - - 442,154
- 381,192 - 381,192

- - -

52,305
- - 55,093

- 89,713
25,276 36,865 - 62,141

- - 371,414
1,506 ?64 288 98,338

- - 479,102

573,273 418,821 297,251 6,377,862

- - 909,033
- - - 2,818,756
- - - 616,325

214,223 - - 265,272
275,189 - 344,922

- - 290,000 290,000
- - 10,048 10,048

50,440 96,860 - 147,300

264,663 372,049 300,048 5,401,656

308,510 46,772 ( 2,797) 976,206

43,375 - - 43,375
- - - ( 43,375)

- - - 150,164

43,375 - - 150,164

351,885 46,772 ( 2,797) 1,126,370

1,451,534 948,458 189,648 6,506,1 ]2

$ 1,803,419
$ 

995,230 $ 186,85] $ 7,632,482

T
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CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FI3ND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

Net change in fund balances -total governmental funds

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:

1,126,370

Governmental funds reported capital outlays as expendihues. However, in the statement of
acrivities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives as depreciation
expense. This is the amount by which depreciaiton expense ($637,755) exceeds capital asset
additions ($265,792) in the current period. ( 371,963)

Property ta~c revenues in the statement of acrivities that do not provide current financial resources
are not reported as revenues in the funds. 2,875

The issuance of long-term debt (e.g., bonds, leases) provided current financial resources to
governmental funds, while repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes the current
finanical resources of governmental funds. Neither transacrion, however, has any effect on net
assets. Also, governmental funds report the effect of issuance costs, premiums, discounts and
similar items when debt is first issued, whereas these amounts are deferred and amortized in the
statement of activities. This amount is the nei effect of these differences in the treatment of long-
term debt and related items. 279,184

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current financial
resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds.

Changes in net position of governmental activities

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CT'I'~' O~ ~EL,I.,1VYEr~I~; 'TEAS

STATEMEIV'I' OF NET POSITION

SEP'T'EMBER 30, 2013

business-type
Act►vities

Enterprise Fund

Water and Sewer
ASSETS
Current asseu;
~~sh ~d ~casir eq~aivatents $ 3,765,7b5
Accounts eeceivable, net of aliow~ee foe u~rec~Ileceibles of ~41,3~3:

Accounts 346,734
Other 4,675

~aavcntc~s~~~ 19,713

Tote! current assets 4,136,887

Noncurrent assets:
Resh~icted cash 20,4I9
Deferred charges 34,453
Equity in joint venture 1,568,316

Capital_ assets:
Land 38,799
Buildings and improvements 877,695
Water and sewer facilities 8,535,332
Equipment .1,337,663
Construction in progress 64,039

Less: accumulated depreciation (7,505,225)

Total capital assets (net of acciunulazed depreciarion) 3,348,303

Total noncurrent assets 4,971,491

Total assets 9,108,378

LIABILITIES
Current 19abiliYies:
Accounts payable 179,258
Accrued iiabilities 14,613
customer deposits payable 310,741
Compensated absences, current portion 4,266
Due to other funds 4,012

~tevenue bond and note payable, current partion 180y000

Total current 16abilities 592,402

Noncurrent liabilities:
Compensated absences 12,799

Revenue bond and note payable 310,000

"lotal noncurrent iiabiiities 322,7~i9

Total liabilities 1,215,701

DIET POSiTYOPi
Islet j~ye~(~pe~~ in cani~al asSeLC 2;658 303

Restriceed far:
Capital projects 20,419

Unrestricted 5,213,955

Total net position ~ x,892>677

See accoanpany~ng notes to financial statements,
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CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

PROPREITARY FUND

SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

REVENUE
Operating revenues:
Water sales
Sewer charges
Tum-on fees
Water and sewer tap fees
Other

Total operating revenue

EXPENSES
Operating expenses:
Salaries and bencfits
System repair and maintenance
Auto and equipment maintenance
Office expense
Professional fees
Utilities
Depreciation
Insurance
Miscellaneous

Total operating expenses

OPERATING INCOME

NONOPERATING REVENUES {EXPENSES)
Interest and other income
Gain (loss) on,joint venriue
Interest charges

Total nonoperating revenue (expenses)

CHANGE IN DIET POSTI'ION

NET POSTTION, BEGINNIIVG

NET POSITION, EPIDING

See accompanying notes to financial statennents.

Business-type
Activities

Enterprise Fund
Water and Sewer

S 1,742,552
804,215
54,025
19,881
52,098

2,672,771

d~88,126
160,167
57,423
31,167
52,441
340,320
411,782
38,577

360,620

1,940,623

732,148

8,334
( 276,491)
{ 22,306)

( 290,463)

441,685

7,450,992

$ 7,892,677
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CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUND

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers and users
Payments to suppliers

Payments to employees

Net cash provided by operating activiries

CASH b'LOWS FROM CAPxfAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTMTIES
Acquisition of capital assets
Principal paid on bonds and note payable

Interest paid on bonds and note payable

Net cash provided by capital and related financing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTWG ACTNITIES
Investment in joint venture

Interest received

Net crib provided by inves4iag ~ctivi~ies

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, ENDING

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO NET
CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to
net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Change in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net
Customer deposits
Accounts payable
Due to other funds

Other liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Business-type
Activities

Enterprise Fund
Water and Sewer

$ 2,662,958
( 1,076,339)
( 503,714)

1,082,905

( 172,518)
( 180,000)
( 13,693)

( 366,211)

( 269,029)
8,334

{ 260,695)

455,999

3,330,185

$ 3,786,184

'~: 732,148

411,782

( 9,813)
16,9&7

( 56,603)
4,012

( 15,588)

$ _ ....._.1,082,905
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CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

1. SUMMARY OF SIGMFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The City of Bellmead, Texas (the "City") is a home-rule municipal corporation organized
and existing under the provisions of the Constitution of the State of Texas. The City operates
under aCouncil-Manager form of government and provides the following services: general
government, public safety (police and fire), highways and streets, economic development,
and culture and recreation.

The financial statements of the City aze prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP). The City's reporting entity applies all relevant Governmental
Accounting Standards Boazd (GASB) pronouncements. The more significant accounting and
reporting policies and practices used by the City are described below.

A. Reportiu~ Entity

The accompanying financial statements present the City and its component units, entities for
whzch the City is considered to be financially accountable. Blended component units,
although legally separate entities, are, in substance, part of the Town's operations and are
appropriately presented as funds of the primary government. Discretely presented
component units, on the other hand, are reported in a separate column in the govemment-
wide financial statements to emphasize it is legally separate from the Town.

The above criteria were applied to potential organizations to determine if the entity should be
reported as part of the City. The following was determined:

The Bellmead Economic Development Corporation Type A (EDC A) and Bellmead
Economic Development Corporation Type B are blended component units and are reported
within the City's primary government. The Corporations are responsible for certain
economic development expenditures benefiting all citizens of the government and aze
financed by a portion of sales tax revenue and are governed by a board comprised of
nnembers of the government's council and citizens of the community. The Corporations have
a September 30 yeaz-end and are reported as Special Revenue Funds. A separately issued
financial report is available for the Bellzr~ead Economic Development Corporations may be
obtained from the City of Bellmead.
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~e Government-wide and I+uncl I+inancial Stat~rnents

'The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the
statement of activities) report information on all of the activities of the primary government
and its component units. For the most park, the effect of inter~und activi~jr has been removed
frortx these s~aeements. Governmental crctavaties, which normally aze supported by fiaxes and
intergovernmental revenue, are reported separately from business-tyke activities, ~~vhach rely
io a signir"icani exieni on lees and charges for support. irikewise, uie primary government is
reported separately from certain legally separate component units for which the primary
government is financially accountable.

`X`he statement of activities demonstrates the degree to wlucl~ the duect expenses of a given
function or segment are offset by program revenue. Direct expenses are those that are clearly
identifiable with a specific function or segment. Certain indirect costs have been included as
part of the progranr~ expenses reported for the various functional activities. Program revenue
includes 1 j charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benerrt from
goods, servzces, or privileges provided by a given function or segment, and Z) grants and
contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a
particular Function or segment. Taxes and offer items not properly included among program
revenue are reported instead as general revenue.

Separate ~°inaaiczal statemezats are provided for govera~mental fluids mad proprietary funds.
Major individual Governmental Funds and major individual Enterprise Funds are reported as
separate columns in the fund financial statements.

C. Measurement Focus, Basis of AccounHn~ and Financial Statement Presentation

'~'~?~ a~'N~r!Lt?l~*?t-~S~? fLT!s131~1~ Sx3t~1??~?1#~ ~I'P r~~~rtP~i tiSI1Za ~'!€ ~i'~~3f3~d~ Y~'S~?Sr~~S

measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund financial
statements. Revenue is recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is
xncurr~°ed, regardless of ~e tuning of related cash flows. ~rope~ taxes are recognized as
xevenue zn the year for wh1~b. tlhey ~.re levied, ~a~ts Azad solar ~texn~s are recognized as
revenue as soon as all eligibility requyxements unposed by the provider have been met.

C3overnn~xental fixed financial statements are reported using the e°~rr°ent ~nancirrl resaur°ces~
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenue is recognized as
soon as it is both measurable and available. Revenue is considered to be avoidable when it is
collectible within tk~e current period or soon enough there~ftex to pay liabilities of the current
period° for this ptaa~pose, the governanent considers revenue to be availably if collected
within 60 days of the end of the current -fiscal period. Expenditures generally are recorded
when a liability is incurred, as undex accrual accounting. However, debt service
expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and
juti~i11V11tJ~ Qlli 1Vl,l~Jl~ a 3iai3' i%J1i~II ~a~iT'ia°.9'it i3 ~Uc..

Property taxes, franchise taxes, sales taxes, and interest associated ~rieh the current fiscal
period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenue
of the current fiscal period. All ether revenue items are considered to be measurable antl
available only when cash is received by the City.
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The City reports the fol}`~wing major governmental funds:

General Fund —The General Fund is the City's primary operating fund. It is
used to account for all financial resources of the general government except those
required to be accounted for in another fund.

Be[lmead Economic DeveCopment Cornoralion —The Bellmead Economic
Development Corporation Types A and B are blended component units which aze
reported as Special Revenue Funds that account for sales tax revenue that is to be
used for certain economic development expenditures benefiting all citizens of the
City.

HoteUMoteC Tax Fund —The HoteUMotel Tax Fund accounts for tkxe receipts and
allocation of the City's occupancy tax imposed on the rental of hotel-motel
rooms. These funds are used to promote tourism and related activities within the
City.

The City reports the following major proprietary fund:

Water and Sewer Fund —The Water and Sewer Fund accounts for the activities
of the water distribution system, the sewage treatment plant, sewage pumping
stations and collection systems.

As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-
wide financial statements. Exceptions to this general rule are charges between the City's
water and wastewater function and various other functions of the government. Elimination
of these charges would distort the direct costs and program revenue reported for the various
functions concerned.

Amounts reported as program revenues include: 1) chazges to customers or applicants for
goods, services, or privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital
grants and contributions, including special assessments. Internally.. dedicated resources are
reported as general revenues rather than as program revenue. Likewise, general revenue
includes all taxes.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services arxd producing aid
delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. The
principal operating revenues of the City's Enterprise Fund aze charges to customers for sales
and services. Operating expenses for the Enterprise Fund include cost of sales and services,
administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenue and expenses not
meeting this defuution are reported as nonoperating revenue and expenses.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City's policy to
use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed.
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Da Assets, I.e~balit~es andl stet position or Ecauity

Deposits and investments

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the City considers ail highly liquidvnvestrnents
(~tav~s~~~~~ ~i~h c~~igin~i maiurifiies less ii~an 9G days, including restricted assets) io be cc~ssai
equidalents.

State statutes authorize the City to invest in obligations of the United States or its agencies and
instntmentalit~es aril state ar local governments, commercial paper, guaranteed investment
contracts, repurchase agreements, and certain goveznmental ixav~stxnsrzt pools. T'k~~ Caty's ~cacaJ
~vestr~ent p~licy~ ~ ~s ~~ City fc~ invest in obligations o~ the ~Jni Stags or its agencies and

entalit~es, cert~cates of deposat, money market mutual funds, and local government
investment pools.

~V~S'Lo'SSP~t,S ~~a ~~+~~~Qi~ ~L i~~ ~~Y.~;.:v. T}:v ~a~i. ~vii.~i'Pi~i i.fii iii w~v."i u~°v ii ya~~iiu ~V~'f'.a~~i~°+ uri

accorda~xce with appropriate state laws and regulations. The reported value of the pool zs the
same as the fair value of the pool shazes.

Receivables and Payabics

Activity between funds that ~ar~ representatave of lending/boarowang aarat~gerri~nts
outstanding at the end of the fiscal year are referred to as either "due to/from other funds"
(f.e.,'the current portion of interfund loans) or "advances tolfrom other funds" (i.e., the
noncurrent portion of inter~und Ioans). All other outstanding balances between funds aze
reported as "due to/fram other funds." Ax~:y residual balances outstanding be~veen the
governmental activities and business-type activities are reported in the gove~nent-wide
financial statements as "internal balances."

Inventories and Prepaid Items

All inventories are valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market. ]frvento~ies ~.r~
recorded as expenditures ~vhera consumed rather than when p~.rchased.

Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include land, buildings and improvements, nnachinery and equipment,
and infrastructure assets (e.g., roads, bridges, sidewalks, az~d sixr~ilaY° itezras)9 ~~ rep~a~ted ~
the applicable governixzeaxtal or btzsixxess-type activities col~xrnns in the goveYnment-wide
financial statements. The City hay elected to report general infrastructure assets
prospectively from October 1, 2003, as permitted by GASB Statement No. 34. Capital assets
are defined b_y the City as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $1;000 and an
estimated useful life in excess of two nears. Sucks assets are recorded at historical cost or
Gsiiu,a~GU ~,usiu~icai cusi ii pt~cn~ed or consirucied. ~onaied capiiai asseis aze recorded at
estimated fair market value at the date of donation.
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The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or
materially extend the lives of the assets are not capitalized.

Capital assets of the City are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following
estimated useful lives:

Assets Years

Buildings and improvements 5 to 30

Water and sewer facilities 5 to 30

Equipment 3 to 20

Infrastructure 40

Restricted Assets

Restricted cash accounts in the Water and Sewer Fund of $20,419 represents proceeds from
the 2008 tax and revenue certificates of obligation that have not been spent but have been
restricted to purchase water and sewer improvements in the future.

Long-term Debt

In the government-wide financial statements, outstanding debt is reported as liabilities.
Outstandixig debt is reported within governmental activities based on use of proceeds. Bond
issuance costs are capitalized and amortized over the terms of the respective bonds using the
stxaight-~~e method,

The governmental fund level financial statements recognize the proceeds of debt as other
financing sources of the current period. Issuance costs are reported as expenditures.

Fund Equity and Net Position

The governmental fund financial statements present fund balances based on classifications
that comprise a hierazchy that is based primarily on the extent to which the City is bound to
honor constraints on the specific purposes for which amounts in the respective governmental
funds can be spent. The classifications used in the governmental fund financial statements
are as follows:

• Nonspendable: This classification includes amounts that cannot be spent because
they aze either (a) not in spendable form or (b) are legally or conUractually
required to be maintained intact. Nonspendable items are not expected to be
converted to cash or are not expected to be converted to cash within the next yeaz.

Restricted: This classification includes amounts for which constraints have been
placed on the use of the resources either (a) externally imposed by creditors,
grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments, or (b) imposed
by law thzough constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.
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Corntiaittede This ~la~si~catxnn z~cluc~es ~mnu~t~ t1~at can he ~a~ec] oz~~y for
sp~c~fic prx~os~s ~ru~suarit to coras~ainfs ~rri~osed icy ~id~d ~r~~vlutir~r~ b# the City
Council, the pity's highest level of decision making authori#y. These amounts
cannot be used for any other purpose unless the City CouncYl removes or changes
the specified use by taking the same type of action that was employed when the
~iznds were initially committed. This classification also includes contractual
oblagatzons to the extent that sxisring resources have been ~pecifical~y co~nrrutted
aor use in satisrying iinose coniracivai requirements.

• Assigned: This classification includes amounts that aze constrained by the City's
ix~t~~n~i ~~ b~ u~~d for ~ spe~ifi~ p osy but are neither r~stc~ct~d nor coaa~~tecio
This intent can be expressed by tk~e pity Cc~ cal,

• Un~~~gne~_ ~s c~~-ssifi~atic~~ in~h~d~s t.1~P r~si~~l fiand b~ilance fir *1~e ~'e~a~ral
Fund. °The unassigned classification also includes negative xeszdual fund balance
of any other governmental fund that cannot be eliminated by offsetting of
assigned fund balance amounts.

In the government-wide financial statements, net position represents, the difference between
assets and liabilities. Net investment in capital assets, consists of capital assets, net of
accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balances of any. borrowing used far the
acquisition, construction or improvements of .those assets, and. adding back unspent proceeds.
Net position... is reported as restricted when there aze limitations unposed on their use either
though the enabling legislations adopted by the City or through exteernrn~l restrictions unposed
by creditors, grantors or laws or regulations of other gavernna.ents.

The govez~nment-wide and fund level financial statements report .restricted fund ,balances for
3T~.'L'~2II+wc S;L'~ 3VAl,~c°a~'~°. ~.^.iu~~3T0~3I7a~t0u' Oa s~ga'~aj' i~.3~PiC~@'au i^vi ~i3°cii~iv ~%S. ~vTi c~!'i

expenditure is incurred for puxposes for which both xestxicted and unrestricted fund balance
is available, it is the City's policy to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources
as needed. When ara ~~cpend~fure as ~cu~ed for wlai~h ~oaaai~itked9 assi~zaedi ox ~an~ssigned
fund balances are available, the -City considers amounts to have 'been spent first out of
committed funds, then assigned funds, and- iaaaally unassigned funds.

Compensated Absences

Compensated absences axe reported as accz~ued in the government~wide financial statements.
In the fund level fanan~ial statements, only tnattu~ed compensated absences payable to
currently terminated employees are reported.

~'r~ 6L':'~S:'.."'...~.̂.*~.a..~fL',':~ va°ai3aî v.°. 3ii.°.°vi iiî v~ii.`~L'~ 21 Ta°.t.̂ via~liia#i02'i UVLY~VVll i~'u'a'lu ~Da~aia~,.i: O~ iv~Si

governmental funds and net position of governmental activities as reported in the government-
wride statement of net position.



The governmental statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances includes a
reconciliation between net changes in fund balances of total governmental funds and changes in
net position of governmental activities as reported in the government-wide statement of
activities.

3. UNDIVIDED INTEREST IN WACO METROPOLITAN AREA REGIONAL SEWER SYSTEM

During 2004, the City entered into an agreement with the City of Waco, Texas to acquire a
5.73%undivided interest in the facilities and operations of the Waco Metropolitan Area Regional
Sewer System (UJMARSS). The City believes that its purchase and operation of the system will
increase the efficiency and effectiveness of providing sewer treatment services to its citizens.

During 2009, the undivided interest of 5.73% in the WMARSS facilities and operations was
adjusted to 5.707% to adjust another City's allocation to the agreement.

Under an interlocal agreement, a WMARSS board consists of the City managers from each of
the seven participating cities.. The operation and administration of the system is subject to joint
control by the cities through the WMARSS boazd; however, a separate legal entity was not
created. The agreement allows the cities to pool resources and share the costs, risk, and rewazds
of providing services. Further, each Ciiy retains an ongoing financial interest and ongoing
financial interest and ongoing financial responsibility in the operations of the system.

The City has reported its share of assets, liabilities, equity, revenues atxd expenses that are
associated with this joint activity in its Enterprise Fund as follows:

Current assets $ 300,767
Capital assets 1,409,307
Current liabilities ( 141,758)

Net assets $ 1,568,316

Operating expenses $( 297,298)
Nonoperating revenues 20,807

Change in net assets $( 276,491)

Capita( contributions - current year $ 269,029

4. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

A summary of the City's cash and cash equivalents follows:

Cash and certificates of deposit in bank $ l 1,067,741

Government investment pools:
TexPool 1 15,607
TexStar 68,234

Total cash and cash equivalents $ 11,251,582
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Interest Rate Rfsk In accordance wath ats investrraent policy, the pity rri~axa~es its exposure to
declines in fair value by: (a) structuring the investment portfolio so that securataes rt~ature to rr~~et
cash requirernerats fog° ongoing operations, (b) investiaag operating fibnds primarily in shorter-ternn
certificates of deposit, securities, money market mutual funds, or government investment pools,
and (c) diversifying maturities and staggering purchase dates to minimize the impact of market
rnoverr~en~s over ~~~n~. It is the City's policy nod ~o invest in securities mafiuring more khan three
years from tli~ date of puzchase. At September 3~?, 2013, the 4:ity's only investment is in

9 _""_ a-_ _' _ _ 9 _ Tl_ _ _ 1 f
G]ilGCildl 1l1VG3lIiIClAI pov~s. ine weignieu average maiuriiy of Texas i,ocai irovernmeni
Investment Pool (TexPool) and Texas Short-tezm Asset Reserve ]Fund (TexStar) as of September
30, 2013, is less than 60 days.

Credit Risk. The City's investment policy luxuts investments in governmental vnvestment pools
and money market mutual funds to those that are rated no lower than AAA or an equivalent
rating by at least one nationally recognized rating servzce. As of September 30, 20132 the City_ 's
investment in TeacPool and TexStar was rated AAA by Standard & Poor's.

TexPool is a public funds investment pool created pursuant to the Interlocal Cooperation Act of
the State of Texas. The City has delegated the authority to hold legal rifle to the pool as
custodians and to make investment purchases with the City's funds. The State Comptroller of
Public Accounts exercises oversight responsibility over TeicPool. Oversight includes the ability
to significantly influence operations, designatian of management and accountability for fiscal
matters. Additionally, the state comp~oller has established an advisory board composed of both
participants in TexPool and other persons who do not have a business relationship -with Texl'ool.
The advisory board members reviiew-the investment policy and management fee structure.

TexStar is a Texas public funds investment pool that is co-administered by J. P. Morgan Chase
and First Southwest Asset Management, Inc. TexStar is run by afive-member baazd comprised
v^f ~'i:88 i8~'Y~$8L'+•3~tY.°.3' O~°vllgi~J1v g^v`J°"iTalTia°,II$Ai ~.ii~itl~3c'ei'iCe O'ali. iT1i.212~9vi' i~f:3igllEit2u ujt ~°.3Cie ŝ~i~

the co-administrators. TexStar currently offers a "Cash Reserve Fund" which will invest only in
authorized investrnents under the Public Funds Investment Act with weighted average maturities
wlaach car~nc~t ea~ceed 60 daysa

TexPool and Te~cStar operaf~e zn a manner conszsieni wi..ih the SEC's Rule ~a-7 of the Invesuneni
Company Act of 1940. TexPool and TexStar use amortized cost rather than mazket value to
report net assets to compute share prices. Accordingly, the fair value of the positiozx in TexFool
and TexStar is the same as the value of TexPool shares and TexStar shares.

28



5. RECEIVABLES

Receivables as of September 30, 2013, for the City's individual major funds and nonmajor funds
in the aggregate, including the applicable allowances for uncollectible accounts, are as follows:

Receivables:
Property tastes
Sates taxes
Accounts
Other

Gross receivables

Less: allowance for
unwllectibles

Bellmead
Economic

Development Other Water
General Corporation - B Nonmajor and Sewer Total

$ 84,079 $ - $ 34,854 $ - $ 118,933
448,326 89,665 - - 537,991

- - - 392,169 392,1b9
2,SOl - - 4,675 7,176

534,906 89,665 34,854 396,844 1,056,269

Net total receivables $ 534,906

- 45,435 45,435

$ 89,665 $ 34,854 $ 351,409 $ 1,010,834

The appraisal of property within the City is the responsibility of the McLennan County Appraisal
District (the "District"). The District is required under the Property Tax Code to assess all
property within the District on the basis of 100% of its appraised value and is prohibited from
applying any assessment ratios. The value of property within the District must be reviewed
every four years.

The City's property tax is levied each October 1 on assessed value listed as of the prior January. l
for all real and business personal property located in the City. T'he new assessed value upon
which the fisca12013 levy was based was $337,03'7,305.

Taxes are due by January 31 following the October 1 levy date. Current tax collections for the
year ended September 30, 2013, were 97.3 % of the tax levy.

6. Ii~TERFUND RECEIV.A.BLES, PAYABLES .AND TRANSFERS

Interfund receivables and payable balances at September 30, 2013, aze as follows:

Fund Receivable Payable

General

Bellmead EDC - A
Bellmead EDC - B
HoteUMotel Tax
Nonmajor
Water and sewer

$ -

1,585

6,948

35,237

$ 38,173
1,585

4,012

Totals $ 43,770 $ 43,770

29



All balances resulted frorz~ the tune lad between the dates that 1) ir~terfund foods and services are
provided ~r reimbursable expenditures occur, 2j transactions are recorded in the accounting
system, and 3) payments between. funds are ax~ade.

Interfund transfers at September 30, 2013, are as follows;

Bellmead
~tr~r _ ~z T~¢wr

Transfers out:
~~flltnead ESC - A $ ~3,~75 $ 43,375

Total transfers $ 43,375 $ 43,375

'T'r~n.Sf~r~ ~r~ ~~~ ~r~ ~1 nrpvP r~yP~~yPg fs~m thg fi,~~ urith rr~~lPrti~nn aii~inri~t~~nn to the T~~ht

Service Fund as debt service principal and interest payments become due, 2) move ~es9~°icted
amounts from borrowings to the Debt Service k'und to establish mandatory reserve accounts, and
3) move unrestricted General Fund revenues to finance various programs that the government
must account for in other funds in accordance with budgetary authorizations, including amounts
provided as stzbsadies yr match funds for`various grant programs.

7. LEASE RECEIVABLES

The Bellmead Economic Development Corporation (BEDC) has completed construction on a
building which will be utilized as a plant and office space by Texas Machine &Tool
International, LLC (TMI). BE1~C has entered into a 10-year lease agreement with TIvII to lease
the property in accordance with the foU.owing schedule based on the construction cost of the
building, not to exceea ~1,$32,t~00. At any time ai~er the fii3h year of the lease, Tlbl"I can
purchase the building at amounts specified in the lease agreement. If the lease Lasts to its
maturity, TMI can purchase the building for $0. After the 2013 payments, the current lease
re~eiv~bl~ is ~19237,4~2,

The lease began October 1, 2009. The payments, including interest at 6.S%are:

Year Ended

September 30,

2014

zols
~~,~
LV1V

217

iuia

LU1~-LULL

principal Ynterest

~D 1 /~y~~o ~D lJ9~V~t

185,994 63,630

i7o,43i ~i,Ii3

211,742 37,882

LL~,yLL LS,~GL

L4l,UJ.i g,J / 1
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$ 1,237,482 $ 260,262



8. CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital asset activity for the year ended September 30, 2013, was as follows:

Balance Balance

October t, September 30,

2012 Additions Deletions 2013

Governmental activities

Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land $ 2,771,193 $ - $ - S 2,771,193

Conswction in progess - -

Total capital assets not being depreciated 2,771,193 - - 2,771,193

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements 6,515,950 15,669 - 6,531,619
lnfrasVucture 3,191,770 - - 3,191,770
Equipment 5,357,364 250,123 - 5,607,487

Total capital assets being depreciated 15,065,OS4 265,792 - 15,330,876

Less accumulated depreciation for.
Buildings and improvements ( 1,596,169) ( 222,967) - ( 1,819,136)
Infrastructure ( 249,373) ( 79,085) - ( 328,458)

Equipment ~ 3,741,604} ~ 335,703) ~ 4,077,307)

Total accumulated depreciation ( 5,587,146) ( 637,755) ~ 6,224,901)

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 9,477,938 ( 371,963) - 9,105,975

Governmental activities capita! assets, net $ 12,249,131 ~( 371,963) $ S 11,877,168

Balance Balance
Ocwber 1, September 30,
2012 Additions Deletions 2013

Business-typo activities
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land S 38,799 $ - $ - S 38,799
C~osttuction in progress 1,002,387 - ( 938,3481 b4,039

Total capital assets not being depreciated 1,041,186 ( 938,348) 102838

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements 12,461 865,234 - 877,695
Water and sewer facilities 8,3b1,013 174,319 - 8,535,332
Equipment 1,266,350 71,313 - 1,337,663

Total capital assets being depreciated 9,639,824 1,110,866 10,750,690

Less accumulated depreciation for.
Buildings and improvements ( 10,943) ( 21,940) - ( 32,883)
Water and sewer facilities ( 6,015,345) ( 344,A 14) - ( 6,359,759)
Equipment ( 1,067,155) ( 45,428) ( 1,112,583)

Total accumulated depreciation ( 7,093,443) ( 411,782) - ( 7,505,225)

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 2,546,381 699,084 3,245,465

Business-type activities capital assets, net $ 3,587,567 $_ 699,084 S( 938,348) S 3,348,303

~ ~:



Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the C;i~v as follows:

Govemmentai activities
General government $ 87,783
Public safety 259,730

nigliw~ys ~riu SfFeeia l~i~,~7~i

Economic development 109,168
("'~t14~irn ~nrl rranru~finnvua~w..v .a.~u ~vva ~.uaavaa

'79 SA9
/ 1~JVd

Total depreciation - governmental activities $ 63'1,755

business-t~rp~ activiei~s

iTVater and sewer $ 411,782

Total dec~r~~~~t~on - h~ciness-~yp~ ~~#iyi~ies_ $ 411,?$2

f 1

Long-term debt consists of bonded indebtedness, note payable, and cornpens~ted absences. Tlxe
City issues general obligation bonds to provide fiznds for the acquisition and construction of
major capital facilities and pledges income derived from the acgixii°ed or coixstructed assets to pay
debt service. General obligation bonds have been issued for the business-type activities. For the
governmental activities, compensated absences are generally liquidated by the General Fund.

The following is a summary of changes in long-term debt of the year ended September 30, 2013:

Goveramentnl activities

General obligation refunding

bonds, Series 2012

Tax anticipation notes
Compensated absences

Business-type activities

General obligation refunding

bonds, Series 2Q12

Caxnpensated absences

Balance B~Iance

October I, September 30, Due Within

2012 Additions Retirements 2013 One Year

S 495,000 S - S( 245,000) ~ 250,000 $ 250,000

a30,00~ - { 45,OD~) 185,000 45,000

144,692 47,114 22 650 169,156 42289

$ 869,692 $ 47,11A $ 312650 $_. 604,156 $ 337,289

S 870,000 $ - S( 180,000) $ 690,000 S 180,000

22,950 24,678 ( 30,563) 17,065 X1,266

S 892,950 $ 24,678 $l 210,563) ~ 707065 $ 184,266
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Long-term debt for governmental activities at Septennber 30, 2013, is comprised of the
following:

$495,000 Series 2012 General Obligation Refunding Bonds, due in
annual installments of $245,000 to $250,000 with an interest rate of
1.79%, maturing in 2014. $ 250,Od0

~'l3U,000 Series 'l01'l Tax Anticipation Notes, due in annual
installments of $45,000 to $50,000 with an interest rate of 1.79%,
maturing in 2017. $ 185 000

Annual debt services requirements to maturity for governmental activities are as follows:

Year Ended
September 30,

2014
2015
2016
2017

General Obligation Bonds
Principal Interest

$ 250,000 $ 2,237

$ 250,000 $ 2,237

Note Pavable
Principal Interest

$ 45,000 $ 2,909
45,000 2,103
45,000 1,298
50,000 448

$ 185,000 $ 6,758

Long-term debt for business-type activities at September 30, 2013, is comprised of the
following:

$870,000 Series 2012, General Obligation Refunding Bonds, due in
annual installments of $165,000 to $180,000 with an interest rate of
1.79%, maturing in 2017. 690,000

Annual debt service requirements to maturity for business-type activities are as follows:

Year Ended
September 30,

2014
2015
2016
2017

Principal Interest

$ 180,000 $ 10,740
165,000 7,652
170,000 4,654
175,000 1,566

$ 690,000 $ 24,612

In March 2012, the City issued $230,000 in Tax Anticipation Notes in order to finance the
purchase of police vehicles and fire department equipment.
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I'la~ Y9escript►on

The City provides pension benefits for all caf its eligible erriployees through anon-traditional,
j~~i~t ~u~b~1~~t~i~~9 ~~y~~~a d~~a~~c~ b~z~~i~~ ply asa Ys~e sate-v~iae Texas 7d~uz~icipal ~.etiremen~
Systean (TMRS), an agent multiple-employer public employee retirement systerr~. The plan
provisions that have been, ad~n#ed by the Ci~r are within the nntinnc ayailahlP in the anvPrnin~
state statutes of TMRS.

TMRS issues a publicly availably compr~heaisive annual financial report that includes financial
siag~aa~es~ts ~d rega~~r~d s~ppl~rnentai°y ~~f°oz°,rz~a~c~~a (RSI) ~~r T1VdRS; the repc~r~ ~Is~ ~ravides
detailed explanations of the contrzbutioms, benefits, and ac9.uuarial methods and assumptions used
by the Systenn. This report may be obtained from TMRS' website at www~.TMRS.com.

1'~'!~ p,~Y? i3'~Y~51~?L5 ~T~ ?~L~~t~~ ~3~ the ~anvp ~a hn~i~v r,~f t1;P ('~~~ ~xnth~yin f~l~ ̂ ~'t;^̂ .S 4~'c'il~e'1~l~~

in the state statutes governing TMRS. Plan: provisions for the City were as follows:

Plan Year 2012 Plan Year 2013

Employee deposit rate 6% 6%
Matching ration {city to employee) 2 to 1 2 to 1
Years required for vesting 5 years 5 years
Service retirement eligibility (expressed as
age/years of service) 6015, 0/25 60/5, 0/25

100% Repeating, 100% Repeating,
Updated Service Credit Transfers Transfers
Annuity Increase (to retirees) 70% of CPI Repeating 7Q% of CPI Repeating

Contributions

Under the state law governing TMRS, the contribution rate for each City is determined annually
by flue actuary, using the Prajected Unit Credit actuarial cost zxzethod. This rate consists of the
mormal cost contribution rate and the prior service cost contribution rate, vvh~ch is calculated to
be a -level percent of payroll from year to year. The normal cost contribution rate finances the
portion of an active member's projected benefit allocated annually; the prior service contribution
rate amortizes the unfunded (overfunded) actuarial liability (asset) aver the applicable ~Oeriod £or
thttt city. Both the normtil cost mnd prior service contribution rates include recognition of the
~roject~d unpact of annually repeating benefits, such as Updated Seraice Credits and Anaauity
Increases.

The City contributes to the TMRS Plan at an actuarially determined rats. both the employees
a~c~ tie C~tv m~k~ ~c~n~ril~i~tic~nS monthly, ~in~P the C°ity n~Pr1c try le~n~r i4g rnnfril~r~tir~n ga4P in

~dV~Ce fcli ~'ft~[~oetary p~rnnSPg~ t}~PrP is a nnP-vPar r~Plav hPtwPPn the ant~~arial vahaatinn t}~at

serves as t'r►e basis for the rate and the calendar year when the rate goes into e~'ect.

34



The annual pension cost and net pension obligation/(asset) acre as follows:

Three-Year Trend Information

T-~ ~- ------~ :-,

I

~ Net Fensian

Fiscal Year ' Annual Pension ,Actual ` Percentage of 3 Obligation/

Ending ; Cost (APC) Contribution Made ~ APC Contributed ! ~' (Asset)

9/30/2011 ~~ 346,440 ~ ~_ 346440---r---- --,-
0

100°/0 ~.
— -~-

~ 9/3 2 i 268,019 268,019 100%_
9/30/2013 24],743 ~ 241743 100% i

The required contribution rates for fiscal year 2013were determined as part of the December 31,
2010and 2011actuarial valuations. Additional information as of the latest actuarial valuation,
December 31, 2012, also follows:

Valuation Date 12/31/2010 12/31/2011 12/31/2012

Actuarial Cost Method Pro'ected Unit G~edit Pro'ected Unit CYedit Projected Unit Credit

Amortization Method Level Percent Level Percent Level Percent
of Pa oll of Pa oll ofP oll

GASB 25 'valent S' e 27.1 26.4 25.1
Amortization Period closed riod closed riod closed riod

Amortization Period for new 30 ears 30 ears 30 ears
Gains/I.osses

Asset Valuation Method 10- ear Smoothed 10- ear Smoothed 10-year Smoothed
Market Market Market

Actuarial Assum ions:

Investment Rate of Return* 7.0% 7.0% 7.0%

Pro'ected Sat Increases* Vazies b Vazies Varies b

__________.~...__.__..__ ~ ~e and service age and service_. _ _ _ age and service_

*Includes Inflation at 3.00% 3.00% 3.00%

Cost-of-Elvin Ad'ustrnents 2.l % 2.1 % 2.1
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~uraded Status and I~'u~ad~a~~ Pro~a°ess —

°The funded status as ~~ ~ece~aab~r 319 2010y SSAb AAlOSE d~i~i~+Ad6 ~.G66dcdrlf~A ~V[dA~EblIOAd ESF.BL~y is pr~ser~ted
1S ~OIIOWS:

~Lcivarial

~Jaluation

Date

Actuarial

Value of

Assets

Acteiaeial

rlccru~d

Y,iability

(AAI.1 Funded F2.atao
Unfunded RAL
(UAAL)

Co~reti

Pa oll

UAAL as a

Percentage of j

Cos~red

Payroll

1 3 4 S 6

1/ -1 4/S

12/31/2012 $ 9 412 845 $ 9 736 082 96.7% $ 323,237 $ 2 780 627 11.6%

~~~W_
t

— ---- --
;:

---
~

Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about
t~~ ~x~b~~~~ity c~£ ~v~~~s far into t.~~ fi~t~re: Actually d~termine~ aun~unt~ ~~ subj~Et t~
continual revision as actual results are compared to past expectations and new estunates are
made about the future.

Actuarial calculations are based on the benefits provided under the terms of the substantive plan
i,~ effect at the Time of each valuation, and reflect along-term perspective. Consistent with that
perspective, actuarial methods and asswmptions used include techniques that are designed to
reduce short-term volatility an actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets. The
schedute of funding progress, presented as Requited Supplementary Information following the
notes to the financial statements, present multi-year trend information about vvhe~her the
actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial
accrued liability of benefits.

11. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

Su lemental Death Benefits Fund

"~'h'he ~~ty ~s~ p~rti~ip~t~s i~ ~a~ post sharizig aaa~lta~le-~m~lt~yea defined benefat group-teran lafP
insurance._: plan operated by the Texas Municipal ~Zetirement System (T'MRS) knovs+ra as the
Supplemental ~eatli Benefits Fund (SDBF). The City elected, by ordinance, to provide group-
term life insurance coverage to both current and retired employees. The City may terminate
coverage under and discontinue participation in the SI~~~ by adopting atx ordinance before
November 1 of any year to be effective the followuig January 1.

T'he death benefit for active employees provides a irarnp-starn payment approximately equ~t to the
ernplo_yee's annual salary (calculated based on the emnloyee'~ actual earnings, for the 12-month
period preceding the month of death); retixed employees are insured for $7,500; this coverage is
an "other postemployment benefit," or OPEB.
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Contributions

The City contributes to the SDBF at a contractually required rate as determined by an annual
actuarial valuation. The rate is equal to the cost of providing one-year term life insurance. The
funding policy for the SDBF program is to assure that adequate resources are available to meet
all death benefit payments £or the upcoming year; the intent is not to pre-fund retiree term life
insurance during employees' entire careers.

Schedule of Contribution Rates
(RETIREE-only portion of the rate)

Plan/ Annual Required Actual Percentage of
Calendar Contribution Contribution Made ARC
Year (Rate} (Rate) Contributed

2010 0.06% 0.06% 100%
2011 0.05% 0.05% 100%
20I2 0.05% 0.05% 200%

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Amounts received or receivable from grant agencies are subject to audit and adjustment by
grantor agencies, principally the federal government. Any disallowed claims, including amounts
already collected, may constitute a liability of the applicable funds. The amount, if any, of
expenditures which xnay be disallowed by the grantor cannot be detemuned at this time although
the City expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial.

There aze other claims and pending actions incident to normal operations of the City. In the
opinion o:F the City nnanagement based on consultation with the City's attorney, the City's
potential liability in these matters will not have a material impact on the financial statements.

1.3. RISK MANAGEMENT

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts/theft of, damage to, and destruction of
assets; ezrors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The City has joined
together with other governments in the State of Texas to form the Texas Municipal League
Intergovernmental Risk Pool (the "Pool"), a public entity risk pool currently operating as a
common risk management and insurance program for liability, property and workers'
compensation coverages.

The City pays a quarterly contribution to the Pool for its insurance coverage. The agreement for
formation of the Pool provides that tt~e Pool will be self-sustaining through member
contributions and will reinsure through commercial companies for claims in excess of specific
limits.

The Texas Municipal League Intergovernmental Risk Pool has published its own financial
report, which can be obtained by writing the Texas Municipal League Intergovernmental Risk
Pool, 1821 Rutherford Lane, Austin, Texas 78754-5128.
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